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VK in brief

1 Hereinafter, internal data unless otherwise noted.

VK is the biggest Russian technology company in terms of user 
base. VK digital products help dozens of millions of users with 
daily chores like communication, education, entertainment, 
and personal growth. VK creates tools that help entrepreneurs 
develop and promote businesses on social networks and 
content aggregators. 

More than 10,000 people1 work at VK to provide millions of people with 
a welcoming and secure online environment. The company recruits top 
talent and provides them with the chance to realise their potential 
in an amicable and safe atmosphere while working as a team to develop 
products and services that are in high demand among millions of users. 

VK's mission is to develop the best digital services possible that go above 
and beyond what users anticipate and evoke strong feelings.

VK in brief
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VK business model 

VK promotes the following business areas: 

Social networks and content services: 
VKontakte, OK, Dzen, Mail.ru, VK Clips, VK Calls, 
VK Messenger and others

Technology for business (VK Tech): 
VK Tech, VK WorkSpace, VK Teams, VK Cloud, Tarantool, 
VK Tax Compliance, VK HR Tek and others 

New business lines: 
VK Capsula smart speakers, Marusia voice assistant, 
VK Play gaming platform, and the official RuStore app store

EdTech: 
Skillbox, GeekBrains, SkillFactory, Lerna, Mentorama, Uchi.ru, Sferum

 

 

The creation of digital content services to satisfy users' 
daily needs is the strategic focus of VK. 
The company offers products and services that are 
enhanced and tailored to the audience's interests on 
a continuous basis. 
The company uses a variety of mechanisms and metrics, 
with the net promoter score (NPS) ranking, which reveals 
consumer loyalty market research, being among the most 
important ones. 

In Russia's advertising sector, VK is one of the major 
players. The company works with major advertisers as well 
as medium-sized, small-sized, and micro-businesses. 
VK develops marketing tools to help advertisers with their 
media and performance-related issues. The VK Ads 
launched in 2022 brought together the most efficient 
tools and innovative promotional algorithms.

VK makes investments in its megabrand's growth to ensure 
its recognition. For this purpose, the company created 
a unified communication strategy called ‘The place 
to meet’, which linked together all VK products and 
services. Its objective is to starkly illustrate that VK 
is a place for people who wish to realise their full 
potential and experience the value of social interaction. 
VK is a place to meet friends/music/talents/viewers/
something new/ teams.

VK is continuously aiming to expand the number of authors, 
communities, influencers, journalists, and bloggers on its 
platforms. This gives the opportunity to provide more 
content, which in turn increases the number of users. 
The extensive rollout of a support programme for authors, 
including the expansion of monetisation tools, was a major 
element in drawing authors last year. 

VK business model 
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VK achievements

2022 97.8

2021 82.0

+19% YoY

VK revenue  RUB bn RUB bn RUB bn

RUB bn

RUB bn

RUB bn

2022 20.0

2021 18.3

+9% YoY

VK adjusted EBITDA

2022 75.1

2021 61.7

+22% YoY

2022 11.3

2021 10.8

+4% YoY

2022 5.8

2021 3.2

+83% YoY

2022 6.3

2021 6.7

-6% YoY

In 2022, VK demonstrated growth in key financial and operational 
performance indicators. Revenue increased by 19% YoY and amounted 
to RUB 97.8 bn.

The primary driver of the revenue growth were online advertising sales 
which rose by 29%. Performance advertising posted strong increase 
among advertising formats, and small and medium-sized business 
experienced similar development among company segments.

The Social networks and content services segment was the largest 
contributor to the company's overall revenue growth – its revenue in 2022 
was up by 22% YoY and amounted to RUB 75.1 bn. 

VK Tech became the fastest growing segment with revenue up by 83% YoY 
to RUB 5.8 bn.

Revenues in the Social networks and Content Services segment grew 
by 22%. The main drivers of the revenue growth were an increase in online 
advertising revenue due to the growing audience of VK projects and their 
engagement, increased technology efficiency and the launch of the new VK 
Ads advertising platform, as well as stronger promotion of small- and 
medium-sized businesses. The segment revenue includes revenue from the 
Dzen and News projects since their acquisition in early September 2022.

The VK Tech segment exhibited the strongest growth among all the 
segments. Revenue rose by 83%. A rise in communication service users and 
an increase in licence revenue were the factors that most significantly 
influenced this growth.

Revenue of the New business lines segment was down by 6% and amounted 
to RUB 6.3 bn. At the same time, VK Capsula and the new VK Play project 
both demonstrated a boost in revenue.

Revenue of the EdTech segment was up by 4%. In 2022, the number of 
registered students at VK's educational platforms grew by 28% YoY, 
exceeding 13 million in December 2022.

Adjusted EBITDA increased by 8.9% YoY to RUB 20.0 bn. Adjusted 
EBITDA margin was 20.4%. This was driven by profitability growth in the 
EdTech and VK Tech segments, up by 15 p.p. and 17 p.p. YoY, respectively.

Revenue of the Social networks 
and content services segment

Revenue of the VK Tech segment

Revenue of the New business lines segment

Revenue of the EdTech segment

VK achievements
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VK key events in 2022 

January

Skillbox Holding Limited toped the Smart Ranking 2021 
of Russia's largest EdTech companies

February

Vkontakte presented the ‘Topical’ feed, where neural 
networks gather the day's top trends

OK introduced new safeguards against unsuitable content 
in personal correspondence and Message Security Centre

April

VK launched a beta version of a new unified 
advertising platform – VK Ads

VK Video launched a neural network technology 
to automatically enhance video quality

Tarantool in-memory computing platform was updated 
to secure IT systems and save resources (version 2.10)

According to Smart Ranking, Skillbox became a top 
provider of education in terms of organization quality

Mail.ru mailing service and Cloud Mail.ru 
integrated My Office technology

The Cloud's smart algorithms learned to recognise 
objects and faces in photos and compile them into sets, 
as well as to identify document images and automatically 
sort them by type: passport, driving licence, SNILS

Launch of Kids' Mail with enhanced anti-spam 
and ad-free algorithms

VK Calls launched a separate app 
for mobile devices 

VK launched a beta version of the Russian 
gaming platform – VK Play

March

VK launched a conversion video 
advertising tool – Shoppable Ads

VK created Public Council for small- and 
medium-sized business support

VK Clips launched a programme to support authors 
with a total budget of RUB 100 mn

VK Video launched an app for Smart TV

VK ID personal account launched 
a Security Management Centre

Overseas cloud users can use Disk-O: 
to transfer files to the Cloud Mail.ru for free

VK launched the largest support programme 
for authors in the social network history

May

VK launched a beta version of RuStore 

VK Messenger and VK Clips launched a separate app 
for mobile devices

Marusia voice assistant learned to read the feed 
and voice articles in VKontakte

VK updated the identity of smart speakers and voice assistant. 
Smart speaker Capsula was named VK Capsula

VK opened a paid internship for novice game developers

OK introduced a ‘Lightning’ smart algorithm 
to support authors 

Mail.ru Calendar got updated design, new options for joint 
planning with colleagues and friends, automatic addition 
of events from emails and other features

Skillbox opened the first offline school in Krasnodar

VK Video implemented the technology of accelerated 
data transfer based on the HTTP/3 protocol

vkontakte

VK Video

VK Clips

vkontakte

VK Video

VK Calls

VK Video

capsula

marusia

VK Ads

(Cloud Mail.ru)

(Cloud Mail.ru)

VK Key events in 2022 
2022   Annual ReportGeneral information7



1 Machine learning is a technological field that trains computers to solve problems 
based on available data.

June July

August

September

VKontakte launched vmoji – unique digital avatars VK announces the sale of 100% of its international gaming 
business, MY.GAMES VK continues to develop its own gaming 
services under the VK Play brand

VK is the best company in Russia according 
to HR Brand 2021 award

VK launches Sferum training profile in VK Messenger

OK unveils a revamped ‘My Hobbies are OK’ 
positioning and launches a key new section – 
Hobbies

OK introduces a video monetisation tool for 
video content creators

Marusia now has a family mode, and 
a smart home mini-application is launched

Dzen launches dzen.ru portal

Atomic Heart is now an exclusive on VK Play

VK Play releases a mobile app 

Skillbox opens an offline school in Kazan

VK closes deal to acquire the Zen content platform and the 
News service During the same time, the company transfers 
100% of its stake in Delivery Club, which it bought when 
leaving O2O Holding

VK Video launched monetisation of live broadcasts

VK Calls added an option to schedule appointments 

OK updated and personalised the mobile app interface, 
improved navigation

Marusia learned how to turn on Vkontakte podcasts on 
VK Capsula speakers, and is also available in music search

VK launched an annual scholarship programme with 
a 2022 budget of around RUB 30 mn

Developers obtained a possibility to monetise 
in-app purchases on RuStore

VK Play started a beta test of new streaming 
platform – VK Play Live

Platform for integrating smart home providers 
with Marusia was launched

VK Tech launches cloud-based platform for 
full-cycle ML development1 

VK Messenger launched automatic message translation

Cloud Mail.ru and Dobro Mail.ru provided additional 
storage capacities for documents, photos and videos 
to non-profit organisations free of charge

VK Tech offered an option to build a private 
cloud on a business' own IT infrastructure 

Mail.ru mailing service introduced an automatic 
language detection, which allows contextual 
suggestion of translation directly in the email 

Mail.ru mailing service and Cloud Mail.ru were unified 
by a single virtual repository, which automatically 
receives all files and attachments from emails 

Marusia learned how to call and text, set scenarios 
for a smart home and control new smart devices 

VK Ads launched a tool to promote applications 
from RuStore and seamless analytics of the results

VK Tech launched an out-of-the-box HR 
solution – VK People Hub Social Box

VK Clips launched a new recommendation system

VK, Skillbox and leading Russian universities signed 
a memorandum on the development of online education 
and distance learning technologies in Russia

VK launched a programme to support small- and 
medium-sized business in all regions of Russia

VKontakte unveiled new design for feed, 
personal profile and communities

vkontakte

vkontakte

VK Video

VK Clips

VK Ads

marusia

marusia

marusia

VK Messenger marusia

VK Calls

(Cloud Mail.ru)

2022   Annual ReportGeneral information8



October

VK hosts posts its vulnerability scanner on 
BI.ZONE Bug Bounty platform

VK adds RuStore to its Standoff 365 Bug Bounty 
vulnerability scanner

Skillbox opens career guidance hub in Moscow

VK and X5 Group launch digital audio ads 
in Pyaterochka shops

November

Mail.ru Mail and Cloud launches a server-based version 
of its MyOffice web editors with the ability to edit documents 
in the browser

December

VK Messenger adds folders to separate personal 
and professional spaces, speeds up video uploads in chats, 
and ups the file sharing limit

The VK Capsula Mini smart speaker has the ability 
to create stereo pair with the Xiaomi MI Smart Speaker 
for surround sound

VK acquired 87.2% of a short video platform 
developer, Movika

VKontakte launched a deepfake technology in 
VK Clips and VK Video

VK acquired 51% of Medium Quality Production, 
one of the CIS leaders in digital video content 
production

VK achieved Forbes' ‘platinum’ status as an employer 
and earned the ‘2022 HR-brand’ national award

VK Messenger launched a video messaging option

VK Ads launched a Commerce Centre to promote 
online shops

RuStore introduced recommendations and thematic 
selections for users

Odnoklassniki and Mail.ru mobile apps became 
accessible to blind users

Skillbox opened offline schools in Novosibirsk, 
Krasnoyarsk and Voronezh and separated the offline 
schooling into a distinct business line

Dzen users obtain a possibility to log in via VK ID

VKontakte launched NFT avatars and token showcase

VK presented the video technology at the ‘Digital 
Lesson’ to over 2,500 to Russian schoolchildren

VKontakte unveiled animated vmoji and video 
sharing in VK Calls

VKontakte introduced a beta version of communities 
in the VK Messenger app

VK opened VK Stadium concert venue

VK unveiled a new smart speaker, VK Capsula Neo

Skillbox opened an offline school in St. Petersburg

Mail.ru mail service distributed mailings to special 
folders with clever sorting of emails

Dzen relaunched mobile app with improved 
recommendations, new onboarding and startup videos

OK introduced author monetisation tools 
for all content in the feed for authors

VK Play Live launched its own mobile app 
and streamer support programme

VK's Marusia became the voice assistant 
of the Xiaomi TV set-top box

VK launched an open creative platform, Prostor

VK and the National Research University Higher School of 
Economics launched the School of Engineering and Mathematics

VK launched ‘IT Awareness Day’ for schoolchildren related 
to video technology

VKontakte launched new privacy mode – 
‘Private Space’

Viewing videos from VK Clips became available on OK

VK Messenger added chat folders, speeded up video 
uploads and increased file-sharing limit 

VK Play graduated out of beta and unveiled 
a major technical update

Skillbox launched the first training simulator 
in the Russian market for further professional 
education

VK Ads added tools to promote websites

vkontakte

capsula

vkontakte

vkontakte

vkontakte

vkontakte

capsula

marusia

VK Ads

VK Ads

VK Messenger

VK Messenger

VK Messenger
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Social networks and content services

VKontakte is the most popular social network and the first super app 
in Russia. Each month, the platform is used by more than 100 million 
people from all around the world. Every day, they exchange 15 billion 
messages1 and view more than ten billion posts. Advertising and user 
fees (IVAS2) are the main drivers of monetisation for VKontakte.

> 100  
million people  
around the world use the social 
network VKontakte every month

In 2022, VKontakte kept strengthening its position as the industry leader 
in social networks – in Q4 2022, the daily user base in Russia grew 
by 8.9% YoY and reached a record 51.1 million people, while the monthly 
user base increased by 9.6% YoY to a record 79.5 million people. Also, 
in Q4 2022, the global average monthly audience set a new high 
of 101.7 million people (+5% YoY).

1	 Averages for Q4 2022.
2	Internet value-added services.
3	Source: Mediascope, Q4 2022, Russia 0+, age 12+, desktop and mobile
4	Source: Mediascope, December 2022, Russia 0+, age 12+, desktop and mobile

Operating results

VK has over 200 digital projects and products that are used by tens of millions of people every day. In an effort 
to fulfil and anticipate the needs of its customers, the company is constantly enhancing its services.

+8.9% 
growth in VKontakte’s DAU in Russia

New audiences show greater engagement. Despite a noticeable 
increase in new users, users’ daily average total time spent on the social 
network rose to 45.2 minutes in Q4 2022.3 VKontakte is visited monthly 
by 86% of the Russian internet audience, with 54% of users visiting 
the platform daily.4

VKontakte feed and recommendations

The VKontakte newsfeed received a major update in 2022 and enjoyed 
higher user engagement. The number of views on VKontakte feeds 
climbed by 47% YoY in Q4 2022 as a result of better recommendations 
and growing user interest. The number of users interacting in comments 
increased by 28% YoY due to algorithmic advances, and the total 
number of friend invitations that were accepted rose by 31% 
in Q4 2022 YoY.

In 2022, VKontakte actively developed new end-to-end ML guidelines 
for all products and content formats. To better engage users, 
the team refined the criteria automatic content quality identification 
and trained neural networks on hundreds of different topics to increase 
the relevance of recommendations.

Working with VKontakte authors

During 2022, VKontakte saw an upsurge in interest from content 
producers and users. In December 2022, the overall number of active 
author publics reached the two million milestone, up by 13% YoY. 
The amount of content generated on the platform grew as well. In 2022, 
51 million authors published more than 6.3 billion pieces of content, 
including posts, clips, articles, videos, music, stories, and other formats.

6.3 billion   
pieces of content published 
by VKontakte authors in 2022

In 2022, VKontakte announced the first stage of the major redesign 
of its mobile app – a new feed design focused on colourful media 
formats. In September, VKontakte presented redesigned communities, 
transforming them into digital hubs for creativity, discourse and content 
exchange in order to allow each author to fully express the uniqueness 
and customise the look of the public profile.

In September 2022, VKontakte redesigned its communi-
ties into digital hubs for creativity, discourse and content 
exchange

Earnings opportunities are one of the most important audience 
requests. In 2022, the revenue of communities utilising VKontakte’s 
official monetisation mechanisms, including video monetisation, partner 
programme, VK Donut, etc., increased by 87% YoY to a record-breaking 
RUB 4 bn.
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Russia's No. 1 
social network

In VKontakte, you can share content in all available formats:

15 billion 

messages per day

10 billion 

record views per day

51.1 million 

daily users in Russia 

79.5 million 

monthly users in Russia 

Posts

Music

Clips

Video

Articles

Stories

VKontakte is a multipurpose platform for 
communication, creativity and business.

In 2022, VKontakte launched more than 250 products and technological 
improvements, including Web 3.0 rollout, a global redesign of the social network 
interface, and an enhanced recommendation engine.
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OK is one of the leading social and content platforms in Russia, where 
users find interesting content and discuss it with like-minded people, 
communicate with friends and family, listen to music, play games 
and watch videos.

In Q4 2022, the average monthly users base of the social network 
in Russia was 36.6 million, while the mobile MAU1 was 32.6 million.

36.6 million  
average monthly users of OK 
in Russia

32.6 million  
average mobile MAU of OK  

OK’s communications and IVAS segment

OK is the leader of the Russian internet in terms of user-to-user 
congratulations and private communications. In 2022, users sent 
more than 31 billion virtual gifts, two billion postcards and over two 
billion stickers. In December 2022, OK users got a new way to express 
emotions and the ability to customise the look of the messaging 
service according to their personal preferences.

> 31 billion  
virtual gifts sent by OK users 
in 2022

OK was the first social network to roll out a service based on its own 
deepfake technology. In 2022, more than 100 million deepfakes 
were generated in the OK’s New Image service.

OK’s new positioning and launch of the ‘Hobbies’ service

In September, OK unveiled its new positioning: it has become a platform 
for communication based on shared interests, where each user can 
access a broad variety of topical content and establish new contacts. 
More than 200 top Russian internet bloggers with content about various 
hobbies were recruited for the launch of the OK service.

The social network presented a brand-new key section called 
‘Hobbies’ where users can find like-minded people and content to suit 
every taste across eight sections and thousands of topic-specific 
sub-sections.

> 21.4 million  
people visited the ‘Hobbies’ 
service in Q4 2022

More than 21.4 million users visited the ‘Hobbies’ service in Q4 2022. 
Moreover, the update gave content producers access to a new target 
audience. For example, video views of author and media groups 
in ‘Hobbies’ rose by 70% in three months.

Content platform

OK concentrated on authoring content in 2022. The social network 
transformed its feed and recommendation algorithms, resulting 
in a significant increase in time spent in the feed – up by 30% YoY. 
The total reach of author and media groups on OK grew by 55% 
over the year. The share of unique author content in the feed increased 
by 1.5 times over the year.

OK launched several special programmes to support author groups, 
for example, a smart algorithm called ‘Lightning’. In the six months since 
its launch, more than 3,250 groups received support from Lightning, 
which together amassed more than 4.5 million subscriptions. During this 
time, the total content audience of the groups in Lightning increased 
five-fold and the average reach of each group quadrupled. In total, 
the number of author and media groups on the social network grew 
by over 60,000 in 2022.

Moreover, in 2022, the domestic monthly active audience 
of the disappearing photo and video service, Moments, reached 
27.8 million users (+20% YoY) in Russia. The number of views in Moments 
rose to 460 million for 2022 (+32% YoY).

27.8 million  
users – monthly active 
audience of the Moments 
service in 2022

Separately, OK kept up its active engagement with  
the national and local media. A separate news tab appeared 
in the recommendations section, and the media audience is expanding 
thanks to joint special projects with the platform. The reach across all 
media groups grew by 84.7% YoY in Q4 2022.

1	 Monthly active users are the total number of new users who access an app or online service 
each month, excluding returning users.
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In 2022, the social network launched two new monetisation programmes that allow users to earn 
money from viewing videos and sharing any content in their feeds

OK’s groups obtained an opportunity to convert all the coverage they receive into earnings. In 2022, the social 
network launched two new monetisation programmes that allow users to earn money from viewing videos 
and sharing any content in their feeds. As a result, the number of authors who use OK to monetise content 
doubled by the end of 2022.

The OK menu now can accommodate the interests of each user

OK unveiled a major update to the mobile app interface: the menus are now tailored to the user’s interests, 
and navigation within OK became more user-friendly. Machine learning algorithms analyse a user’s preferences, 
taking into account their activity on various services and displaying the most frequently used ones on the menu.

Safe and comfortable environment

OK presented updated measures to safeguard against undesirable content in private messages and a Message 
Security Centre, which collects rules for safe and proper communication on the social network.

OK users now have the option to hide suspicious comments in discussions under publications, photos and 
videos. All comments that might be unpleasant and offensive to different groups of people are marked.

OK launched a neural network to deal with aggressive comments. It assesses text and images in comments 
for toxic content and then issues a rating to moderators for further verification.

In December 2022, OK’s mobile apps passed the voluntary certification system of Everland Inclusion Project 
called ‘Accessibility of retail spaces, websites and mobile apps’ and became the first social network app 
in Russia that is accessible to blind users. The application received more than 80 non-visual accessibility scores 
out of a possible 100 in the examination performed by the blind testers.
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In OK, you can:

Look for content pertaining to your interests

Play free gamesWatch video

Discuss it with like-minded people

Listen to your favourite musicChat with friends

36.6 32.6million million 

monthly users 
in Russia

monthly active users from 
mobile devices 

The best platform for 
communicating your interests 
and finding hobbies
In 2022, OK unveiled a new positioning for the social network and launched an 
important business line dedicated to users' hobbies and passions. In particular 
for this launch, OK presented a brand-new important feature called ‘Hobbies’, 
which allows users to find content on the subject of hobbies that appeals to all 
preferences.
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VK Mini Apps is an open mini-application platform with over 75,000 
services available1. The platform uses mini-application advertising 
and user payments as monetisation sources.

90%  
YoY increase in a number 
of apps on VK Mini Apps 
platform in December 2022

In December 2022, the number of apps on VK Mini Apps platform 
increased by 90% YoY and amounted to 75,380 apps. The platform’s 
average monthly active audience grew by 8% YoY to 44.6 million 
in Q4 2022. VKontakte makes large investments in key projects – Health 
and Dating. In Q4 2022, the average monthly audience for Health 
reached eight million, while Dating amassed 2.3 million users.

The platform changed its approach to monetisation, moving to a fixed 
fee per 1,000 views. This, among other things, contributed to a 95% YoY 
rise in Q4 2022 in the advertising revenue generated by mini-apps 
on the VK Mini Apps platform.

The number of mobile games built on the VK Mini Apps technology 
platform is also increasing. In Q4 2022, the games library on VKontakte 
expanded by 132%, and in-game sales on mobile devices rose 
by 91% YoY.

VK Messenger is a service within VKontakte and a separate mobile app 
for communication. In Q4 2022, VK Messenger had a monthly audience 
of 66.2 million users2. They exchange 15 billion messages a day3.

66.2 million —  
VK Messenger’s monthly users 
in Q4 2022

In 2022, the team launched a separate VK Messenger mobile app 
and introduced a communication service for schools – the Sferum 
Learning Profile in VK Messenger.

Other noteworthy upgrades included folders for organising personal 
space and work space, quicker video uploads in chats, and file 
sharing with a larger capacity of up to four Gigabytes. In December, 
VK Messenger launched video messaging with advanced settings. 
VK communities in a chat format appeared in the VK Messenger app. 
VK Messenger integrated with the Faster Payments System (FPS) 
and actively establishes partner ties with banks.

1	 As of the end of 2022.
2	Average number of users in Q4 2022.
3	Average in Q4 2022.

VK Clips is Russia’s fastest-growing short vertical video service. 
The service is available both in the separate VK Clips app 
and in the clips section within the VKontakte app. VK clips 
are monetised through targeted advertising between clips and native 
integration of brands into the service’s features.

836 million — 
average daily views on VK Clips 
in Q4 2022

VK Clips has been enjoying vigorous growth since its launch: in Q4 2022, 
average daily views increased by 127% YoY to 836 million, and in April 
2022, the service broke the record of one billion views per day. 
In Q4 2022, the number of published clips skyrocketed by 346% YoY, 
while the number of content creators rose by 133%.

In 2022, the service launched of a separate VK Clips app and added 
an option to submit clips up to three minutes long at 60 FPS in full HD 
quality. VK Clips was the first vertical video service to launch Deepfake 
function, which is based on neural networks created by VKontakte. 
Significant enhancements for authors were made to VK Clips, including 
a better editor, video analytics, and the capacity to create clips using 
other users’ original sounds.
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In Q4 2022, monthly audience reached 47 million people, daily reach 
was 14 million. VK Music continues to be the top Russian music service 
in terms of audience metrics. 

47 million  
people – monthly reach of VK Music 
in Q4 2022

In April, VK Music launched a new recommendation algorithm for 
playlists from listeners with similar tastes. In September, more than 100 
entertainers gathered their personal playlists for VK Music. Exclusive 
premieres from renowned performance artists have been frequently 
featured on the service since October. 

VK Music goes beyond streaming – VK Records label was launched 
in September to support and promote Russian musicians. The first 
concert space, VK Stadium, opened in December. In the summer, over 
175,000 people attended VK Fest, the biggest offline music festival, 
and 23 million people watched it online.

VK Calls is a platform for personal and business communication 
via audio and video calls. The platform permits conferences with 
an unlimited number of participants and duration. Calls may be placed 
both within VKontakte and through a separate VK Calls app, which is 
available for all devices. 

In 2022, VK Calls launched a scheduling section, added reactions 
and a feature to co-watch videos during calls. Users obtained access 
to customised animated vmoji avatars that can be used in place 
of camera video.

VK Video is a platform that integrates horizontal videos and broadcasts 
from the VK ecosystem: VKontakte, OK. A wide library of professional 
content and UGC1 content is available to viewers in the showcase. The 
platform is monetised through advertisements in rolls and live broadcasts.

In Q4 2022, average daily views of VK Video (not including VK Clips) 
reached 1.96 billion per day.

1.96 billion — average 
daily views on VK Video (excluding 
VK Clips) in Q4 2022

Over the past year, hundreds of millions of videos — the majority 
of which are UGC and PUGC2 videos — have been uploaded to the 
platform. The professional content collection has also expanded, with 
over 100,000 movies, TV shows, and series from over 130 rights holders 
now available on the platform. A total of 23,300 communities joined the 
video monetisation programme during the year.

VK Video released a separate apps for Smart TV, launched an open 
beta test of the author’s account, introduced customised covers, 
viewing histories and timecodes, and instant editing of clips. In 2022, 
the technology used by VK Video was made available to outside IT 
services.

1	 User-generated content refers to any content that is created, published or sent 
by an audience.

2	Professional user generated content.
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VK Fest 2022
In 2022, for the first time VK Fest was held simultaneously in three cities: Moscow, St. Petersburg and Sirius 
(Sochi). During the course of the two festival days, a record 175,000 people showed up to the open-air event, 
and over 23 million people watched it streamed online.

Around 80 professional entertainers, including the top performers from the VK Music charts, took the stage 
during VK Fest. Among them were Basta, Ruki Vverkh, Zveri, PHARAOH, OG Buda, Jony, Klava Coca, HammAli 
& Navai, Slava Marlow, Egor Kreed and other popular performers. Visitors to VK Fest took part in a variety of 
interesting activities and explored more than 330 themed sections spread across the three cities.

In recent years, VK Fest has grown to be one of the most media-focused Russian festivals. More than 4,500 
media articles were published on VK Fest 2022, and the festival earned more than 100,000 social media 
mentions.1 VK Fest is the most recognisable and well-liked festival among Russian people, according to a 2022 
study2.

The creative special initiatives – “Karaoke on the Bridge” in St. Petersburg and “Gone to VK Fest” in Moscow, 
which were a part of a significant PR campaign for the festival’s premiere, received multiple awards from 
the industry, including Event Awards Russia.

1	 Medialogy and Brand Analytics data, period: 26 May – 27 July 2022.
2	https://vk.com/press/fest-2023-research.

>175,000  
viewers offline

23 million   
users online

>80  
performers  
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 (Dzen)

Dzen joined VK in September 2022. The portal dzen.ru was also launched at the same time. Now it includes 
articles written by Dzen authors as well as News and Weather services.

Dzen formulated a new positioning, selected ‘zoomers’ and ‘alphas’ as its target audience, 
and added new authors who were well-liked by the young generation

This has affected product solutions, leading to the emergence of a seamless multi-format strategy. The platform 
enhanced its recommendation system by implementing algorithms that simultaneously consider interactions 
with all the formats. The monthly audience of the Dzen feed was 70 million users.

‘Find Your Dzen’ is a federal advertising campaign that Dzen started to support the changes. The number 
of downloads for the mobile app rose by 60% in a month. The target audience demonstrated a greater 
understanding of how to use the platform and intention to use it.
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Dzen relaunch:

Dzen created a new product positioning, 
chose a target audience of ‘zoomers’ 
and ‘alpha’

The platform now features new authors 
who are well-liked by the young generation.

70 million 

monthly users

100,000 
active authors post content 
every week

Dzen is a multi-format platform for viewing and creating content.

New Dzen’s 
positioning
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Email Mail.ru is the best in Russia in terms of audience and growth rate.

In 2022, the Email’s monthly audience increased by 5% YoY to 50 million 
people. The daily audience was up by 5% and amounted to 18 million 
people1.

Product revenue grew by 25% YoY, driven in part by the launch of new 
advertising tools and an inflow of advertising investment from small- 
and medium sized businesses.

50 million – 
Mail.ru Email’s monthly users 

+25%  
– Mail.ru Email’s revenue 
in 2022

The security and privacy of user data is the No. 1 priority for the Email’s 
team. The security system detects suspicious activity and blocks it. 
The reaction time was cut to 30 seconds over the year. The Email 
prevents phishing emails. 
 

Smart algorithms check compromised passwords and warn users of 
their leaks from other services. In a year, more than 1.5 million users 
changed their passwords on the company’s recommendation. 
 

Automatic defence systems 
detect and repel DDoS attacks.  
 

In 2022, anti-spam performance 
improved by 6.5% YoY2.  
 

1	 According to Mediascope Cross Web, Q4 2022, Russia 0+, age 12+, desktop and mobile.
2	According to internal statistics on complaints about junk email.
3	According to Mediascope, Q4 2022, Russia 0+, age 12+, desktop and mobile.
4	Internal data, December 2022.
5	Mediascope Cross Web data, December 2022.

 (Cloud Mail.ru)

Cloud Mail.ru is one of the leading cloud-based B2C solutions on 
the Russian market. Each month, 22 million users3 download 1.8 billion 
files4 from the service. The number of daily users increased by 92% 
compared to 20215.

22 million –  
Cloud Mail.ru monthly users

In 2022, Mail.ru Email and Cloud created a unified data repository with 
a shared subscription. 

More than 70 file formats are available online in the Cloud Mail.ru.

The improved algorithms for creating stories extend usage time by 30%. 
The only app on the market that lets you transfer files from foreign 
cloud services, Disk-O: cloud storage aggregator, was upgraded.

Security Accessibility

Smart algorithms and neural networks 

Intelligent mail sorting technologies categorise incoming mails into 
Mailing lists, Letters to yourself, Receipts, Study and other folders.  
 

Notifications from verified 
senders are flagged with 
a green shield icon. 
 

The customer service cut the 
time it takes to resolve common 
issues by 20%. 
 

In 2022, Mail.ru launched Kids’ Mail. It has enhanced anti-spam 
algorithms and no ads. 
 

The main scripts in Mail.ru Email app (Android) were refined and 
made accessible for the blind people.  
 

The voice assistant Marusia reads mails aloud and writes a reply 
at dictation. During the year, users listened and wrote 55 million mails 
with Marusia’s help.   
 

Mail.ru Email and Cloud share a unified virtual data repository. Files 
are automatically uploaded to the Cloud’s attachment folder. Neural 
networks distribute incoming mails into folders. An event can be 
added to the Calendar directly from an email. 
 

Development of services 
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Mail.ru Email and Cloud

Mail.ru services are:

50 22million million 

users per month users per month

Mail.ru Email Cloud Mail.ru

Quick and user-friendly interface Single repository with shared subscription 
to services for hacking/abnormal 
activity blocking

Automated user support serviceAccessibility: secure kids' mail/non-visual 
accessibility/voice assistant

In 2022, the Email and the Cloud merged into a single virtual repository. 
Files are automatically uploaded to the Cloud's attachment folder. Neural 
networks distribute incoming mails into folders. Last year the Kids' Mail 
was launched. It is advertisement-free. Emails with unsuitable material for 
children get banned thanks to improved anti-spam algorithms.
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EdTech

Skillbox Holding Limited is an EdTech holding company that brings 
together a number of major education platforms, such as Skillbox 
(100%), GeekBrains (100%), SkillFactory (63.76%), Mentorama (90%) 
and Lerna (70%).

Skillbox Holding Limited platforms had 13.1 million registered users 
by the end of 2022, +28.1% YoY. There are 519,000 users on Skillbox 
Holding Limited’s paid platforms (+48.7% YoY).

13.1 million  
users registered on Skillbox 
Holding Limited platforms 
as of the end 2022

519,000  
users on Skillbox Holding 
Limited’s paid platforms  

Skillbox specialises in comprehensive vocational training programmes 
and short courses for honing particular skills, as well as higher 
education and business education programmes offered in collaboration 
with universities and colleges. According to Smart Ranking, Skillbox 
emerged as a top provider of training in 2022.

Skillbox’s 2022 priorities included going offline and creating a hybrid 
learning environment. Skillbox opened seven offline schools throughout 
the country and established an offline career guidance hub in Moscow.

Web Design 3.0, Microservice Architecture and VKontakte Promotion 
are among the first non-linear training products that Skillbox introduced 
on the Russian market for continuing professional education.

GeekBrains offers foundational study programmes with a maximum 
duration of three years with a primary focus on IT education.

In 2022, GeekBrains concentrated on enhancing product quality, 
with a customised strategy to teaching each consumer. Using 
the platform, it is possible to study both in groups and alone, 
to schedule lessons at any time, to pursue two professions for no 
additional cost, and to change professional training pathways.

Promoting digital literacy among the population and offering career 
guidance in IT professions are two of the platform’s main goals. 
In 2022, GeekBrains launched a number of joint initiatives with regional 
government programmes to expand access to industrial education.

Programmes in Data Science, Data Analytics, Programming, 
Design (Contented School) and higher education (in cooperation 
with universities) are available via SkillFactory.

In 2022, SkillFactory collaborated with the national top universities 
to create higher education programmes. The company launched 
three new online master’s programmes with the Moscow Institute 
of Physics and Technology (MIPT). Four master’s programmes (MIPT 
and UFU) and three other vocational training programmes (RANEPA, 
MIPT, and MEPhI) were also available for enrolment. Under the Digital 
Professions Project, SkillFactory received more than 19,600 applications, 
more than 9,000 students enrolled.

In 2022, the creation of practice-oriented training courses in the form 
of joint initiatives with businesses was a major priority.

Lerna’s key areas of focus were the development and launch of a B2B 
platform in the Russian and CIS markets. The suggested solution 
enables to incorporate online courses from prestigious universities 
into corporate training programme.

In 2022, the development of solutions that allow the corporate sector 
to minimise the expense of staff training was Lerna’s key priority. 
Both a subscription model, enabling to purchase unrestricted access 
to the online course base for a predetermined sum per employee, 
and a co-payment model, which provides a possibility to split the cost 
of training with an employee, were introduced.

 (Sferum)

Sferum is a common technical environment for communication 
between participants in the educational process. Sferum’s features 
allow to arrange online lessons and parent-teacher conferences, make 
broadcasts, create communities, manage channels and private chats 
for groups of students and teachers.

Sferum project’s audience  

more than doubled  
in 2022

In 2022, the project’s user base more than doubled from 2.4 
to 6.0 million people, with over 40,000 educational organisations 
in 83 Russian regions joining Sferum.

In September 2022, the Sferum learning profile emerged in VK 
Messenger. It is not open to the general public, only confirmed 
participants of the educational process have access to it.
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Skillbox Holding Limited includes:

Skillbox  is a platform for additional education programmes regarding a variety 
of new and in-demand professions, as well as specific skills in asynchronous format 
and for online higher and business education programmes run in cooperation with 
universities 

GeekBrains  is a platform for IT programmes with practitioner instructors to kick-start 
careers in digital in a synchronised learning format 

SkillFactory  is a platform for programmes in Data Science, Data Analytics, 
Programming, Design (Contented School) and joint higher education programmes 
in partnership with universities in an asynchronous format 

Lerna  is a corporate training platform with courses from leading online schools 

Mentorama  is an online school for digital professions in Brazil with an asynchronous 
learning format in Portuguese

519,000
students in fee-based programmes as of the end of 2022

1,600> ~ 2.7
educational products student assignments graded in 2022

million 

We train and adapt 
talented people for the 
global digitalisation era
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Non-consolidated  
educational assets

The main product of the Uchi.ru group is an online self-learning platform 
for preschoolers and students in 1–11 grades. Platform coverage in 2022 
reached 12 million students. The platform is used by more than six 
million parents and 800,000 teachers.

12 million  
students – coverage of Uchi.ru 
in 2022

Courses available for primary school children grew to 30. This made 
it possible to create a packaged offer and raise the average user’s check 
by 16%.

Interactive lessons on topics covered in the school curriculum for 5–8 
grades were made available through Uchi.ru in 2022. Over the year, 
revenue per paying user in the middle and high school segment grew 
by 20% and the number of active students exceeded five million.

More than 7.7 million kids participated in 11 contests held on Uchi.ru 
in 2022.

As part of the Digital Learning Content project in 2022, over 1.3 million 
students accessed content on the Uchi.ru portal. Thanks to this project, 
the educational platform YaClass, acquired by Uchi.ru in Q4 2021, 
increased its user base by 20%, while the number of active users grew 
by 16% YoY.

Uchi.Doma (Study at Home), an online tutoring school, which is a business 
division of Uchi.ru, reported a 67% YoY rise in new paying customers.

In February 2023, VK consolidated Uchi.ru by purchasing the remaining 
75% ownership.

 (Umschool)

Umschool is an online school that focuses on helping students get ready 
for the USE and BSE tests, which are required for graduation. Revenue 
in 2022 was up by 16% compared to 2021. The number of subscriptions 
to Umschool education courses in 2022 exceeded 90,000.

> 90,000  
paid subscriptions to Umschool 
education courses in 2022

Umschool launched new ‘Middle School’ course for 7–8 grades 
and ‘Individual Classes’ for students in 9–11 grades. Moreover, Medvusa, 
the largest online institution for medical students, was purchased.

 (Tetrika)

Tetrika is an interactive educational platform that allows pre-school, 
primary, secondary and high school students to study with a tutor online.

> 2,800  
tutors conducted lessons 
on Tetrika in 2022

In 2022, Tetrika showed strong growth in key financial and operational 
indicators. The platform had a 36% YoY increase in active users, 
and the number of lessons completed per student grew by 27%. 
More than 2,800 tutors conducted lessons on the platform.
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Technology for business (VK Tech)

1	 Software as a service – software hosted in the cloud and accessible via the Internet.
2	Simple storage service – a service where large amounts of digital data are stored.
3	Kubernetes (from the Greek ‘helmsman’, ‘wheelman’) is an open source software for deploying 

and managing containers on a large scale.
4	Platform as a service is a cloud computing delivery model in which the consumer has access 

to information technology platforms.

Major launches in 2022 included out-of-the-box version of Private 
Cloud, the Tarantool upgrade to version 2.10, the VK HR Tek HR 
e-document management solution.

VK introduced VK Tax Compliance, a tax compliance solution, to the 
Kazakhstan market in 2022. VK focused on creating cloud-based 
software versions, including a SaaS1 version of VK Tax Compliance 
and a cloud-based Tarantool. Cloud solutions availability for small and 
medium-sized businesses is increasing thanks to recent developments.

Communication, interaction, productivity

The transformation experienced by the Russian IT sector in 2022 made 
domestic communication and collaboration solutions more popular. 
In 2022, the number of businesses using VK WorkSpace services tripled, 
while their revenue increased by 3.6 times.

The VK Teams super app was updated and got more capabilities, 
including messenger integration with Email and Calendar, employee 
mini-profiles, enhanced task management and video calls.

Cloud technology, development solutions and data handling 
solutions

In 2022, the VK Cloud platform kept on enjoying rapid growth. Public 
cloud platform revenue grew by 65% and that of private cloud-based 
projects increased by 2.4 times. Private Cloud and the box version of S3 
storage2 are significant updates. 

Kubernetes3 as a service accounted for the largest share of platform 
services (PaaS4) revenue in 2022, up by 35%. VK Cloud presented the 
Cloud ML Platform, a platform for full-cycle ML development and Data-
team collaboration. 

On average, monthly demand for Big Data solutions rose by 40%, driven 
by the Greenplum-based Arenadata DB Cloud database management 
system.

With its focus on out-of-the-box products, the team increased its share 
of licence sales to 70%. A key update to Tarantool 2.10 differentiated 
Tarantool Community Edition from Enterprise Edition. The introduction 
of new features met demand among big businesses.

New products such as Tarantool DB, Tarantool Kubernetes Operator, 
Tarantool Clusters Federation were released to complement Tarantool 
Enterprise Edition.

Financial function management and operational management

IT solutions for financial management, operational management and 
interaction with tax authorities were vertically integrated in 2022. 

Automation of HR processes

The HR Tech business unit combined solutions for company interaction 
automation, employee experience management and corporate 
socialisation.

An electronic HR document management solution to automate HR 
processes, which is now used by over 100 companies, was launched. 

VK acquired 25% of Goodt, a developer of the Rostalent talent 
management system. The companies combined technology and 
expertise to develop solutions for digitalisation of HR processes. 
A solution for creating a business social network called VK People Hub 
Social Box was launched.

Communication, 
interaction, productivity 
 

Cloud technology, 
development solutions 
and data handling 
solutions

Financial management 
and operational 
management

Automation of HR 
functions

VK Tech

VK Tech develops software licensing products and cloud services 
to meet the key needs of large companies, medium and small 
businesses.

VK Tech’s revenues increased by 83% to RUB 5.8 bn by the end of 2022.

The product portfolio of VK Tech is broken down into four categories
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83 p.p. % 16.6
revenue growth in 2022 YoY growth in EBITDA margin

VK Tech cloud technologies

The products and cloud services offered by VK Tech meet the needs of 
businesses of all sizes, from big corporations to medium and small firms. 

In 2022, revenues increased by 83% to RUB 5.8 bn. EBITDA margin grew 
by 16.6 p.p. YoY.

In a year, the number of businesses signed up to VK WorkSpace services tripled.

In 2022, the VK Cloud platform kept on enjoying rapid growth. Public cloud 
platform revenue doubled and that of private cloud-based projects grew by 37%.

27 Overview of results 2022   Annual Report



New business lines

Marusia is a voice assistant launched in 2019. At the end of 2022, the 
voice assistant Marusia’s daily audience grew by more than 1.5 times. 
Deeper integration with VK ecosystem products is one of the main 
growth drivers.

Marusia voice assistant’s daily 
audience grew  

by over 1.5 times   
in 2022

The social network VKontakte implemented additional assistant call 
points: in the ‘Services’ tab, in the ‘Music’ section and in the posts’ 
feed. Content skills with the selection of trendy photos from VKontakte 
(memes) and Picture of the Day were implemented, as well as an 
integration with the VK Checkback and VK NFT services.

The assistant in Mail.ru Email learned to read out to users their emails 
from any sender directly from the email screen. 

The Android default voice assistant features were updated in the 
separate Marusia app to include the capacity to place calls and send 
SMS messages.

Marusia’s content was updated: 11 new popular news sources were 
added. Also, a family mode that enables to block content not just for 
kids but for the entire family emerged.
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Quick to understand
Marusia is VK's voice assistant.

Marusia's capabilities:

Reading mail, recording and sending 
a message to friends

Keeping the children entertained 
and occupied

Selecting and playing music Finding something on the internet

10 million 

daily users

1.5 times 

daily audience growth in 2022 

Where does Marusia live?

  •  In the Marusia app 
  •  On VKontakte and Mail.ru
  •  In the VK Capsulas and Mi Smart Speakers    
  •  In partner smart devices 
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VK Capsula is a smart speaker with a built-in Marusia voice assistant. 
In December 2022, VK expanded its line of smart speakers in the lower 
pricing segment with the addition of the VK Capsula Neo. Outside 
China, VK Capsula Neo was the first smart speaker on a light RTOS1 
platform, with powerful and clear sound, voice control, LED screen, 
bright stickers included and access to VK Music, Wink and other 
services of the VK ecosystem. The VK Capsula Neo uses a variety of 
VK-developed technologies for dynamic sound amplification as well 
as remote natural speech detection and processing. The speaker is 
available in five colours and made of practical plastic.

VK Capsula Neo expanded the line of VK Capsula smart 
speakers in the lower pricing segment

The average time users spend with VK speakers increased to 18 hours 
per month in 2022.

The availability of VK smart speakers in all Russian federal districts is 
made possible thanks to partnerships with all significant electronic 
retailers and online shops. The VK line of devices is sold in more than 
6,000 retail outlets, as well as in the branded online shop and the first 
offline shop, the VK Store.

In 2022, the VK smart devices business showed significant supply 
growth, extended sales channels, stabilised supply chains, and 
accomplished targets for launching new features and products. 
The audience of VK smart device users grew by more than 2.5 times 
in 2022.

VK Play is a platform for game lovers, developers and content creators. 
VK Play is a catalogue of games, cloud gaming, streaming, cyber sports 
and media. VK Play has over 12 million registered users, with a MAU of 
over 11 million users by the end of 2022.

The main growth drivers of MAU are:

	• VK Play’s game catalogue and its marketing support. In December, 
the first large-scale ‘Kick into the Game’ advertising campaign ran and 
garnered more than a million people;

	• Attraction of popular streamers to VK Play Live with their audience. 

VK Play for gamers and eSports players

	• One of the most anticipated games of recent years – Atomic Heart – 
is a VK Play exclusive for CIS players; 

	• A virtual PC mode is available on the VK Play Cloud gaming service; 
	• A total of 1,100 tournaments were held on the VK Play tournament 

platform with more than 200,000 participants; 
	• VK Play media releases up to 35 news items a day and 500 longreads 

a year; 
	• VK Play became a partner of the ‘Games of the Future’ phygital 

project. 

VK Play for streamers and viewers 

A beta version of the VK Play Live streaming platform with favourable 
terms for streamers — a 10% commission — was launched by VK Play 
in August 2022. By the end of 2022, VK Play Live had more than 52,000 
live streams and 12,000 registered streamers.

VK Play for developers

With only a 5% commission, VK Play offered the most generous hosting 
terms for developers. This attracted more than 600 developers2, 60% of 
whom moved from Steam.1	 Real-time operating system. These systems stand out from all others primarily due to their 

ability to process outside signals quickly and respond as necessary.
2	As of the end of 2022.

 (Youla)

Youla, a geolocation-based classifieds platform, kept up its smooth 
integration with VKontakte. For the first time since its launch, the 
classified achieved positive adjusted EBITDA in Q3 2022.

The payment service, based on a single payment window and e-wallets, 
was integrated into all VK products in 2022, and more than 365 million 
payments were made using it.

Due to growing use of ecosystem products and an increase in the 
number of external partners, the number of authorisations through VK ID 
surged by 159% over the course of the year.

159%  
increase in authorisations using 
VK ID in 2022

In 2022, partners were able to integrate VK ID into the website or app 
themselves, while users could choose from several password-free 
authentication options: by phone number, push notification, email and 
QR code.  In order to avoid using their personal ones, users can also 
create a separate learning profile in VK Messenger. Concurrently, the 
learning profile began to integrate with a number of electronic journal 
systems.
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Умная колонка 
с мощным звуком

VK Капсула 
Умная колонка 

с яркими стикерами VK

VK Капсула НЕО 
Умная колонка 

с часами

VK Капсула Мини 

VK Capsula smart speaker

VK Capsula's features:

VK smart speakers with Marusia voice assistant.

In 2022, the company released the new VK Capsula Neo smart 
speaker with the best price in its budget segment.

2,5 times by 

in 2022

Light RTOS platform Powerful and clear sound

LED screenVoice control

Access to VK Music, Wink and other VK ecosystem services

VK's smart device user audience grew 

18 hours to 

per month

Average time spend with VK speakers 
increased 
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1	 Software development kit – a piece of code that allows to easily integrate the required features (payments, push notifications etc.) into an 
application.

RuStore is an official Android app store, which VK develops in collaboration with the biggest Russian IT 
companies with assistance from the Russian Ministry for Digital Technology, Communication and Mass Media of 
the Russian Federation.

RuStore offers guaranteed access to necessary services to users and provides developers with technologies 
(payment SDK1, push notifications, map-making service) and opportunities to develop their business.

	• Monetisation for developers. Developers can earn through the launch of paid apps, subscriptions and in-app 
purchases. Users have access to all widely used payment options, including Russian bank cards, mobile phone 
accounts, and Faster Payment System (FPS).

	• In-house push notification service. Developers can create and customise marketing and service push 
notifications to communicate with users regardless of external circumstances.

	• Publication possibilities and application statistics. Publication of applications in the RuStore is available to 
individuals and legal entities. The console offers basic analytics on downloaded products and user behaviour.

	• Ratings and feedback. These allow users to choose apps from a variety of categories, while developers can 
get feedback.

	• User authorisation. It is accessible via phone number and via services offered by significant ecosystems, such 
as VK ID.

	• Recommendations and thematic selections. These help users find the applications they need faster and help 
developers promote their services.

All programmes must pass required malware and moderation checks.

With seven million users per month by the end of the year, RuStore has grown to be Russia’s most popular 
app store since its launch in May 2022. RuStore had 3,700 applications from 2,500 developers by the end of 
December 2022.
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Other business lines

Advertising technology

VK marketing solutions help businesses engage with their millions-
strong audiences online and offline. Improving tool efficiency, boosting 
inventory capacity, and enhancing business support are the company’s 
key priorities. 

The key strategic launch of the year was the unified VK Ads platform. 
It aims to improve VK’s standing in the performance advertising sector, 
which revenues rose by 59% YoY in 2022. The platform helps businesses 
attract more targeted action at the lowest cost: sales, subscribers, 
reactions to posts, app installs, and other metrics. 

Key features of the platform:

	• completely new algorithm approach, which ensures increased results 
in performance-based campaigns;

	• separate models for each promotional goal reveal an average 
efficiency that is 30% more effective than what advertisers 
anticipated;

	• automation reduces the number of actions when launching and 
managing campaigns by a factor of seven;

	• one universal ad covers the maximum number of target users across 
all VK projects and the advertising network.

VK expanded the opportunities for VK Advertising uses throughout 
2022. It can now be used to promote:
	• mobile applications, including those from the RuStore;
	• online shops, marketplaces and classifieds; 
	• websites;
	• lead-forms;
	• communities and posts on VKontakte.

The number of online shops, marketplaces and classifieds that ran 

ads on VK platforms doubled in 2022

VK created an advertising data operator (ADO) with a user-friendly 
interface and the ability to label ads on other platforms in order to make 
it simpler for advertisers and partners to comply with legislative 
requirements. VK’s ADO is integrated with all of the company’s 
advertising platforms, making the labelling process as automated as 
possible. 

Together with its partners, VK expands the inventory of digital outdoor 
advertising and point-of-sale advertising across Russia, while developing 
related technologies. Business investment in these channels grew 
by 22%, and the number of SMB1 advertisers tripled in 2022. 

Solutions for small and medium-sized businesses

For VK, interacting with SMBs is a top priority. By the end of 2022, 
the segment’s advertising revenue doubled and the number of SMB 
advertisers increased by 1.5 times YoY.

The number of SMB advertisers in 2022 increased  

by 1.5 times

It is important for VK to be in an open dialogue with businesses. 
Feedback is gathered through the VK Public Council for SMB Support 
and frequent meetings with business owners. 

In October, VK launched a new training platform for businesses. It 
features useful video courses, articles and checklists from the VK team 
and market experts. More than three million users have visited the 
platform since its launch.

VK actively created easy-to-use, practical tools for SMBs in 2022:
	• the beta testing of social media community and post promotion by 

VK Ads showed that it might increase business sales, subscribers, and 
reactions at a 70% lower cost than in earlier accounts. In early 2023, 
the tools became available to all VK Ads users;

	• VKontakte Market was updated, which brings together 40 million 
products;

	• Business Quality Index was launched: communities with high ratings 
receive more development benefits;

	• online business verification was simplified via the MSP.RF SMB 
Digital Platform

	• an option of order management from smartphones was added – 30% 
of VKontakte communities with order option use the new tool.

Consolidated digital business solutions 

Using all of VK’s key field-specific solutions, the Consolidated Digital 
Business Solutions division provides partners with comprehensive 
digitalisation support.

In 2022, VK expanded the capabilities of its data management and 
marketing personalisation platform. In November, a beta test of a simple 
and quick chatbot creation was launched. With its help, businesses can 
improve customer experience and reduce the burden on employees. 

The PREDICT team focused on developing predictive analytics services 
based on ML models for major companies in telecom, finance, real 
estate and other industries. 

These include: 
	• geo-analytical platform;
	• decision support system for financial companies;
	• systems for recommending locations for housing developments and 

assessing the possibilities of infrastructure amenities for the tourism 
industry;

	• service for assessing communication quality and keeping track of 
telecom operators’ market shares, which had a 91% YoY increase in 
revenue;

	• solutions for finding audience insights and developing segments for 
advertising campaigns;

	• decision support system for energy and resource companies.

1	 Small and medium-sized businesses.
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VK develops education projects at all levels – from school 
to professional. VK Education is focused on free projects 
for schoolchildren, students and professionals; it is the company’s 
contribution to the creation and training of IT staff and the future 
of the industry.

In October 2022, VK hosted an IT Knowledge Day 
for schoolchildren that covered 6,700 schools, 
350,000 teenagers, and more than 3 million viewers 
of the broadcast.

> 2.5 million  
schoolchildren nationwide took 
part in VK’s 2022 Digital Lesson  

> 100 courses  
for students in 22 fields 
launched by VK in 2022

> 10,000  
students enrol in VK 
programmes at universities 
each year

VK won the Russian Knowledge Society Awards in 2022 
as the year’s best education company.

Students from all over the nation are getting ready to enter 
the IT industry thanks to VK’s educational efforts. In October 2022, 
more than 350,000 schoolchildren from 6,700 schools in 3,500 
localities across the country participated in the IT Knowledge Day. 
Over 2.5 million trainees underwent VK’s Digit Lesson. With the help 
of the IT Professions Test Drive app, developed on the VK Mini Apps 
platform, more than 52,000 schoolchildren were able to learn about 
in-demand IT specialities.

VK is actively developing its contests and IT competitions. Together 
with MIPT and Bauman Moscow State Technical University, VK holds 
the Tekhnokubok Contest, with 4,300 school students participating 
in 2021-2022. In 2022, VK became the general partner of the Sports 
Programming Federation.

VK Education also runs joint projects with 18 leading Russian universities. 
In 2022, more than 100 courses in 22 fields were launched with more 
than 20,000 students trained. The opening of the VK Engineering 
and Mathematics Schools at Higher School of Economics at National 
Research University and Innopolis in October 2022 was one of the key 
launches. A total of 10,000 applications were filed for internships 
offered by VK to undergraduates in more than 30 IT fields. Additionally, 
the company kept working on its volunteer VK Ambassador programme. 
More than 400 events involving VK ambassadors were held in 2022.

Throughout 2022, VK actively supported teachers and helped them 
master the company’s technologies and services. The company hosted 
eight nationwide events to train over 12,000 educators on how to use 
VK communities and tools.
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Financial results
In the reporting year, VK experienced increase in revenue and EBITDA, exhibiting favourable dynamics in key business segments.

Operating segments

Indicator, RUB bn, unless 
otherwise stated

Social media and 
content services

EdTech VK Tech New business 
lines

Eliminations of interagroup 
transactions and non-allo-

cated costs

Group

Revenue 75.1 11.3 5.8 6.3 (0.7) 97.8

YoY, % 21.8% 4.0% 82.6% (5.9%) 84.2% 19.3%

Operating expenses (49.8) (10.9) (4.6) (10.6) (7.0) (83.0)

Share-based payments – – – – 5.2 5.2

Adjusted EBITDA 25.3 0.3 1.2 (4.3) (2.5) 20.0

EBITDA margin, % 33.6% 3.0% 20.1% (68.7%) – 20.4%

VK’s key financial indicators in 2022	 RUB bn

2021 2022

Revenue

Online advertising 
is a key revenue 
driver

EBITDA

97.8 
82.0

56.9 
44.1

20.0 
18.3

+19% YoY

+29% YoY

+9% YoY

In 2022, revenue from VK’s key segment –Social networks and content 
services increased by 22% to RUB 75.1 bn. In Q4 2022, the revenue 
growth rate accelerated to 30% compared to Q4 2021. The segment’s 
EBITDA margin in 2022 was 34%. The main growth drivers were:

	• growth of VK’s biggest asset – VKontakte social network. In Q4 
2022, VKontakte’s MAU in Russia increased by 9.6% YoY to a record 
79.5 million users. The average daily audience (DAU) grew by 8.9% YoY 
to a record 51.1 million users. The growth in audience and engagement 
indicators led to a 29% increase in revenue for VKontakte in 2022 and 
a 31% increase in Q4 2022;

	• the acquisition of Dzen and News assets in September 2022. 
The average monthly audience of Dzen’s feed in 2022 amounted 
to 70 million people and the number of active authors doubled 
to 100,000 per week.

The EdTech segment revenue grew by 4% in 2022 to RUB 11 bn. The 
number of registered students using VK’s educational platforms grew 
by 28% YoY, reaching over 13 million people by the end of December 
2022. Adjusted EBITDA was positive in 2022, reaching RUB 337 mn, 
while EBITDA margin rose by 15 p.p. YoY to 3%.

Given VK’s growing focus on providing technology for businesses and 
their increasing share in the Group’s revenue, a number of B2B services 
developed internally under the VK Tech brand were moved from the 
“New Initiatives” to a standalone “VK Tech” segment.

The VK Tech segment was VK’s fastest-growing segment in 2022. Its 
revenue increased by 83% YoY to RUB 5.8 bn, more than doubling in Q4 
2022 compared to Q4 2021. The segment’s EBITDA margin increased 
by 17 p.p. YoY to 20% in 2022.

The New business lines segment is in an active investment phase. 
It includes such new products and businesses as VK Play and RuStore.

	 �For more details on VK’s financial performance, please refer to the 

IFRS report in the appendices on p. 57

VK’s revenues rose by 19% YoY to RUB 97.8 bn. VK’s positive financial 
results in 2022 were related to an increase in key audience metrics and 
online advertising formats, increased profit margin in the EdTech and 
VK Tech segments, and the favourable effect of the Group’s asset 
restructuring and optimisation. Adjusted EBITDA increased by 8.9% YoY 
to RUB 20 bn. EBITDA margin was 20.4%. This was driven by the growth 
in profitability of the EdTech and VK Tech segments – by 15 p.p. and 
17 p.p. YoY, respectively.
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Sustainable 
development

Sustainable development



Principles 
and approaches
VK adopted a number of documents regulating the approach to 
sustainable development. VK’s Sustainable Development Policy 
was approved by the Board of Directors in March 2023. It describes 
the company’s main ESG principles and approaches in the most 
comprehensive way.

	 VK’s Sustainable Development Policy

	� Documents on sustainable development of the company  

on VK corporate website

In 2022, the company adopted an updated Charter of the Audit 
Committee, which was renamed the Audit, Risk, Compliance and 
Sustainable Development Committee; it is regularly involved in 
decision-making and steering VK’s sustainable development.

	� Charter of the Audit, Risk, Compliance and Sustainable 

Development Committee of the Board of Directors 

on VK corporate website

Employees
VK implements the most advanced HR practices year after year. 
The company launched a number of initiatives for employees and 
made a big step towards its strategic goal of becoming Russia’s No. 1 
employer.

Headcount and structure of the staff

VK’s business is growing, and the team is growing along with it. In 2022, 
the company’s headcount grew by 9% to 11,293 employees at the 
end of the year. The acquisition of Dzen and News and the sale of the 
international gaming business MY.GAMES had a significant impact on 
the change in headcount.

Headcount as of 31 December � people

11,293

10,392

8,842

6,334

2022

2021

2020

2019

Data for 2019–2021 include MY.GAMES

The average age of a VK employee is 31.4 years and the average length 
of service is 2.7 years.

Sustainable 
development
VK takes a systematic approach to the implementation of social and 
environmentally sensitive projects and also takes active steps to introduce 
the best practices of sustainable business conduct. The integration 
of ESG principles into business processes enables the company to 
successfully meet its strategic objectives and ensures that the interests of 
all stakeholders are duly taken into account.

VK’s
awards:

The best company in the IT 
Industry in the Highly 
Developed HR Processes 
category, according to hh.ru

Platinum Employer in Forbes’ 
Russia’s Best Employers 
rating

The best company in Russia 
according to HR Brand 2021 
award

VK regularly obtains feedback from its employees. In 2022, 71% of the 
staff took part in the annual engagement and loyalty survey. Employees 
left about 5,700 comments and suggestions; based on those, an action 
plan was compiled to cover 83 projects.

Sustainable development 2022   Annual Report37

https://vk.company/ru/esg/#chapter-4
https://vk.company/en/esg/
https://vk.company/en/esg/
https://vk.company/en/esg/
https://vk.company/en/esg/
https://vk.company/en/esg/


Human rights and 
anti-discrimination
VK does not tolerate discrimination of any kind.

In case of any form of discrimination, an employee may contact the 
Compliance Department or the whistleblowing hotline. All reports of 
discrimination are thoroughly checked and appropriate action is taken. 

The principle of respectful treatment and prohibition of discrimination 
is embodied in VK’s Code of Conduct. VK also has the Policy on Human 
Rights in place since 2023.

	 Whistleblowing hotline

	 VK Code of Conduct

A comfortable 
digital environment
In order to make services as comfortable for its users as possible, VK 
actively utilises and implements technological innovations, in particular 
artificial intelligence and machine learning algorithms. They work 
together with people to deliver the most effective results.

For example, for VKontakte, the company has developed a unique 
neural network that is able to detect unfriendly statements in the profile 
and offers to enable a special mode called ‘Personal Space’. This mode 
allows you to protect yourself from unwanted attention from strangers. 
More than 260 GB of data from literature, the internet and public 
comments were used to train the neural network. 

The social network also automatically warns about suspicious 
messenger contacts. If the algorithms detect suspicious activity from 
an unknown account, a notice of potential danger will appear in a new 
group chat or conversation with that account.
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Cybersecurity and protection 
of personal data
VK integrates the largest communication platforms in the country, 
so the company has a high responsibility to keep users’ data safe. 
The company continues to develop its VK Protect initiative: its smart 
algorithms restrain and block millions of fraudulent messages every day, 
thus helping to protect users from unwanted content.

Serious efforts have been made to improve users’ cyber literacy and 
develop educational initiatives. The company is also actively developing 
a Security Management Centre in the VK ID personal account, which 
allows users to assess the security status of their account and receive 
personal recommendations on strengthening the same. Since the 
launch of the initiative on notifying users to change their passwords 
due to their exposure to third-party service leak databases, more 
than 1.5 million profiles have received alerts. Moreover, after password 
requirements became increasingly complex, over 3.5 million users 
changed their passwords to sophisticated ones.

In 2022, VK strengthened practical security to protect infrastructure 
and applications. To do so, VK began transforming its own security 
operations centre, VK SOC1. The main focus is on boosting the 
necessary capacity to provide 24/7 on-duty monitoring, early detection 
of attacks, including targeted ones, and reduced response time to 
information security incidents. The staff responsible for information 
security almost tripled by the end of the year compared to Q1 2022.

VK’s information security staff 

tripled  
in 2022

The vulnerability management process has experienced a significant 
change. In 2022, the number of external security audits and penetration 
tests performed almost doubled.

A migration to Positive Technologies and BI.ZONE was completed for 
Bug Bounty2. In 2022, 755 reports from independent researchers were 
received for 37 VK services, 18 of which described critical vulnerabilities, 
and more than RUB 13mn was paid out.

In 2023, numerous solutions are planned to strengthen VK’s 
comprehensive security system: the launch of an updated VK SOC, 
expansion of the Bug Bounty programme, and development of 
technical solutions pertaining to information security, for VK Protect.

1	 Security operations centre.
2	Open contest in finding a product vulnerabilities.
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Social projects
VK invests technology and expertise in the development of social 
projects in Russia, engages users in charity through its services and 
products, and provides state-of-the-art infrastructure capabilities to 
non-profit organisations.

Dobro Mail.ru

Within this project, VK raises funds to support non-profit organisations. 
The platform hosts 240 foundations and has successfully completed 
over 3,200 fundraising projects. In 2022, Dobro Mail.ru raised 
over RUB 106mn. Also, funds in the amount of RUB 82mn were raised 
by the corporate fund Kod Dobra.

RUB 188 mn  
was raised by Dobro Mail.ru 
service and VK fund Kod Dobra 
in 2022

In 2022 Dobro Mail.ru service conducted two social campaigns ‘We 
need to talk’. They were focusing on preventive health checks and care 
for pets. 

Among its employees, VK is developing a culture of effective charity. 
Once a quarter, the company transfers coins to charity (internal currency 
that employees have donated to Dobro initiatives). In 2022 employees 
donated a total of RUB 1.1mn to partner funds of Dobro Mail.ru. 

In 2022, the company launched a smart volunteering project – ‘Charity 
Task’. During the year, more than 120 employees shared their knowledge 
and professional skills to help 47 foundations.

The Anti-Cyberbullying Day

In 2022, for the fourth time, VK held a key social event of the 
ecosystem: The Anti-Cyberbullying Day. In 2022, almost 20 different VK 
projects and more than 50 third-party Russian brands and companies 
launched their special initiatives as part of this campaign.

The Anti-Cyberbullying Day campaign covered more than 67.5 million 
people. In 2022, the project won the ‘bema!’ award.

> 67.5 million   
people is the coverage 
of The Anti-Cyberbullying Day 
campaign

On 1 June, VK launched the ‘Children’s Day Online’ information initiative 
as a new phase of the campaign.

Promoting inclusivity 

VK promotes inclusivity and gender diversity in Russian society. One 
of the key objectives is to increase digital accessibility of VK services. 
In 2022, the mobile applications of the social network OK (iOS and 
Android) and Email Mail.ru (Android) became more accessible for 
blind users. In April, VK projects traditionally supported The Autism 
Awareness Day.

Drugoe Delo service

VK supports Drugoe Delo project, a service where users receive 
bonuses for completing useful and developmental tasks. As of 31 
December 2022, over 2.3 million users had registered for the Drugoe 
Delo service; the project’s audience more than tripled in 2022. 

2.3 million   
users registered in Drugoe Delo

Support of creative communities

In 2022, VK launched the creative platform Prostor. The audience of 
Prostor’s first season of marathons totalled more than 30,000 people. 
In the course of the project, 80 experts held 135 lectures and webinars, 
with ten million views.

In September 2022 we launched VK Creative Talk platform for public 
lectures. In Q4 2022, more than one million people joined the platform 
and received new knowledge about creative industries.
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Dreamlab

VK organised the Dreamlab for teenagers in Kazan IT Park. The 
main areas of the lab: ESG and volunteer community management, 
production of creative content and handling media content, testing 
youth-targeting services of the Republic of Tatarstan and VK. 

Charity projects of the social 
network VKontakte 

In 2022, VKontakte users made donations via the VK Charity service, 
purchased charity tickets for VK Fest, topical stickers and gifts, 
and actively participated in large-scale charity events run by the 
social network. In total, VKontakte users managed to raise more than 
RUB 54mn as donations in 2022. VKontakte also provided free of 
charge assistance to charitable foundations to help them organise and 
promote social projects. Since the beginning of the year, more than 
325 million free ad impressions for charities have been made on the 
social network.

> 325 million   
free ad impressions for 
charities on VKontakte in 2022

Charity projects of the social network OK 

Since February 2022, the social network has launched grant 
competitions, the winners of which will receive credits to their OK 
promo account and may use those to promote raising funds and other 
initiatives. In 2022, more than 30 verified charity foundations received 
grant support. 

In November 2022, OK implemented a project dedicated to the 
elimination of gender discrimination. 

Projects of Skillbox Holding Limited

In 2022 the educational platform Skillbox launched a number of 
projects.
	• Together with the Dobro Mail.ru service, we continued work on the 

‘Unlimited Possibilities’ project, a programme of discounts of up 
to 90% on the platform’s courses for employees and sponsees of 
charity foundations. 

	• The ‘Life After’ project was launched: Skillbox helps ex-prisoners to 
get a modern in-demand profession and lead a new life. 

	• Results from the ‘Future without Limits’ project, which helps disabled 
individuals with training and jobs, were summarised. 

Social projects of other VK business units

Other business units at VK have also contributed to charitable and 
social activities.
	• The Sferum team developed and implemented the ‘Get to Yourself’ 

project. As a part of this project, free educational and counselling 
psychological support was organised for education industry 
employees, in collaboration with the experts of the psychological 
support service Variant.

	• Mail.ru launched a campaign, which enables writing to elderly people 
in nursing homes. VK also donated VK Capsula Mini smart speakers to 
50 nursing homes.

50 nursing homes 
received VK Capsula Mini smart 
speakers

	• Youla and Dobro Mail.ru opened a store selling charitable 
merchandise from Russian foundations and non-profit organisations.

	• Cloud Mail.ru and Dobro Mail.ru launched a charity campaign for 
Russian foundations.

	• Voice assistant Marusia learned to talk about charity and answer 
charity-related questions.

Support to small and  
medium-sized businesses

A number of the company’s initiatives are aimed at supporting small and 
medium-sized businesses. In 2022, VK had the following achievements:

	• Launched a programme to support small and medium-sized 
businesses and established the Public Council of Small and Medium-
Sized Business Support as a part of the said programme 

	• Expanded its small and medium-sized business support programme: 
from a pilot project in several regions to a federal scale project in My 
Business centres across the country 

	• Actively supported app developers presented in RuStore 
	• In autumn, launched a new training platform for businesses 
	• In December, launched an adaptive block for broadcasting 

advertising on the sites of partner network members 
	• In December, launched the Business Community Quality Index in the 

VKontakte social network, which helps entrepreneurs to consistently 
advance their pages in the social network
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Environmental 
protection
To meet high energy efficiency standards and ensure low power 
consumption, VK procures high-quality IT equipment for its data 
centres. VK is rapidly replacing obsolete and used equipment through 
contracting the organisations that specialise in the disposal of IT 
hardware. 

The data centres under construction use direct free-cooling 
technology with adiabatic after-cooling during peak heat hours. This 
technology makes it possible to achieve an average annual PUE1 below 
1.15. VK uses excess heat from the server rooms to reduce the heating 
costs of the storage facilities.

VK is also continuously working to find the most energy-efficient 
solutions for server room cooling, including launching test racks with 
liquid CPU/GPU2 cooling in 2022 and testing a precision air conditioner 
with a closed-circuit free-cooling system.

Detailed information on environmental activities is disclosed in 
VK’s quarterly and annual ESG reports. The documents are available 
on VK’s official website.

	 VK’s Sustainable Development Policy

	 Sustainable Development documents on VK’s website

1	 Power utilisation efficiency is the ratio of total electrical energy consumed by a data centre 
to that consumed directly by IT equipment.

2	Central processing unit/graphics processing unit.
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Corporate governance principles and practice
VK Company Limited (‘VK’, ‘the Company’ or ‘the Group’)’s corporate 
governance system is based on the laws that apply in the countries 
in which it operates and the conditions of its Articles of Association, 
along with the listing requirements of the stock exchanges where 
the Company’s securities are traded.

The core principles of corporate governance in the Group:

	• the Board of Directors is accountable to shareholders
	• executive bodies are accountable to governing bodies
	• the interactions that arise between all corporate governance 

stakeholders feature faithfulness and confidence
	• securities owned by shareholders may be disposed of without 

restraints
	• whenever a shareholder’s rights are breached, they are entitled 

to effective protection
	• the Company’s activities are transparent and supported by credible 

information disclosed
	• shareholders and other stakeholders have appropriate access 

to information
	• a reasonable balance between openness and pursuing 

the Company’s commercial objectives is well struck
	• the Company makes social commitments, including compliance 

with service quality and environmental safety standards and creating 
the most progressive labour conditions

	• the Company encourages the compliance with ethical norms 
impeding employees from using their positions to their detriment 
to the Company, and from the illegal use of confidential and insider 
information

During the year, the Board made unprejudiced and well-reasoned 
decisions that contributed to the high productivity of management’s 
efforts in the main business areas. In 2022, following the best corporate 
governance practices, the Board of Directors updated and approved 
the Company’s Code of Conduct (see below) and the Charter 
of the Audit, Risk, Compliance and Sustainable Development 
Committee.

VK Company Limited, as a BVI incorporated limited company 
with a listing of Global Depositary Receipts (GDR) on the Official List 
maintained by the UK Listing Authority, which are admitted to trading 
on the London Stock Exchange (LSE) and with a secondary listing 
on Moscow Stock Exchange (MOEX), is not subject to any corporate 
governance code, nor has it voluntarily decided to apply any corporate 
governance code.

However, the Company does apply corporate governance standards, 
including:

	• the appointment of two Independent Directors to its Board 
of Directors

	• the appointment of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee 
and the Audit, Risk, Compliance and Sustainable Development 
Committee

	• the periodic re-election of Directors.

The Board of Directors has adopted various policies and charters, inter 
alia, relating to the Company’s governing bodies. Those include:

	• VK Company Limited Board Charter
	• VK Code of Conduct
	• VK Company Limited Directors Right to Access Information/

Documents Policy
	• VK Company Limited Legal Compliance Policy
	• charter of the Audit, Risk, Compliance and Sustainable Development 

Committee of the Board of directors of VK Company Limited
	• charter of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee of the Board 

of Directors of VK Company Limited
	• internal Audit Charter of VK Company Limited
	• sustainable Development Policy of VK Company Limited
	• VK Company Limited Trading Policy for Directors, Senior Managers, 

Employees and Connected Persons
	• policy of Accessing the Inside Information of VK Company Limited
	• memorandum of Association & Articles of Association of VK 

Company Limited

The Сompany follows the above documents in all material respects.

	 Corporate documents listed on VK’s website

VK Company Limited is incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, 
with its principal office in Limassol, the Republic of Cyprus.

On 13 February 2023, the Board of Directors of VK approved 
the possible re-domiciliation of the Company from the British 
Virgin Islands to the Russian Federation, subject to compliance 
with applicable legal and regulatory requirements.

If re-domiciliation under Russian law is effected, VK Company Limited 
will become an international public company. VK Company Limited 
will be able to continue to operate as a legal entity in Russia, while 
the re-domiciliation procedure will contribute to the efficiency 
of the company’s management.

VK Company Limited intends to retain its status as a public company.
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Corporate governance system
In accordance with the Memorandum and Articles of Association of the 
Company, the ultimate decision-making body is the General Meeting of 
Shareholders.

The Board of Directors are responsible for the general management of 
the Group, including coordinating its strategy and general supervision. 
The Board of Directors administers the Audit, Risk, Compliance and 
Sustainable Development Committee and the Remuneration and 
Nomination Committee. The top management is in charge of the day-
to-day running of the Group. 

Corporate governance structure

General meeting of shareholders  
(highest governance body)

External auditRegulatory authorities

Corporate Secretary

Sustainable Development  
Working Group

Remuneration  
and Nomination Committee

Managing  
Director

Audit, Risk, Compliance and 
Sustainable Development Committee

Internal Audit  
Department

Board of Directors  
(10 members)

Accountability

Accountability

Appointment

Accountability

Accountability

AccountabilityAccountability

Accountability

Election

Election

Appointment

ElectionElection

Autonomous bodies Elected/appointed and accountable bodies Bodies accountable to the Board and senior management  
(The Board of Directors does not elect or select the working group)
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Governing bodies

General Meeting of Shareholders

The General Meeting of Shareholders is the Сompany’s supreme 
governing body, which takes key decisions on the strategy 
of its development. The Meetings are convened by the Board 
of Directors or by a written request from shareholders who hold, 
in aggregate, at least 30% of the outstanding votes in the Сompany.

The share capital of the Сompany is divided into two classes of shares: 
Class A Shares and Ordinary Shares. Class A Shares each carry 25 votes 
at a General Meeting of Shareholders or on any decision to be taken 
by shareholders, while Ordinary Shares carry one vote per share.

The agenda for the General Meetings of Shareholders is determined 
by the Board of Directors A shareholder or shareholders who 
hold, in aggregate, at least 7.5% of the outstanding voting shares 
of the Company may add items to the agenda of a meeting: either 
no later than a week before the meeting, or during a meeting, 
with the consent of shareholders who hold, in aggregate, more than 
50% of the outstanding voting shares of the Company. Decisions may 
be taken either at a shareholders’ meeting or through a resolution 
of the shareholders.

	 More details on the share capital on page 56

Board of Directors

The Board of Directors is a backbone of the Company’s corporate 
governance system. They represent the interests of shareholders 
and are responsible for the overall governance and effective 
management of VK and the Group, including strategic planning 
and general supervision.

The Board of Directors has the authority to make decisions relating to, 
among other things, the following:

	• The right to issue shares and other securities (except as otherwise 
required by the Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association)

	• The approval of the annual budget and annual financial statements 
of the Company

	• The declaration of any dividend
	• Convening any meeting of shareholders
	• The appointment of the Group’s auditors
	• The appointment of any committee of the Board of Directors
	• The approval of any proposal under which the Company or any direct 

subsidiary delegates any substantial management authority 
to any other entity

	• The approval of any transaction that the Managing Director is not 
empowered to approve under the Memorandum and Articles 
of Association, but that is not a Substantial Transaction

	• The exercise of any rights that the Managing Director is not 
empowered to exercise under the Memorandum and Articles 
of Association and that are not covered by the shareholders’ 
competence

The procedure for the formation of the Board of Directors, their 
status, membership, functions, goals, objectives and powers, 
as well as the procedure for their functioning and interaction 
with other management bodies of the Сompany are stipulated 
in the Memorandum and Articles of Association and the Board Charter. 
The above documents specify the Board shall include ten Directors 
– eight of whom shall be nominated and elected by shareholders 

(the ‘Elected Directors’) and two of whom shall be ‘Independent 
Directors’. The Board of Directors elects one of its members to act 
as the Chairman of the Board.

The elected directors are appointed by a vote of the shareholders. 
Any shareholder, or group of shareholders, who holds, in aggregate, 
no less than 5% of the total number of votes attached to the issued 
shares, or the total number of the issued shares, is entitled to nominate 
candidates for elected directors. Such nomination shall be made not 
less than 21 days before any General Meeting of Shareholders at which 
any Elected Director is due to resign.

Each candidate shall be voted for separately, with each voting member 
being entitled to vote on each proposed candidate. The term of office 
of elected directors extends from the date of their appointment until 
the second Annual General Meeting of Shareholders after such date. 
On expiry of their term, elected directors shall resign but are eligible 
for re-election.

Two independent directors are nominated by the Board of Directors 
and appointed by a resolution of the Board of Directors. Independent 
directors serve for the period fixed in their terms of appointment, 
as specified by the Board.

The Board of Directors, or any committees thereof, meet when and how 
the Directors determine to be necessary or desirable. Meetings 
are held in the company’s principal office or wherever the majority 
of the Directors agree.

A resolution at a meeting of the Board of Directors or of a committee 
of Directors is approved by a simple majority vote. A resolution 
consented to in writing is approved by an absolute majority vote. 
For the purposes of establishing a majority, the Chairman of the Board 
(or chairman of the meeting, as the case may be) has a casting vote 
in the event of a tie.

	 Board Charter
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Committees of the Board of Directors

Audit, Risk, Compliance and Sustainable Development 
Committee

The Audit, Risk, Compliance and Sustainable Development 
Committee (also referred to as the Audit Committee) is appointed 
by the Сompany’s Board of Directors and meets on a regular 
basis, but at least once every quarter. The purpose of the Audit 
Committee is to assist the company’s Board of Directors in fulfilling 
its responsibilities in respect of:
	• the quality and integrity of the Group’s integrated reporting, 

including its financial statements
	• the Group’s compliance with key applicable legal and regulatory 

requirements as relating to financial reporting
	• the quality and independence of the Group’s external auditors
	• the performance of the Group’s internal audit function and external 

auditors
	• the adequacy and effectiveness of internal control and risk 

management measures, compliance system, accounting regulations, 
inspection, and audit procedures

	• monitoring adherence to the requirements of applicable law,  
VK Code of Conduct and the Сompany’s Compliance 
and Sustainable Development Policies

	� Charter of the Audit, Risk, Compliance and Sustainable 

Development Committee

Remuneration and Nomination Committee

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee is responsible 
for approving the terms of appointment and remuneration 
of the Group’s senior managers, as well as for the approval of options 
or RSU/PSUs1 to be granted under the incentive scheme.

	 Charter of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee

Corporate Secretary

The Corporate Secretary ensures that the Company’s bodies 
and managers comply with corporate governance rules and procedures, 
which will safeguard the rights and interests of the Company 
and its shareholders. The Corporate Secretary is accountable 
to the Board of Directors and is subordinate to them.

Top management

Elena Azarenko was appointed Managing Director in September 2022. 
She had been an employee of the Company since 2011 and, prior 
to her appointment, held the position of Deputy Managing Director 
and Corporate Secretary.

Svetlana Boryslavskaya was appointed as the Company’s Chief 
Financial Officer. She joined the VK team in 2009. Since 2018 Svetlana 
Boryslavskaya was the Head of Key Shareholder Engagement 
and Corporate Accounting within the Group’s finance function.

Board and management remuneration 
and incentive scheme

Remuneration to governing bodies

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee is responsible 
for approving the remuneration of the Directors and senior managers 
of the Group. It also reviews and approves general policy relating 
to the Group’s strategic compensation and the approval of grants 
under the incentive schemes.

1	 Restricted Stock Unit and Performance Stock Unit — the right to receive GDRs from the company if and to the extent that the relevant predetermined targets (financial and operational) are achieved.

The Group has a KPI (Key Performance Indicator) system for managers 
with a number of weighted KPI parameters based around financial 
performance, key engagement metrics and the wider Group 
strategy. This system ensures that the activities of key employees 
are in alignment with the Group’s strategy and the interests 
of shareholders.

Incentive scheme

The Company has incentive schemes based on options and share, 
involving RSUs/PSUs. As of the date hereof, the following options have 
been allocated:

	• 153,450 vested options in the exercise price of USD 17.5 per share
	• 1,549,850 options in the exercise price of USD 20.0 per share, of those 

653.6 thousand options are vested
	• 1,898,751 RSUs/PSUs, which involve shares, of those 479.5 thousand 

RSUs/PSUs are already vested.

The Company is also exploring alternative mechanisms for long-term 
employee incentives.
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Internal control system in relation 
to the financial reporting process
Internal control is exercised by the Group’s Board of Directors, 
executive bodies, officers and operational management. Their 
aim is to secure the achievement of goals set by the Company 
in the following areas:

	• The efficiency and effectiveness of the Group’s business activity
	• The reliability and credibility of the reporting
	• Compliance with the requirements of regulatory acts and the internal 

documents

The Company has an independent function in charge of internal audit 
— the Internal Audit Department. For the sake of the independence 
and impartiality, the Internal Audit Department is accountable 
to the Board of Directors. The Internal Audit Department is managed 
by the Chief Audit Executive, who is appointed and dismissed 
by a decision of the Board of Directors.

The most significant functions of internal auditing include:

	• Planning and conducting audits of business processes, functions 
and structural divisions of the Company

	• Performing unscheduled audits as instructed by the Board 
of Directors and the Audit, Risk, Compliance and Sustainable 
Development Committee

	• Advising management and the Board of Directors on internal control, 
risk management and corporate governance issues

	• Monitoring the implementation of recommendations derived from 
audits

In their activities, the Internal Audit Department employees are guided 
by the principles of fairness, impartiality, and independence. 
In conducting audits and making recommendations, the Department 
applies a risk-based approach.

The annual audit plan is reviewed, discussed and approved 
by the Audit, Risk, Compliance and Sustainable Development 
Committee. In addition, the Internal Audit Department monitors 
the effectiveness and efficiency of the Company’s management’s 
corrective actions, which are based on the results of audits, and reports 
quarterly to the Audit, Risk, Compliance and Sustainable Development 
Committee.

In 2022, the Internal Audit Department fulfilled its annual plan in full. 11 
planned and two unplanned audits were conducted, including audits 
of liquidity management, receivables, IT assets and facilities, audits 
of key HR business processes and a number of other key functions.

Plans for 2023 include audits of various business processes such 
as procurement, marketing management and advertising sales. 
An audit of the information security strategy and its implementation 
is planned, as well as an audit of a number of other significant areas 
of the Company’s business.

The Department is constantly working to improve the maturity 
of the internal audit function and the competencies of its staff. 
In line with international and Russian best practice, the development 
of continuous audit and monitoring frameworks is planned for 2023. 
These involve continuous analysis and monitoring of a number of key 
domains (procurement, payments, contracts, and information security).

	 Internal Audit Charter
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Risk management system

VK Company Limited is subject to certain risks that affect the Group’s 
ability to operate, serve its clients, and protect its assets. Timely 
identification, assessment, control, and monitoring of such risks is an 
integral part of the Group’s activities. 

VK has a Risk Management Policy which stipulates the roles and 
responsibilities of the Company’s risk management stakeholders, as well 
as other regulatory documents and methodology affecting the relevant 
aspects of risk management.

The Company implements a comprehensive approach to risk 
management, including risk identification, analysis and assessment, 
monitoring and control; risk management processes are secured 
using a wide range of best practice tools. Risk management makes 
the Company more confident in achieving its objectives through an 
awareness of risk factors and sources, timely implementation of risk-
related measures, and an allowance for risk when planning activities.

Efficient risk management and internal control systems are crucial to the 
achievement of business strategies. To ensure the effectiveness and 
efficiency of both these systems, the Group has adopted the ‘three 
lines of defence’ model.

The Company’s ‘three lines of defence’ model is implemented on 
the basis of an internationally recognised methodology that defines 
approaches to building corporate risk management. The distribution 
of risk management and internal control roles and responsibilities 
among VK’s divisions ensures consistency, efficiency, and continuity 
of risk management, thus considering all risks inherent to the business, 
including external (market, political, regulatory, social, ESG and cyber 
risks) and internal ones (which include, inter alia, strategic, operational 
and technological risks).

VK comprehensive approach to risk management

VK’s three lines of defence

The Internal Audit Department conducts an independent assessment 
of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control 
system of the Company, identifies deficiencies in the first and 
second lines of defence, makes proposals for improvement of the risk 
management and internal control system, monitors implementation 
of corrective measures to improve the risk management and internal 
control system that have been identified during the audit

The third line of defence

Secured by the Risk Management Function, which coordinates the risk 
management process, as well as the units and committees that manage 
risks through their implementation of such a function within their 
competence (Compliance Department, Security Service, Information 
Security Service, etc.)

The second line of defence

The first line of defence involves the operational management 
as well as the units that run risk management as part of their day-to-day 
activities. 
The heads of business units and functions are responsible for the 
outcome and effectiveness of their processes, ensuring the efficiency 
of the risk management and internal control system in their processes 
through their proper organisation, formalisation, and control. The 
persons in charge of internal control procedure implementation 
proceed in accordance with their job duties and in compliance with the 
regulations in force

The first line of defence
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A characteristic risk for VK’s business sector in 2022 was the changing 
business environment and international and Russian business climate. 
Under such circumstances, the Company demonstrated sufficient 
resilience and ability to handle existing and new challenges. In 2022, 
the Company established an independent Risk Management Function, 
as well as a unit responsible for information security risk management, 
and the Compliance Department.

The existing risk management system operates as follows.

1.	 The Board of Directors:

	• oversees that the Group appropriately manages risks through 
structured, appropriate and effective risk management systems and 
processes

	• establishes a risk appetite that is adequate to achieve the Group’s 
strategic objectives

	• ensures that an effective risk-based internal audit is in place

2.	 The Audit, Risk, Compliance and Sustainable Development 
Committee of the Board of Directors:

	• verifies the integrity, accuracy, and validity of the Group’s statements 
and reports, and that of press releases containing material financial 
information or information pertaining to internal control

	• oversees compliance with legal and regulatory requirements for 
financial reporting

	• develops recommendations to the Board regarding issues pertaining 
to the realisation of strategic goals and the progress in sustainable 
development

	• monitors the quality and independence of the Group’s external 
auditors

	• exercises control over the performance of internal audit function and 
the external auditors

	• supervises the independence and impartiality of the internal and 
external audit functions

	• invigilates the sound and effective functioning of the risk 
management and internal control system

	• assesses the adequacy and effectiveness of internal control and risk 
management measures, compliance system, accounting regulations, 
inspection, and audit procedures

	• keeps track of following recommendations for the implementation 
of the best practices pertaining to audit, risk, compliance, corporate 
governance and sustainable development

	• watches adherence to the requirements of applicable Russian 
and international laws, VK Code of Conduct and the Company’s 
Compliance and Sustainable Development Policies

3.	 Managing Director

	• informs the Board of Directors about enterprise risk management

4.	Risk Management Function:

	• supports the establishment of VK’s risk management system, 
orchestrates activities of all participants involved in risk management, 
and contributes to the continuous improvement of the system.
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Audit, Risk, Compliance and Sustainable Development Committee

Managing Director

1st line of defence

	• Operational management; 
	• VK management and units

2nd line of defence

	• Risk Management Function; 
	• Units involved in risk 
management

3rd line of defence

	• Internal audit

Elements of VK’s risk management system

5.	 Internal Audit Department:

	• ensures independent evaluation of the effectiveness of the risk 
management and internal control system

	• identifies deficiencies of the first and second lines of defence 
	• elaborates proposals for improving the risk management and internal 

control system 
	• supervises the implementation of corrective measures to improve 

the risk management and internal control system, as identified during 
audits

Further development of the risk management system is planned for 
2023, including the introduction of new and updated risk management 
tools, expansion of the risk monitoring base, and work with risk action 
plans.
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Key risks

To minimise potential risks and mitigate their possible negative impact, the company has defined a list of hypothetical risks. Accordingly, the company is engaged in comprehensive activities to manage those.

Potential key risks and approaches to manage them

Risk Description Risk management activities

Financial risks

Market risk Possible fluctuations in the fair value of future cash flows featured by financial instruments 
because of changes in market prices. Those financial instruments include payables, cash 
and cash equivalents, short-term deposits, financial investments in associates and derivative 
financial instruments

The Company monitors fluctuations in currency and financial instruments rates, and assesses 
possible scenarios that affect the value of market assets. If deemed necessary, the Company 
is able to employ hedging instruments to mitigate currency risk

Credit risk Possible financial losses due to the failure of counterparties to fulfil their obligations 
to the company under a financial instruments or customer contracts

The Company places its cash and cash equivalents with financial institutions featuring 
adequate stability that are considered to have minimal risk of default. The Company provides 
credit payment terms to its customers in accordance with market practices and based 
on thorough review of the customer’s profile and creditworthiness. To minimise credit risk, 
the Company seeks to operate on a prepayment basis or with a minimum deferral of payment.
None of the liabilities to the company represent more than 10% of revenue. If necessary, 
the Company handles receivables

Liquidity risk Possible difficulties in meeting the Company’s obligations associated with financial liabilities The Company undertakes liquidity planning based on predicted and actual cash flow data, 
analysis of repayment schedules for existing financial assets and liabilities, through following 
detailed budgeting procedures on an annual basis

Risk of capital availability Possible losses due to the Company’s inability to borrow funds for its financial and economic 
activities on acceptable terms

The Company ensures continuous interaction with owners and creditors. Monitoring of market 
rates for financing, government programmes and projects is run continuously. The goal of risk 
management is to minimise the cost of the debt portfolio

Business risks

Risk of changes in the market environment 
and macroeconomic conditions

Possible losses due to a significant deterioration in the market environment 
and macroeconomic conditions

The Company pays great attention to macroeconomic factors of the business environment 
under the current conditions. The Company monitors and reacts to significant changes 
in the market environment; if necessary, adjustments are made to the strategy of development 
for either an individual product or the Company as a whole

Risk of inconsistency in the quality of the Company’s 
products with users’ needs

Potential outflow of users, decrease in attractiveness of the Company’s products 
due to discrepancy between their quality and users’ needs.

The Company develops products that are in demand from a wide range of users, 
and strives to meet the current and potential needs of different target audiences. To this 
end, the Company conducts regular research and surveys to determine user attitudes 
to the Company’s products, identify potential problems and find ways to resolve them
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Risk Description Risk management activities

Reputational risk The potential for damage to the Company’s reputation, impairment of its image, including 
brand value, due to negative perceptions of the Company and its operations among users, 
regulators, counterparties, and other third parties

The Company maintains a proactive communication policy, promptly informing users 
and the public of all significant changes. Handling the reputational risk has also been 
strengthened by establishing a unit that performs online monitoring of the Сompany’s 
mentions, complaints, and questions from users and the public in all possible channels. 
Accordingly, the company promptly responds to those

Operational risks

Operational risk (risk of process deficiencies) Possible losses due to internal processes, which were configured incorrectly, and deficiencies 
in the internal control system

The Сompany implements operational controls, applies measures to prevent incorrect actions 
by employees, and monitors internal processes

Risk of disruption in the continuity of operations 
and functioning of IT infrastructures

The risk of disruption to the smooth operation of the Сompany’s services and products, 
as well as failures and/or malfunctions of the information systems used by the Сompany 
and (or) inconsistencies in their functionality and characteristics with the company’s needs

The Сompany seeks to ensure uninterrupted 24/7 functioning of services and products, 
including through: maintaining a high level of redundancy of IT services and infrastructure; 
regular backup of critical information; and monitoring the products and processes. IT-related 
processes and prompt response to a wide range of IT deficiencies and problems are subject 
to continuous improvement. The Сompany is committed to efficient use of IT resources, 
including planning and securing hardware requirements

Risk of epidemics, man-caused disasters, natural 
calamities, terrorist attacks, and force majeure 

The Сompany may suffer losses as a result of external factors of natural, man-caused 
and terrorist nature that are beyond the Сompany’s control

The Сompany has developed contingency plans; fire drills are conducted on a regular basis; 
employees undergo mandatory briefings and training when hired. Safety of employees’ lives 
and health is a key priority for the Сompany 

Information security risk Occurring of information security risk events VK adheres to the practice of ensuring the information security of its customers 
and employees. With regard to software development, the volume and quality of testing 
of software libraries before their use, as well as control over protection and secure 
configuration of development environments, and security checks of own code have been 
increased.
To improve detection of threats, the Bug Bounty programme was implemented, thus 
significantly reducing the level of vulnerabilities in the code of key products. The SOC team 
reacts promptly 24/7 to information security events and incidents, the secure application 
development team is enhanced, and the architecture and some key elements of network 
protection are streamlined.
Particular emphasis is placed on building a cyber culture of VK employees in order to reduce 
information security risks aimed at exploiting the human factor. A programme aimed 
at educating users of VK services about digital hygiene is being dynamically updated.
The information security risk management system is switching over to financial modelling 
of risk damage using factor analysis tools, which allows focusing on business-critical 
scenarios of information security risk events and provide VK management with a framework 
for a well-balanced decision-making system. The Сompany is actively working to integrate 
the information security risk management process into all stages of the life cycle of its projects 
and products
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Risk Description Risk management activities

HR risk Potential for difficulties in managing the staff The Сompany executes a targeted approach to working with each employee and strives 
to create the most comfortable working conditions possible. The Сompany offers a wide 
range of social benefits and bonuses and actively promotes wellness programmes in the areas 
of health, sport, education, and hobbies

Legal and regulatory risks

Legal and regulatory risk The potential for the Сompany to suffer financial losses and difficulties due to incorrect 
compliance with the law, as well as due to legal proceedings

The Сompany strives to comply strictly with the legislation in force, so, it constantly monitors 
all amendments and ensures cooperation with the regulatory authorities at the stage 
of discussing draft legislation. Also, the Сompany makes appropriate efforts to be duly 
prepared for the introduction of new regulations and requirements

Risk of breach of compliance requirements Potential breach of applicable laws and Сompany compliance policies (including those related 
to anti-corruption, conflict of interest, and human rights)

For more details on compliance measures, see the sections ‘Compliance’, ‘Anti-corruption’, 
‘Managing a conflict of interest’, ‘Human rights and anti-discrimination’

Tax risk The risk of unintentional violation of tax legislation due to unfavourable changes of the same, 
ambiguous interpretation by controlling authorities, and legitimate disputes regarding 
previously uncontested transactions and approaches. A risk event may result in additional 
taxation, fines, penalties, and injunctions issued by tax authorities; the effect of such event 
on the financial statements of the Сompany may be significant

The Сompany strives for unconditional compliance with the current legislation by continuous 
monitoring of changes in the countries it operates in, analysis of regulatory authorities’ 
explanations and court practice, assessment of tax risks before going into transactions 
and agreements, checking counterparties’ good faith, obtaining clarifications from 
the regulatory authorities on disputable issues and interaction with them in the law-making 
process. The Сompany makes appropriate efforts to be prepared duly for the introduction 
of new regulations and requirements. In the case of tax incentives, the Сompany takes all 
necessary steps to ensure that they are compliant with legislation and correctly documented. 
The annual independent audit process includes a review of the Сompany’s application 
and interpretation of tax legislation
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Ethics and compliance

Compliance

Compliance issues and functions are embodied in the Charter of the 
Audit, Risk, Compliance and Sustainable Development Committee of 
the VK Board of Directors. 

A number of policies and procedures governing key compliance areas 
(corporate ethics, anti-corruption, conflicts of interest, human rights, 
etc.) were developed in 2022. 

The Сompany has a whistleblowing line operated by an independent 
contracting organisation.

	 VK whistleblowing policy

	 Whistleblowing hotline

VK Code of Conduct

The Сompany has adopted VK Code of Conduct (hereinafter also 
referred to as the Code). The Code includes ten rules to guide the day-
to-day work of the Сompany. 

The company has introduced a process of mandatory familiarisation 
with the Code. 

The Code was revised substantially in 2022. Training on the updated 
Code is planned for 2023. 

	 VK Code of Conduct

Anti-corruption

VK complies with applicable anti-corruption legislation and takes 
the necessary measures to prevent and counteract corruption. This 
principle is expressed in VK Code of Conduct.

The Company adheres to the principle of zero tolerance for corruption 
in any form and manifestation. In 2022, no cases of corruption were 
identified in the Сompany.

In 2022, an Anti-Corruption Policy was elaborated in detail, thus setting 
out the basic principles and requirements for combating corruption 
in VK.

Managing a conflict of interest

VK Code of Conduct embodies the principle of managing a conflict of 
interest. The Сompany updated its conflict of interest questionnaire 
in 2022. All conflict of interest situations are analysed by the Compliance 
Department. 

Dealing with insider information

The Сompany’s GDRs are listed on the LSE and covered by a secondary 
listing on the MOEX. The Сompany operates in strict compliance with 
the requirements of the Market Abuse Regulation (UK) and relevant 
Russian legislation1, as well as other regulations disabling the distribution 
of insider information. 

The Сompany maintains and updates the list of insiders and notify the 
relevant persons of their inclusion thereto and exclusion therefrom2. 

If documents containing insider information are transferred to 
counterparties, provisions are introduced in agreements with them 
obliging counterparties to maintain the list of insiders and ensure 
confidentiality and protection of the information disclosed. The relevant 
counterparty is included in the insider list.

Within the calendar year, the Сompany’s insiders are notified on an 
ongoing basis about the start of ‘closed’ and ‘open’ periods, the launch, 
and completion of projects in connection with which they receive 
insider information, and about the forbidding/authorisation of trading 
the Сompany’s GDRs. 

	 Policy of Accessing the Inside Information

	� VK company Limited Trading Policy for Directors, Senior Managers, 

Employees and Connected Persons

Human rights and anti-discrimination

The principle of respecting human rights and zero-tolerance to 
discrimination is embodied in VK’s Code of Conduct. 

The Policy on Human Rights was developed in 2022; it stipulates 
VK’s basic principles and obligations in the field of human rights. The 
document was adopted in March 2023.

In case of any form of discrimination, an employee may contact the 
Compliance Department or the whistleblowing hotline. All reports of 
discrimination are thoroughly checked, and appropriate action is taken.

1	 Federal Law No. 224-FZ dated 27July 2010 On Counteracting the Misuse of Insider Information and Market Manipulation and on Amendments to Certain Legislative Acts of the Russian Federation.
2	In accordance with the requirements of the Bank of Russia Directive No. 5720-U dated 2 February 2021 On the Procedure for Notification of Persons Included in the List of Insiders, their Inclusion in and 

Removal from the List of Insiders.
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Information for shareholders and investors

Company’s share capital 

The share capital of the company is divided into 11.5 million class A 
shares and 227.9 million ordinary shares. There are differences in the 
number of votes at General Meetings of Shareholders, which both 
types of shares carry (see above in ‘General Meeting of Shareholders’ 
section). Both classes of shares are freely transferable.

At the request of a shareholder holding class A shares, they can 
automatically be converted into ordinary shares. In this case, each class 
A share is automatically converted into one ordinary share and holds 
the same position in all respects as the existing ordinary shares being 
outstanding.

GDRs have been issued in respect of the Сompany’s ordinary shares. 
They are traded on the LSE and MOEX (VKCO ticker). Each GDR 
corresponds to one ordinary share of VK. Citi Bank acts as VK’s 
depositary and issuer of the GDRs. 

Trading of VK GDRs on the LSE was suspended by the exchange on 
3 March 2022. The Сompany has no indication as to when trading on 
the LSE may be resumed. As a result, the GDRs have traded mainly on 
MOEX and among local investors (funds and individuals) during 2022. 

The Сompany does not have a dividend policy. No dividends were paid 
in 2022.

Bonds 

In October 2020, the Сompany placed five-year convertible Eurobonds 
with a principal amount of USD 400mn on the LSE at 1.625% per annum. 
On 3 March 2022, trading in these bonds was suspended by the 
exchange and has not resumed to date. 

Under the terms of the bond issue, a delisting event occurs if, among 
other things, trading of the GDRs on the LSE main market is suspended 
for ten or more consecutive trading days. Since the company’s GDRs 
trading was not resumed by the close of the trading session on 16 
March 2022, a delisting event occurred. Throughout 2022 the Сompany 
has been working on a restructuring of this debt. As at 31 December 
2022, the Сompany bought back Eurobonds with a total nominal value 
of USD 263.2mn.

In September 2021, VK subsidiary, Mail.ru Finance Limited, placed five-
year non-convertible exchange-traded bonds with a total par value of 
RUB 15bn (at a coupon rate of 7.9%) on MOEX. The exchange-traded 
bonds of Mail.ru Finance Limited were included in the second level of 
the list of securities admitted to trading on the Moscow Exchange, 
where they are traded currently.

Share capital as of the date of Report

Class of shares Authorised shares Issued shares

Class A (USD 0.000005 par value each) 10,000,000,000 11,500,100

Ordinary (USD 0.000005 par value each) 10,000,000,000 227,874,940
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Responsibility 
statement
We confirm that, to the best of our knowledge:

	• the consolidated financial statements, prepared in accordance 
with IFRS, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial 
position and profit and loss of the company and the undertakings 
included in the consolidation taken as a whole

	• this annual report includes a fair review of the development and 
performance of the business and the position of the company and 
the undertakings included in the consolidation, taken as a whole, 
together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties 
that they face.

By order of the Board

Elena Azarenko,
Managing Director of VK Company Limited

27 April 2023

Credit ratings

In connection with the placement of exchange-traded bonds in 2021, 
the Analytical Credit Rating Agency (ACRA) assigned the company 
a national scale credit rating to be applicable for the Russian Federation.

In February 2023, ACRA reaffirmed the credit rating of VK Company 
Limited at a level of AA+(RU) with a ‘stable’ outlook, and that of the 
bonds of its subsidiary company Mail.ru Finance Limited at a level of 
AA+(RU).

Current credit ratings of the Company and its bond issues

Rating subject Rating agency Date of last rating action Credit rating Outlook 

VK Company Limited ACRA 16 February 2023 AA+(RU) Stable

Exchange-traded bonds of Mail.ru Finance Limited (RU000A103QK3) ACRA 16 February 2023 AA+(RU)
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Independent auditor’s report 

To the shareholders and Board of Directors of 
VK Company Limited  

OOppiinniioonn  

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of VK Company Limited and its subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise the 
consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2022, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, 
consolidated statement of cash flows and consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended, and notes to the 
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position 
of the Group as at December 31, 2022 and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs). 

BBaassiiss  ffoorr  ooppiinniioonn  

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent of 
the Group in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ (IESBA) International Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements in the Russian Federation, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion. 

MMaatteerriiaall  uunncceerrttaaiinnttyy  rreellaatteedd  ttoo  ggooiinngg  ccoonncceerrnn  

We draw attention to Note 2.1 “Going concern” in the consolidated financial statements, which indicates that as at December 31, 2022 the 
Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by 19,319 millions of Russian Roubles. As stated in Note 2.1 “Going concern” to the 
consolidated financial statements, these events or conditions, along with other matters as set forth in Note 2.1 “Going concern”, indicate that a 
material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in 
respect of this matter. 

KKeeyy  aauuddiitt  mmaatttteerrss  

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements of the current period. In addition to the matters described in the Material uncertainty related to going concern section, we have 
determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report. These matters were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context. 
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We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section 
of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to 
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including 
the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial 
statements.  

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

AAnnnnuuaall  ggooooddwwiillll  iimmppaaiirrmmeenntt  aannaallyyssiiss  

Under IFRSs, the Group is required to test the amount of goodwill for 
impairment annually by assessing the recoverable amounts of each 
cash-generating unit (CGU) or a group of CGU comprising operating 
segments of the Group, and comparing it with the carrying amount of 
relevant CGU or groups of CGU. This annual impairment test was a key 
audit matter because the balance of goodwill of 157,111 millions of 
Russian Roubles as of December 31, 2022 is material to the consolidated 
financial statements. In addition, the management’s process to assess 
the recoverable amounts is complex and highly judgmental and is based 
on assumptions, specifically cash flow projections from financial 
budgets approved by management. These assumptions are affected by 
expectations about future market or economic conditions, particularly 
those expectations related to Russian internet market. 

Information about goodwill impairment is disclosed in Note 8 to the 
consolidated financial statements. 

Our audit procedures included, among others, examining the 
amounts of goodwill allocated to each operating segment, 
involving our specialists in the evaluation of the significant 
assumptions and methodologies used by the Group, in particular 
those relating to the forecasted revenue growth and earnings 
before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) and 
profit margins for operating segments. In addition, we tested 
mathematical accuracy of the impairment models and analysed the 
sensitivity of the recoverable amount to the changes in key 
assumptions. We also focused on the disclosures in the Group 
consolidated financial statements about those assumptions to 
which the outcome of the impairment test is the most sensitive, 
that is, those that have the most significant effect on determination 
of the recoverable amount of goodwill. 

RReevveennuuee  rreeccooggnniittiioonn  

We identified two aspects of the Group’s revenue recognition as key 
audit matters: 

1) The Group’s online advertising revenues, community IVAS as well 
as revenues from other services is a complex automated process.
It involves volume discounts and third-party commissions that 
require judgment in recognizing them as expenses or a reduction 
in revenue. 

2) Education technology services revenues involve complex and 
judgmental calculations of material amounts of deferred revenues
over the customers’ period of studying, which is determined, 
based on the program duration or on historical customer activity 
patterns and studying behavior. 

Selecting and applying revenue recognition policies requires 
management judgment, therefore, this matter was a key audit 
matter. 

Information about revenue is disclosed in Notes 5 and 18 to the 
consolidated financial statements. 

1) We tested application and IT-dependent manual controls 
over revenue recognition process. We examined and tested,
on a sample basis, significant standard and non-standard 
revenue arrangements. We considered revenue recognition 
policy in respect of specific revenue streams (including 
various incentives and volume rebates) and relevant 
disclosures. We tested the Group’s reconciliation of the 
amount of revenues recognized in the accounting systems 
to the relevant automated IT systems. 

2) We analysed the calculation of deferred revenue, including
the assessment of the program duration or of the historical 
customer activity patterns and studying behavior. 

We involved our IT specialist to assist us with the above-mentioned 
audit procedures. We reviewed respective disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. 

OOtthheerr  iinnffoorrmmaattiioonn  iinncclluuddeedd  iinn  tthhee  AAnnnnuuaall  rreeppoorrtt  22002222  

Other information consists of the information included in the Annual report 2022, other than the consolidated financial statements and our 
auditor’s report thereon. Management is responsible for the other information. The Annual report 2022 is expected to be made available to us 
after the date of this auditor’s report. 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we will not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information identified above when 
it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.   
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RReessppoonnssiibbiilliittiieess  ooff  mmaannaaggeemmeenntt  aanndd  tthhee  AAuuddiitt,,  RRiisskk,,  CCoommpplliiaannccee  aanndd  SSuussttaaiinnaabbllee  DDeevveellooppmmeenntt  CCoommmmiitttteeee  ooff  tthhee  BBooaarrdd  ooff  DDiirreeccttoorrss  ffoorr  
tthhee  ccoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  ffiinnaanncciiaall  ssttaatteemmeennttss  

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRSs, and for 
such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, 
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends 
to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

The Audit, Risk, Compliance and Sustainable Development Committee of the Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing the Group’s 
financial reporting process. 

AAuuddiittoorr’’ss  rreessppoonnssiibbiilliittiieess  ffoorr  tthhee  aauuddiitt  ooff  tthhee  ccoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  ffiinnaanncciiaall  ssttaatteemmeennttss  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as 
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence 
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report 
to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. 
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the Group 
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with the Audit, Risk, Compliance and Sustainable Development Committee of the Board of Directors regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that 
we identify during our audit. 

We also provide the Audit, Risk, Compliance and Sustainable Development Committee of the Board of Directors with a statement that we 
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters 
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.  
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From the matters communicated with the Audit, Risk, Compliance and Sustainable Development Committee of the Board of Directors, we 
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are 
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about 
the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the 
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

The partner in charge of the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is A.S. Ustimenko. 

A.S. Ustimenko,  
acting on behalf of TSATR – Audit Services Limited Liability Company 
on the basis of power of attorney dated April 18, 2022, 
partner in charge of the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report  
(main registration number 21906110496) 

March 15, 2023 

DDeettaaiillss  ooff  tthhee  aauuddiittoorr  

Name: TSATR – Audit Services Limited Liability Company 
Record made in the State Register of Legal Entities on December 5, 2002, State Registration Number 1027739707203. 
Address: Russia 115035, Moscow, Sadovnicheskaya naberezhnaya, 77, building 1. 
TSATR – Audit Services Limited Liability Company is a member of Self-regulatory organization of auditors Association “Sodruzhestvo”. TSATR – Audit Services 
Limited Liability Company is included in the control copy of the register of auditors and audit organizations, main registration number 12006020327. 

DDeettaaiillss  ooff  tthhee  aauuddiitteedd  eennttiittyy  

Name: VK Company Limited 
Registered: May 4, 2005. 
Address: 28 Oktovriou, 365, VASHIOTIS SEAFRONT, office 402, Neapoli, 3107 Limassol, Cyprus. 
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  Notes 
As of December 31,  

2022 
As of December 31,  

2021 (restated) Note 12.6 

Assets     
Non-current assets     
Investments in equity accounted associates and joint ventures 11 4,585 48,921 
Goodwill 8 157,111 138,414 
Right-of-use assets 6 9,519 14,843 
Other intangible assets 7 22,249 18,324 
Property and equipment 9 39,250 15,798 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 24 350 6,903 
Deferred income tax assets 20 2,293 5,157 
Other financial assets 24 2,158 69 
Advance under office lease contracts  437 462 

Total non-current assets  237,952 248,891 

Current assets    
Trade accounts receivable 14 20,533 20,688 
Accounts receivable from the sale of a subsidiary 13.1 43,739 − 
Prepaid income tax  262 359 
Prepaid expenses and advances to suppliers  1,965 2,353 
Loans issued 24 2,982 109 
Inventories  226 157 
Other current assets 16 4,205 1,445 
Cash and cash equivalents 15 48,759 23,737 
Assets held for sale 13.3 292 − 

Total current assets  122,963 48,848 

Total assets  360,915 297,739 

Equity and liabilities    
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent    
Issued capital  − − 
Share premium  81,872 79,397 
Treasury shares  (1,039) (1,044) 
Retained earnings  86,841 89,985 
Foreign currency translation reserve  2,585 1,578 

Total equity attributable to equity holders of the parent  170,259 169,916 

Non-controlling interests 17.4 (2,147) 346 

Total equity  168,112 170,262 

Non-current liabilities    
Deferred income tax liabilities 20 2,107 1,228 
Deferred revenue  793 1,455 
Non-current lease liabilities 6 7,292 11,327 
Non-current financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 24 3,982 879 
Long-term interest-bearing loans and bonds 24 35,775 50,810 
Other non-current liabilities  572 522 

Total non-current liabilities  50,521 66,221 

Current liabilities    
Trade accounts payable 24 17,121 14,541 
Income tax payable  2,689 3,208 
VAT and other taxes payable  5,183 4,391 
Deferred revenue and customer advances  8,428 17,794 
Short-term portion of long-term interest-bearing loans and bonds 24 88,742 7,078 
Current lease liabilities 6 3,216 4,121 
Current financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 24 4,806 − 
Other payables and accrued expenses 16 11,810 10,123 
Liabilities directly associated with assets held for sale 13.3 287 − 

Total current liabilities 
 

142,282 61,256 

Total liabilities 
 

192,803 127,477 

Total equity and liabilities 
 

360,915 297,739 
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 Notes 2022 2021 

Continuing operations    
Online advertising  56,917 44,066 
Community IVAS  17,008 17,924 
Education technology services  11,190 10,651 
Other revenue  12,655 9,341 

Total revenue 18 97,770 81,982 

Personnel expenses 25 (38,847) (27,928) 
Agent/partner fees  (23,988) (22,943) 
Marketing expenses  (14,018) (8,903) 
Server hosting expenses  (636) (520) 
Professional services  (1,229) (1,135) 
Other operating income  792 570 
Other operating expenses 26 (5,055) (4,879) 

Total operating expenses, net  (82,981) (65,738) 

Depreciation and amortisation 6, 7, 9 (18,113) (16,131) 
Impairment of intangible assets 7 (1,052) (1,714) 
Share of loss of equity accounted associates and joint ventures 11 (16,994) (21,167) 
Finance income 24.3 6,561 951 
Finance expenses 19 (12,379) (4,229) 
Other non-operating gain/loss 6 187 (182) 
Goodwill impairment 8 (9,681) − 
Net (loss)/gain on financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 24 (10,486) 2,755 
Net gain on disposal of subsidiaries 13.2 13 − 
Impairment of equity accounted associates and joint ventures 11 (13,973) (559) 
Loss on remeasurement of assets held for sale 13.3 (283) − 
Gain on remeasurement of previously held interest in joint ventures and equity 

accounted associate 11.2 24,360 305 
Loss on remeasurement of financial instruments  (123) (819) 
Expected credit loss allowance on restricted cash  (2,190) − 
Net foreign exchange gain/(loss)  9,867 (1,042) 

Loss before income tax expense from continuing operations  (29,497) (25,588) 

Income tax expense 20 (3,149) (757) 

Loss from continuing operations  (32,646) (26,345) 

Discontinued operations    
Profit from discontinued operations 13 28,736 10,648 

Net loss  (3,910) (15,697) 

Other comprehensive income    
Other comprehensive income that may be reclassified to profit or loss  

in subsequent periods    
Effect of translation to presentation currency of Group’s joint ventures  1,002 132 
Exchange difference on translation of foreign operations  (26) 251 

Total other comprehensive loss that may be reclassified to profit or loss  
in subsequent periods  976 383 

Total other comprehensive loss net of tax effect of 0  976 383 

Total comprehensive loss, net of tax  (2,934) (15,314) 
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 Notes 2022 2021 

Net loss, attributable to:     
Equity holders of the parent  (3,144) (15,493) 
Non-controlling interests  (766) (204) 

Total comprehensive loss, net of tax, attributable to:    
Equity holders of the parent  (2,168) (15,110) 
Non-controlling interests  (766) (204) 

Loss per share, in RUB:    
Basic loss per share attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent  (14) (69) 
Diluted earnings per share attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent  n/a n/a 

Loss per share from continuing operations, in RUB:    
Basic loss per share attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent  (116) (115) 
Diluted earnings per share attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent  n/a n/a 

Profit per share from discontinued operations, in RUB:    
Basic profit per share attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent  102 47 
Diluted earnings per share attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent  100 45 
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  Notes 2022 2021 

Cash flows from operating activities    
Loss before income tax from continuing operations  (29,497) (25,588) 
Profit before income tax from discontinued operations  27,858 10,962 

Loss before income tax  (1,639) (14,626) 

Adjustments to reconcile loss before income tax to cash flows    
Depreciation and amortisation 6, 7, 9 20,074 18,371 
Impairment of intangible assets 7 1,052 1,714 
Share of loss of equity accounted associates and joint ventures 11 16,994 21,167 
Finance income  (6,668) (969) 
Finance expenses  19 12,388 4,253 
Expected credit loss allowance on trade receivables 14, 26 89 418 
Expected credit loss allowance on restricted cash  2,911 − 
Goodwill impairment 8 9,681 − 
Net loss/(gain) on financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 24 11,067 (2,700) 
Net gain on disposal of subsidiaries 13 (27,143) − 
Impairment of equity accounted associates and joint ventures 11 13,973 559 
Loss on remeasurement of assets held for sale  283 − 
Gain on remeasurement of previously held interest in equity accounted associates 11.2 (24,360) (305) 
Loss on remeasurement of financial instruments   420 843 
Net foreign exchange (gain)/loss  (9,391) 943 
Сash settled and equity settled share-based payments 28 2,480 2,091 
Other non-cash items  (82) 227 

Change in operating assets and liabilities    
Increase in accounts receivable  (5,792) (3,912) 
Increase in prepaid expenses and advances to suppliers  (3,462) (1,512) 
Increase in inventories and other assets  (2,863) (960) 
Increase in accounts payable and accrued expense  9,604 5,700 
Decrease in other non-current assets  25 205 
(Decrease)/increase in deferred revenue and customer advances  (285) 86 
Increase in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  (570) (5,129) 

Operating cash flows before interest and income taxes   18,786 26,464 

Interest received  724 393 
Interest paid 6, 24.3 (4,969) (2,977) 
Income tax paid 20 (1,992) (2,968) 

Net cash provided by operating activities  12,549 20,912 

Cash flows from investing activities    
Cash paid for property and equipment from continuing operations 9 (14,143) (8,640) 
Cash paid for intangible assets from continuing operations 7 (6,189) (4,017) 
Cash paid for property and equipment from discontinued operations  (126) (127) 
Cash paid for intangible assets from discontinued operations  (2,132) (2,329) 
Dividends received from equity accounted associates 11 76 891 
Loans issued  (8,713) (15,959) 
Loans collected  165 348 
Cash paid for acquisitions of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired 12 3,302 (3,503) 
Cash outflow from sale of subsidiary 13 (1,743) − 
Cash paid for investments in equity accounted associates and joint ventures 11 (2,834) (11,767) 

Net cash used in investing activities 
 

(32,337) (45,103) 
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Notes 2022 2021 

Cash flows from financing activities 
Payment of lease liabilities 6 (4,628) (3,783) 
Loans received 24.3 82,226 21 
Loans repaid 24.3 (30,198) (3,718) 
Proceeds from bonds issued − 15,000 
Cash received from disposal of non-controlling interests in subsidiaries − 1,486 
Cash paid for non-controlling interests in subsidiaries − (20) 
Dividends paid by subsidiaries to non-controlling shareholders (86) (215) 

Net cash provided by financing activities 47,314 8,771 

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents 27,526 (15,420) 

Effect of exchange differences on cash balances (664) (140) 
Change in expected credit loss allowance on restricted cash (1,679) − 
Change in cash related to asset held for sale (161) − 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 23,737 39,297 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 48,759 23,737 
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Share capital 

Share  
premium 

Treasury 
shares 

Retained 
earnings (restated) 

Accumulated other 
comprehen-sive 

income/(loss) 
(net of tax effect of 0) 

Total equity 
attributable to equity 
holders of the parent 

Non-controlling 
interests 

Total 
equity 

Number  
of shares issued  
and outstanding Amount 

Balance at January 1, 2021 225,474,333 − 77,101 (1,071) 103,103 1,195 180,328 1,663 181,991 

Loss for the year − − − − (15,493) − (15,493) (204) (15,697) 

Other comprehensive income          
Foreign currency translation − − − − − 383 383 − 383 

Total other comprehensive loss − − − − − 383 383 − 383 

Total comprehensive loss − − − − (15,493) 383 (15,110) (204) (15,314) 

Share-based payment transactions − − 2,323 − − − 2,323 − 2,323 
Exercise of PSUs/RSUs and options over 

the shares of the Company 656,374 − (27) 27 − − − − − 
Dividends by subsidiaries to 

non-controlling shareholders − − − − − − − (215) (215) 
Non-controlling interests arising from 

business combinations − − − − − − − 11 11 
Acquisitions of non-controlling interests − − − − − − − (20) (20) 
Disposal of non-controlling interests* − − − − 2,375 − 2,375 (889) 1,486 

Balance at December 31, 2021 226,130,707 − 79,397 (1,044) 89,985 1,578 169,916 346 170,262 

* In July 2021, the Group sold a 49% stake in its subsidiary GeekBrains for a total cash consideration of RUB 655. As a result of the transaction, the Group’s effective share in GeekBrains was reduced to 51%.  
The Group retained control of GeekBrains. 

*  In October 2021, the Group sold a 5.705% stake in its subsidiary Skillbox Holding for a total cash consideration of RUB 831. As a result of the transaction, the Group’s effective share in Skillbox Holding was reduced to 57.54%.  
The Group retained control of Skillbox Holding. 
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Share capital 

Share  
premium 

Treasury 
shares 

Retained 
earnings 

Accumulated other 
comprehen-sive 

income/(loss) 
(net of tax effect of 0) 

Total equity 
attributable to equity 
holders of the parent 

Non-controlling 
interests 

Total 
equity 

Number  
of shares issued  
and outstanding Amount 

Balance at January 1, 2022 226,130,707 − 79,397 (1,044) 89,985 1,578 169,916 346 170,262 

Loss for the year − − − − (3,144) − (3,144) (766) (3,910) 

Other comprehensive income          
Foreign currency translation − − − − − 976 976 − 976 

Total other comprehensive loss − − − − − 976 976 − 976 

Total comprehensive loss − − − − (3,144) 976 (2,168) (766) (2,934) 

Share-based payment transactions 
(Note 25) − − 3,080 − − − 3,080 − 3,080 

Exercise of PSUs/RSUs and options over 
the shares of the Company 20,000 − (5) 5 − − − − − 

Dividends by subsidiaries to 
non-controlling shareholders − − − − − − − (86) (86) 

Modification of PSU/RSU programmes 
(Note 25) − − (600) − − − (600) − (600) 

Acquisitions of non-controlling interests − − − − − − − 22 22 
Disposal of non-controlling interests 

(Note 13) − − − − − 31 31 (1,663) (1,632) 

Balance at December 31, 2022 226,150,707 − 81,872 (1,039) 86,841 2,585 170,259 (2,147) 168,112 
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1 Corporate information and description of business 

These consolidated financial statements of VK Company Limited (hereinafter “the Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively − “the Group” 
or “VK”) for the year ended December 31, 2022 were authorised for issue by the directors of the Company on March 15, 2023. 

The Company was registered on May 4, 2005 in the Territory of the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”), pursuant to the International 
Business Companies Act (the “Act”), Cap. 291. The principal office of the Company is at 28 Oktovriou, 365, VASHIOTIS SEAFRONT, office 402, 
Neapoli, 3107 Limassol, Cyprus. 

The Company consolidates or participates in businesses that operate in the Internet segment, including portals, social networking and 
communications, online marketplaces, education technologies, online-to-offline services. The Group has leading positions in Russia and other 
CIS states where its operations are present. 

The parent of the Company is MF Technologies. MF Technologies does not have a single controlling shareholder. 

Information on the Company’s main subsidiaries is disclosed in Note 10.  

2 Basis of preparation  

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for financial assets and liabilities designated as 
at fair value through profit or loss and derivative financial instruments that have been measured at fair value. 

2.1 Going concern 

The Group has prepared the financial statements on the basis that it will continue to operate as a going concern. 

The management has considered all relevant facts, including the Group’s liquidity position, events after the reporting date, expected operating 
results, as well as the amount of debt facilities and other funds available to the Group to assess the Group’s ability to operate as a going concern.  

Operating results and liquidity position 

As of December 31, 2022, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of RUB 48,759 equivalent to USD 693 million, of which the equivalent of 
USD 10 million was held in foreign currency, mainly in USD and EUR. 

Notwithstanding the net loss under IFRS for the year ended December 31, 2022 of RUB 3,910 (for the year ended December 31, 2021: 
RUB 15,697) and negative working capital (current liabilities exceeding current assets) as of December 31, 2022 of RUB 19,319 (December 31, 
2021: negative RUB 12,408), the Group generates positive cash flows from operating activities: cash provided by operating activities for the 
year ended December 31, 2022 were RUB 12,549 (for the year ended December 31, 2021: RUB 20,912). 

Credit resources and other cash 

On March 3, 2022 trading of VK’s GDRs on the London Stock Exchange (“LSE”) was suspended by the LSE, and remains suspended as of the 
date of signing of these consolidated financial statements. 

The Group initiated discussions with bondholders aimed at finding mutually acceptable solutions for both the Group and bondholders, 
pursuant to which since July 2022 to December 31, 2022 the Group has purchased about 66% of the Bonds at a discount to par, details of 
which are set out in Note 24.3. 

The Group has entered into credit facilities with one of the related party banks with a maturity period of 2024-2029 to finance the repurchase 
of bonds from holders and to finance the operating and investment activities of the Company. See Note 24.3 for details. The Group breached 
the loan covenants in 2022. 

In accordance with IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements as of December 31, 2022, the remaining liabilities related to these Bonds (34%) 
in the amount of RUB 9,841 and loans from a related party were included in short-term liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial 
position. 

The Group’s management considers that it will be able to refinance its liabilities to continue operating as a going concern. 

Approval of the alternatives proposed by the Group and availability of external financing for (i) settle payments due as a result of the exercise 
if the proposals are not approved by the bondholders and (ii) refinance short-term portion of loans represent a material uncertainty that may 
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

2.2 Presentation of comparative information 

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified and/or regrouped to conform to the current presentation. This does not have an impact on 
the reported amounts of net loss for the reporting periods. 

2022   Annual Report71 Appendices



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 

VK 2022 Results 15 

2 Basis of preparation (continued) 

2.3 Statement of compliance 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with and comply with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS”). 

The Group maintains its accounting records and prepares its statutory accounting reports in accordance with domestic accounting legislation 
and instructions for each of its subsidiaries. These consolidated financial statements are based on the underlying accounting records, 
appropriately adjusted and reclassified for fair presentation in accordance with the standards and interpretations issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). IFRS adjustments include and affect such major areas as consolidation, revenue recognition, accruals, 
deferred taxation, fair value adjustments, business combinations, impairment, share-based payments etc. 

2.4 Application of new and amended IFRS and IFRIC 

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those followed in the preparation of the Group’s annual financial statements for the year 
ended December 31, 2021, except for the adoption of new and amended IFRS and International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee 
(“IFRIC”) interpretations effective as of January 1, 2022. The Group has not early adopted any other standard, interpretation or amendment that 
has been issued but is not yet effective. 

In 2022, the Group first applied the following amendments, but they had no impact on its consolidated financial statements. 

Amendments to IAS 37 Onerous Contracts − Costs of Fulfilling a Contract 

An onerous contract is a contract under which the unavoidable of meeting the obligations under the contract costs (i.e., the costs that the 
Group cannot avoid because it has the contract) exceed the economic benefits expected to be received under it. 

The amendments specify that when assessing whether a contract is onerous or loss-making, an entity needs to include costs that relate 
directly to a contract to provide goods or services including both incremental costs (e.g., the costs of direct labour and materials) and an 
allocation of costs directly related to contract activities (e.g., depreciation of equipment used to fulfil the contract and costs of contract 
management and supervision). General and administrative costs do not relate directly to a contract and are excluded unless they are explicitly 
chargeable to the counterparty under the contract. 

This amendment had no impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements 

Amendments to IFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework 

The amendments replace a reference to a previous version of the IASB’s Conceptual Framework with a reference to the current version issued 
in March 2018 without significantly changing its requirements.  

The amendments add an exception to the recognition principle of IFRS 3 Business Combinations to avoid the issue of potential ‘day 2’ gains or 
losses arising for liabilities and contingent liabilities that would be within the scope of IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent 
Assets or IFRIC 21 Levies, if incurred separately. The exception requires entities to apply the criteria in IAS 37 or IFRIC 21, respectively, instead 
of the Conceptual Framework, to determine whether a present obligation exists at the acquisition date. 

The amendments also add a new paragraph to IFRS 3 to clarify that contingent assets do not qualify for recognition at the acquisition date. 

These amendments had no impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group as there were no contingent assets, liabilities or 
contingent liabilities within the scope of these amendments that arose during the period. 

Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use  

The amendment prohibits entities from deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment, any proceeds of the sale of 
items produced while bringing that asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by 
management. Instead, an entity recognises the proceeds from selling such items, and the costs of producing those items, in profit or loss. 

These amendments had no impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group as there were no sales of such items produced by 
property, plant and equipment made available for use on or after the beginning of the earliest period presented. 

Amendments to IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards − Subsidiary as a first-time adopter 

The amendment permits a subsidiary that elects to apply paragraph D16(a) of IFRS 1 to measure cumulative translation differences using the 
amounts reported in the parent’s consolidated financial statements, based on the parent’s date of transition to IFRS, if no adjustments 
were made for consolidation procedures and for the effects of the business combination in which the parent acquired the subsidiary. 
This amendment is also applied to an associate or joint venture that elects to apply paragraph D16(a) of IFRS 1. 

These amendments had no impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group as it is not a first-time adopter.  
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2 Basis of preparation (continued) 

2.4 Application of new and amended IFRS and IFRIC (continued) 

Amendments to IFRS 9 Financial Instruments − Fees in the ‘10 per cent’ test for derecognition of financial liabilities 

The amendment clarifies the fees that an entity includes when assessing whether the terms of a new or modified financial liability are 
substantially different from the terms of the original financial liability. These fees include only those paid or received between the borrower 
and the lender, including fees paid or received by either the borrower or lender on the other’s behalf. IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition 
and Measurement does not include a similar amendment. 

This amendment had no impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements, as there were no modifications to the Group’s financial 
instruments during the period under review. 

Amendments to IAS 41 Agriculture − Taxation in fair value measurements 

The amendment removes the requirement in paragraph 22 of IAS 41 that entities exclude cash flows for taxation when measuring the fair value 
of assets within the scope of IAS 41. 

These amendments had no impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group as it did not have assets in scope of IAS 41 as at the 
reporting date. 

2.5 Standards issued but not yet effective 

Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and IFRS Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting Policies  

In February 2021 the IASB issued amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2. The amendments to IAS 1 require companies to disclose 
their material accounting policy information rather than their significant accounting policies. The amendments to IFRS Practice Statement 2 
provide guidance on how to apply the concept of materiality to accounting policy disclosures. The amendments will be effective for annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023, with early application permitted. 

The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Group.  

Amendments to IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors: Definition of Accounting Estimates  

In February 2021 the IASB issued amendments to IAS 8, in which it introduces a definition of ‘accounting estimates’. The amendments clarify 
the distinction between changes in accounting estimates and changes in accounting policies and the correction of errors. Also, they clarify 
how entities use measurement techniques and inputs to develop accounting estimates. 

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023 and apply to changes in accounting policies and 
changes in accounting estimates that occur on or after the start of that period. Earlier application is permitted as long as this fact is disclosed. 

The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Group’s financial statements. 

Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes 

In May 2021, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes, named Deferred Taxes Related to Assets and Liabilities Arising from a 
Single Transaction. The amendments clarify that initial recognition exception under IAS 12 does not apply to such transactions as recognition 
of leases and decommissioning obligations. The amendments are effective on or after January 1, 2023. The Group is currently assessing the 
potential impact.  

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 

In May 2017, the IASB issued IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (IFRS 17), a comprehensive new accounting standard for insurance contracts covering 
recognition and measurement, presentation and disclosure. Once effective, IFRS 17 will replace IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts (IFRS 4) that was 
issued in 2005. IFRS 17 applies to all types of insurance contracts (i.e., life, non-life, direct insurance and re-insurance), regardless of the type 
of entities that issue them, as well as to certain guarantees and financial instruments with discretionary participation features.  

A few scope exceptions will apply. The overall objective of IFRS 17 is to provide an accounting model for insurance contracts that is more 
useful and consistent for insurers. In contrast to the requirements in IFRS 4, which are largely based on grandfathering previous local 
accounting policies, IFRS 17 provides a comprehensive model for insurance contracts, covering all relevant accounting aspects. The core of 
IFRS 17 is the general model, supplemented by: 

• A specific adaptation for contracts with direct participation features (the variable fee approach); 

• A simplified approach (the premium allocation approach) mainly for short-duration contracts. 

IFRS 17 is effective for reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023, with comparative figures required. Early application is permitted, 
provided the entity also applies IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 on or before the date it first applies IFRS 17. In addition, IASB issued Amendments to IFRS 17 
Insurance Contracts: Initial Application of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 Comparative Information on December 9, 2021. 

These standard and ammendmends are not applicable to the Group.  
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2 Basis of preparation (continued) 

2.5 Standards issued but not yet effective (continued) 

Amendments to IFRS 16 − Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback 

On September 22, 2022, the Board issued Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback (Amendments to IFRS 16). The amendment to IFRS 16 
specifies the requirements that a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability aris'ing in a sale and leaseback transaction, that qualifies for 
the transfer of control of an asset in IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers. 

In applying this amendments, the sellerlessee determines ‘lease payments’ or ‘revised lease payments’ in such a way that the seller-lessee 
would not recognise any amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right of use retained by the seller-lessee. Applying these requirements 
does not prevent the seller-lessee from recognising, in profit or loss, any gain or loss relating to the partial or full termination of a lease, as 
required by IFRS 16. 

The IASB noted that organizations should use IFRS (IAS) 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors to develop 
accounting policies to determine the approach to assessing lease payments for such transactions. 

The IASB has updated the illustrative examples to IFRS 16 Leases in terms of sale and leaseback transactions, adding to them an example of a 
leaseback agreement with fully variable payments. The example considers two approaches to determining lease payments for a sale with a 
leaseback transaction for subsequent accounting of a leaseback agreement: an approach based on expected lease payments at the start 
date of the leaseback period and an approach based on equal payments for the lease term. In both approaches, the difference between the 
actual payments for a specific period and the payments originally included in the lease liability is recognized in profit or loss. 

The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Group’s financial statements. 

Amendments to IAS 1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current 

In January 2020, the IASB issued amendments to paragraphs 69 to 76 of IAS 1 to specify the requirements for classifying liabilities as current or 
non-current. The amendments clarify: 

• If an entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability is subject to the entity complying with specified conditions, the entity has a right to 
defer settlement of the liability at the end of the reporting period if it complies with those conditions at that date.That a right to defer 
must exist at the end of the reporting period; 

• The right to defer settlement of the liabilities must exist at the end of the reporting period; 

• That classification is unaffected by the likelihood that an entity will exercise its deferral right; 

• Clarified the concept of “settlement of a liability” when it is settled by transferring own equity instruments. 

In June 2022, the IASB decided to finalize the proposed amendments to IAS 1 published in the preliminary draft “Non-current liabilities with 
covenants” with some modifications (“Amendments 2022”). 

This draft proposes the following main amendments: 

• The classification of a liability as current or non-current is affected by an analysis of the covenants that the company must comply on 
or before the reporting date; 

• A company should disclose separately information about non-current liabilities covenants in the notes to the financial statements. 

• It is necessary to disclose information sufficient for the user to understand the risks associated with the possible requirement of 
creditors for the repayment by the enterprise of the non-current liabilities specified in paragraph above, within twelve months after 
the reporting date. 

The Group is currently assessing the potential impact the amendments. 

3 Summary of significant accounting policies 

3.1 Principles of consolidation 

These consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries as at December 31, 2022 and 
for the year then ended. 

Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to 
affect those returns through its power over the investee. 

Specifically, the Group controls an investee if and only if the Group has: 

• Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee); 

• Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and 

• The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.  
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3 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

3.1 Principles of consolidation (continued) 

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances 
in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including: 

• The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee; 

• Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and 

• The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights. 

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the 
three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group 
loses control of the subsidiary. Income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary. 

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the parent company, using consistent accounting 
policies.  

All intra-group balances, income and expenses and unrealised gains and losses resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated. 

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it: 

• Derecognises the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary; 

• Derecognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interests; 

• Derecognises the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; 

• Recognises the fair value of the consideration received; 

• Recognises the fair value of any investment retained; 

• Recognises any surplus or deficit in profit or loss; and 

• Reclassifies the parent’s share of components previously recognised in other comprehensive income to profit or loss or retained 
earnings, as appropriate, as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. 

3.2 Business combinations and goodwill 

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the aggregate of the 
consideration transferred, measured at acquisition date fair value, and the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree. For each 
business combination, the acquirer measures the non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the proportionate share of 
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Acquisition costs incurred, such as finder’s fees, legal fees, due diligence fees, and other professional 
and consulting fees, are expensed and included in operating expenses. 

The Group measures goodwill as the fair value of the consideration transferred including the recognised amount of any non-controlling 
interest in the acquiree, less the net recognised amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed, all 
measured as of the acquisition date. 

Consideration transferred includes the fair values of the assets transferred, liabilities incurred by the Group to the previous owners of the 
acquiree, and equity interests issued by the Group. Consideration transferred also includes the fair value of any contingent consideration and 
vested share-based payment awards of the acquiree that are replaced in the business combination. 

If control is achieved in stages, the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value as at the acquisition 
date through profit or loss.  

A contingent liability of the acquiree is recognised in a business combination only if such a liability represents a present obligation and arises 
from a past event, and its fair value can be measured reliably. 

Only components of non-controlling interest constituting a present ownership interest that entitles their holder to a proportionate share of 
the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation are measured at either fair value or at the present ownership instruments’ proportionate share 
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components are measured at their acquisition date fair value. 

The Group accounts for a change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary (without loss of control) as a transaction with owners in their 
capacity as owners. Therefore, such transactions do not give rise to goodwill, nor do they give rise to a gain or loss and are accounted for 
as an equity transaction.  
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3 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

3.2 Business combinations and goodwill (continued) 

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill 
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash generating units that are expected to 
benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units. 

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit (CGU) and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated 
with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the 
operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured based on the relative values of the operation disposed of and the portion of 
the cash-generating unit retained. 

If the Group reorganises its reporting structure in a way that changes the composition of one or more cash-generating units to which goodwill 
has been allocated, the goodwill is reallocated to the units affected. The reallocation is performed using a relative value approach similar to 
that used in connection with the disposal of an operation within a cash-generating unit, unless some other method better reflects the goodwill 
associated with the reorganised units. 

3.3 Current versus non-current classification 

The Group presents assets and liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position based on current/non-current classification. 
An asset is current when it is: 

• Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in the normal operating cycle; 

• Held primarily for the purpose of trading; 

• Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period; or 

• Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least twelve months after the 
reporting period. 

All other assets are classified as non-current. 

A liability is current when: 

• It is expected to be settled in the normal operating cycle; 

• It is held primarily for the purpose of trading; 

• It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period; or 

• There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period. 

The terms of the liability that could, at the option of the counterparty, result in its settlement by the issue of equity instruments do not affect 
its classification. 

The Group classifies all other liabilities as non-current. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets and liabilities. 

3.4 Fair value measurement 

The Group measures financial instruments such as derivatives, at fair value at each balance sheet date. 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants 
at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability 
takes place either: 

• In the principal market for the asset or liability; or 

• In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. 

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the 
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic 
best interest. 

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using the 
asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use. 

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair 
value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs. 
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3 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

3.4 Fair value measurement (continued) 

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, 
described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole: 

• Level 1 − quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

• Level 2 − valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is directly or indirectly 
observable; 

• Level 3 − valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable. 

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the consolidated financial statements at fair value on a recurring basis, the Group determines 
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is 
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period. 

The Group determines the policies and procedures for both recurring fair value measurement, such as financial derivatives and unquoted 
financial assets, and for non-recurring measurement, such as assets held for sale in discontinued operations.  

At each reporting date, the Group analyses the movements in the values of assets and liabilities which are required to be remeasured or 
re-assessed as per the Group’s accounting policies. For this analysis, the Group verifies the major inputs applied in the latest valuation by 
agreeing the information in the valuation computation to contracts and other relevant documents. The Group also compares the change in the 
fair value of each asset and liability with relevant external sources to determine whether the change is reasonable. 

3.5 Investments in associates and joint ventures 

Associates are entities in which the Group generally has between 20% and 50% of the voting rights, or is otherwise able to exercise significant 
influence, but which it does not control or jointly control.  

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of 
the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the 
relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. 

The Group participates in the operating management of its equity accounted associates and joint ventures and intends to stay involved in 
their operations from a long-term perspective. Under the equity method, the investments in associates and joint ventures are carried in the 
consolidated statement of financial position at cost plus post acquisition changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the associate or joint 
venture. Distributions received from an investee reduce the carrying amount of the investment. Goodwill relating to the associate or joint 
venture is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is neither amortised nor individually tested for impairment.  

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income reflects the Group’s share of the results of operations of associates and joint ventures. 
Where there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associates or joint ventures, the Group recognises its share of any 
changes in the investment balance and discloses this, when applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains 
and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and the associate are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the associate or 
joint venture. 

Dividends received from equity accounted associates and joint ventures are shown in investing activities in the consolidated statement of 
cash flows. 

The share of profit and other comprehensive income of equity accounted associates and joint ventures is shown on the face of the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. This is the profit attributable to equity holders of the associates and joint ventures and 
therefore is profit after tax of the associates and joint ventures and after non-controlling interests in the subsidiaries of the associates or joint 
ventures. The Group’s share of movements in reserves is recognised in equity. However, when the Group’s share of accumulated losses in a 
equity accounted associate or joint venture equals or exceeds its interest in the associate or joint venture, the Group does not recognise 
further losses, unless the Group is obliged to make further payments to, or on behalf of, the associate or joint venture. 

The financial statements of equity accounted associates and joint ventures are prepared for the same reporting period as the Group. Where 
necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group.  

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an impairment loss on the Group’s 
investment in its associates and joint ventures. The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that the 
investment in the associate or joint venture is impaired. Determining whether the investment is impaired is based on the guidance of IFRS 9 
discussed under 3.15.6. 

If there is objective evidence that an associate or joint venture is impaired, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference 
between the recoverable amount of the associate or joint venture and its carrying value in accordance with IAS 36 (as discussed under 3.17) 
and recognises the amount of impairment in earnings under ‘Impairment losses related to equity accounted associates or joint ventures’. If the 
recoverable amount of the impaired investment subsequently increases, the related impairment is reversed to the extent of such increase.   
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3 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

3.5 Investments in associates and joint ventures (continued) 

Step acquisitions of significant influence in equity accounted associates previously classified as available-for-sale financial assets are 
accounted for using a cost-based approach whereby the investment in associate is recognised at the aggregate of (a) the historical cost of 
the available-for-sale investment and (b) the consideration transferred by the Group upon acquisition of significant influence. Any changes in 
the fair value of the available-for-sale investment are reversed through other comprehensive income upon acquisition of significant influence. 
Goodwill is calculated as a difference between (c) the cost of the investment so determined and (d) the Group’s share in the fair value of the 
investee’s net assets at the date significant influence is attained. 

Upon acquisition of an additional stake in an existing associate where control is not obtained, the fair value of the consideration transferred for 
the additional stake is allocated to the acquired share of the fair value of associate’s assets and liabilities, and the excess is recognised as 
goodwill as part of the investment in equity accounted associates. 

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint control over the joint venture, the Group measures and recognises any retained 
investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate or joint venture upon loss of significant influence or 
joint control and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit or loss. 

3.6 The Group as a lessee 

Right-of-use assets 

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the underlying asset is available for use). 
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. The cost of right-of-use assets includes 
the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement date less 
any lease incentives received. Unless the Group is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the leased asset at the end of the lease term, the 
recognised right-of-use assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term as follows: 

Premises 1 to 10 years 
Racks in data centers and optic fibre channels 1 to 10 years 

Right-of-use assets are tested for impairment. 

Lease liabilities 

At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value of lease payments to be made 
over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including in substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, 
variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease 
payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for 
terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate. The variable lease payments that do not depend on 
an index or a rate are recognised as expense in the period on which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs. 

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the 
interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to 
reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if 
there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the in-substance fixed lease payments or a change in the assessment to 
purchase the underlying asset. 

Leases of low-value assets 

The Group applies the lease of low-value assets recognition exemption to leases of office equipment that are considered of low value. Lease 
payments on leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

Accounting for short-term leases 

The Group elects not to apply simplifications for short-term leases and account for them using right-of-use asset model. 

3.6.1 The Group as a lessor 

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified as operating 
leases. Rental income arising is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included in other operating income in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an 
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental income.  
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3 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

3.7 Property and equipment 

3.7.1 Recognition and measurement 

Property and equipment are recorded at purchase or construction cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment. Interest 
costs on borrowings to finance the construction of property and equipment are capitalised, during the period of time that is required to 
complete and prepare the asset for its intended use. Expenditures for continuing repairs and maintenance are charged to earnings as incurred.  

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed assets includes the cost of 
materials and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to a working condition for its intended use, and the 
costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located. Purchased software that is integral to the 
functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment. 

When parts of an item of property and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items (major components) of 
property and equipment. 

Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property and equipment are recognised net under ‘Other non-operating gain/(loss)’ in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 

The cost of replacing part of an item of property and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of the item if it is probable that the 
future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Group and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the 
replaced part is derecognised.  

3.7.2 Depreciation and useful life 

Depreciation is calculated on property and equipment on a straight-line basis from the time the assets are available for use, over their 
estimated useful lives as follows:  

 Estimated useful life (in years) 

Servers and computers  2-5 
Furniture 7 
Buildings 30 
Office IT equipment 2-3 
Leasehold improvements Lesser of useful life or life of lease 

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate, at each financial year-end. 
The Group classifies advances paid to equipment suppliers as assets under construction in property and equipment in the consolidated 
statement of financial position. 

3.8 Intangible assets other than goodwill 

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business 
combination is their fair value as at the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any 
accumulated amortisation and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. 

3.8.1 Software development costs 

Expenditure on research activities, undertaken with the prospect of gaining new scientific or technical knowledge and understanding, 
is recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income when incurred. 

Development activities involve a plan or design for the production of new or substantially improved products and processes. Development 
expenditure is capitalised only if development costs can be measured reliably, the product or process is technically and commercially 
feasible, future economic benefits are probable, and the Group intends to and has sufficient resources to complete development and to use 
or sell the asset. The expenditure capitalised includes the cost of materials, direct labour and overhead costs that are directly attributable to 
preparing the asset for its intended use. Other development expenditure is recognised in profit or loss as incurred.  

Research and development costs that do not meet criteria for capitalisation according to IAS 38 are recognised as an expense in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income during 2022 amounted to RUB 690 (2021: RUB 859). 

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. 
All other expenditure, including expenditure on internally generated goodwill and brands, is recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 
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3 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

3.8 Intangible assets other than goodwill (continued) 

3.8.2 Useful life and amortisation of intangible assets 

The Group assesses whether the useful life of an intangible asset is finite or indefinite and, if finite, the length of, or number of production or 
similar units constituting, that useful life. An intangible asset is regarded by the entity as having an indefinite useful life when, based on an 
analysis of all of the relevant factors, there is no foreseeable limit to the period over which the asset is expected to generate net cash inflows 
for the entity. The Group did not have any intangible assets with an indefinite useful life in the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021. 

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful economic lives and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication 
that the intangible asset may be impaired.  

Amortisation periods and methods for intangible assets with finite useful lives are reviewed at least at each financial year-end. Changes in the 
expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset are accounted for by 
changing the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and treated as changes in accounting estimates.  

The estimated useful lives of the Group’s intangible assets are as follows: 

 Estimated useful life (in years) 

Patents and trademarks 7-20 
Capitalised software development costs 3 
Domain names 10 
Games 3-9 
Customer base 3-15 
Licenses and produced content 1-5 
Purchased software 1-4 

Database of authors 11 

Platform 9 

3.9 Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at banks and on hand, short-term deposits with an original maturity of three months or less and 
short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of 
changes in value. All these items are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated statement of 
financial position and consolidated statement of cash flows. 

3.10 Employee benefits 

Wages and salaries paid to employees are recognised as expenses in the current period or are capitalised as part of software development 
costs. The Group also accrues expenses for future vacation payments. 

Under provisions of Russian legislation, social contributions are made through social insurance payments calculated by the Group by the 
application of a 30% rate to the portion of the annual gross remuneration of each employee not exceeding RUB 1.565 and a rate of 15.1% to 
the portion exceeding this threshold. 

A number of subsidiaries applied the IT benefit and benefit of Skolkovo residents during 2022 on insurance premiums. For accredited IT 
organizations, reduced rates of 7.6% are provided, for Skolkovo resident companies, rates of 14% are provided. 

3.11 Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an 
outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made. Where the Group expects a 
provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when the 
reimbursement is virtually certain.  

If the effect of discounting is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected value of future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is 
used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as an interest expense. 
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3 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

3.12 Revenue recognition 

Under IFRS 15, revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for 
transferring goods or services to a customer. Revenues from services are recognised in the period when services are rendered. 

3.12.1 Online advertising 

Promo posts in social networks, video and banner advertising space for display advertising is sold on a dynamic basis (i.e., a function of time 
that an advertisement lasts) or a static basis (i.e., according to the number of page views on an advertisement). The Group has standard rates 
for online advertisements that depend on several factors, including the specific web page on which the banner appears, the length of the 
contract, the season, and the format, size and position of the advertisement. Display advertising revenue is recognised as the services are 
provided (i.e., as per page view for dynamic banners and over the contractual term for static banners). For display advertising sold through 
some third party advertising agencies, revenue generally is recognised net of any portion attributable to the third parties. For arrangements 
related to display advertising where the Group does not control advertising services before these services are transferred to end customers, 
and hence, the Group is an agent rather than a principal in these contracts and recognises revenue on net basis.  

The Group earns revenues for search context advertising through partnerships with third parties. Once a user carries out a search on certain of 
the Group’s websites, search results and advertisement links are displayed on the webpage based on relevancy to the search topic and other 
known user parameters. When clicked on by the user, the advertisement links lead to sites owned by the third parties’ advertising customers, 
for which the third party receives a fee, a portion of which it shares with the Group. Context advertising revenue is recognised as the services 
are provided (i.e., upon “click-through”, which is when a user clicks on an advertiser’s listing) on a net basis. This type of context advertising 
revenues is based on reports provided by third parties. 

Context advertising also includes mobile monetization revenue related to the placement of target advertising, display advertising and 
advertising through integration in applications, advertising thought offers on the Group’s applications. The revenue from mobile monetization 
is recognised on a net basis (gross revenue less advertising networks fee) 

Context advertising also includes revenue related to the placement of target advertising, display advertising and advertising through 
integration in applications, advertising thought offers on the Group’s websites and in applications, advertising via networks comprising 
advertising banners placement on third party websites and advertising on the Group’s site communities pages. The revenue from advertising 
in applications, on the web pages of communities and via networks is recognised on a gross basis with costs and commissions paid to 
third party owners and administrators of websites, applications, platforms and communities recognised in “Agent/partner fees”. 

3.12.2 Internet value-added services (“IVAS”) 

Revenue from IVAS is derived from a variety of Internet-based services, including communication products and online games.  

3.12.2.1 Revenue from MMO games 

The Group operates its games mainly under the free-to-play game model. The Group derives its online game revenue from in-game virtual 
items representing additional functionality and features for the game players’ characters purchased by game players to play the Group’s MMO 
games and casual games. The amounts of cash or receivables from payment systems for cash from the users, net of short messaging service 
operators, are not recognised as revenues and are credited to deferred revenue. They are then converted by the players into in-game points. 
In-game points are used to purchase in-game items. Under the item-based revenue model, revenues are recognised over the life of the 
in-game virtual items that game players purchase or as the in-game virtual items are consumed. Deferred revenue is reduced as revenues are 
recognised. The estimated life span of in-game items is determined based on historical player usage patterns and playing behaviour. 

The Group enters into licensing arrangements with overseas licensees to operate the Group’s games in other countries and regions. These 
licensing agreements provide two separate elements, each having commercial substance: the initial non-refundable fees and the usage-
based royalty fees. The initial non-refundable payment represents the license of the game and is recognised as license revenue immediately 
once the games are launched into commercial use by the licensees. Ongoing usage-based royalties determined based on the amount of 
money charged to the players’ accounts or services payable by players in a given country or region to the licensees are recognised when they 
are earned, provided that the collection is probable. 

3.12.2.2 Community IVAS 

The Group derives Community IVAS revenues through certain communication products, where users pay a fee for the paid content and online 
services, mainly through social networking web sites and through the commission from third party developers of the various applications 
placed on social networking web sites, including games, based on the respective applications’ revenue. The fees for such services are 
collected from customers using various payment channels, including bank cards, online payment systems and mobile operators and from the 
applications developers. The mobile network operators collect fees for such services from their customers, usually through mobile short 
message services (“SMS”), and pass such fees to the Group. Revenue is recognised over time as the benefits are received and consumed by 
customers.  
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3 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

3.12 Revenue recognition (continued) 

Revenues from third party applications and developers on the Group’s platforms are recognised net of commission to mobile operators and 
any portion attributable to the developer of the application, at the time when customer payment is due.  

Revenues from services including games developed by the Group and operated on third party platforms are reported gross as the services 
are provided net of commission to mobile operators. If the amount of revenue is measured based on third party data, such amounts of 
revenue are recorded based on the best available data at the date of issuance of the consolidated financial statements. 

3.12.3 Education Technology services (EdTech) revenue 

The Group generates revenue from the sale of online education courses and professional training programs provided via customized in-house 
educational platforms directly to customers (learners). Services provided during the course may include: online educational materials, lectures 
and webinars, services to control the educational process (homework review and examinations revision) and other related services (job 
placement program, supporting services and hosting). Contracts with customers are billed in advance and require payment by the customer 
prior to accessing any course content without any free trial period. After the purchase and checkout, customers receive a lifetime license to 
access the course’s digital content in addition to the unlimited access to the platform’s online services and the content.  

The pre-recorded courses and professional training programs are based on the pre-recorded content, which is available to a customer for 
unlimited period from the moment of getting access to the education platform and the purchased course or professional training program. 
Such courses and professional training programs do not include obligatory webinars, and customers have opportunity to study the materials in 
their own timeline. 

Sales are made under the Group’s standard terms specified in contracts. The time between the customer’s payment and the receipt of funds 
usually does not exceed one day. Payment terms are fixed and do not include variable consideration. Revenue is recognised net of refunds, 
discounts and value added tax. 

Performance obligations committed in a contract are identified based on the services that will be transferred to the customer that are both 
capable of being distinct, whereby the customer can benefit from the service either on its own or together with other resources that are 
readily available from third parties or from the Group, and are distinct in the context of the contract, whereby the transfer of the services and 
the products is separately identifiable from other promises in the contract. 

Revenue is recognised at the time the related performance obligation is satisfied by transferring the control of the promised service to a 
customer. Revenue is recognised in an amount that reflects the consideration that the Group expects to receive in exchange for those 
services. The Group has a stand-ready obligation to deliver its services continually throughout the contract period, which is unlimited in 
respect of the access to the content and education platforms. As such, the Group recognizes revenue on a straight-line basis as it satisfies 
the performance obligation over the customers’ period of studying which is determined based on the program duration (for live webinar 
programs) or estimated based on historical customer activity patterns and studying behavior (for pre-recorded courses and professional 
training programs). 

3.12.4 Other revenue 

Other revenues primarily consist of classifieds revenue, non-advertising B2B big data services,database software implementation and support 
services, listing fees and dividends from venture investments. 

3.13 Income taxes 

The Company as a Cypriot tax resident is not subject to tax on capital gains and withholding taxes. However, in some jurisdictions where the 
Company’s subsidiaries and associates are incorporated (particularly in Russia), investment income is subject to withholding tax deducted at 
the source of the income. The Group presents the withholding tax separately from the gross dividend income in the consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income and the consolidated statement of cash flows. 

The Group is also subject to taxation in Russia, the Netherlands and some other jurisdictions its subsidiaries operate in (see also Note 20). 

Current income tax  

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid 
to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the 
reporting date. Current income tax relating to items recognised directly in other comprehensive income is recognised in other comprehensive 
income and not in profit or loss.  
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3.13 Income taxes (continued) 

Deferred income tax 

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting 
purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised for the following temporary differences: the initial 
recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or 
loss, and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities to the extent that it is probable that they will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future. In addition, deferred tax is not recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition 
of goodwill. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, based on 
the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a 
legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the 
same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and 
liabilities will be realised simultaneously.  

A deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences, to the extent that it is probable 
that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised. 

3.14 Share-based payment transactions 

Employees (including senior executives) of the Group and its associates (each of which a “share-based payment recipient”), may receive 
remuneration in the form of share-based payment transactions, whereby share-based payment recipients render services as consideration for 
equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”) or a cash equivalent thereof (“cash-settled share-based payments”). 

If the Group has a choice to settle share-based payments in cash or in equity, the entire transaction is treated either as cash-settled or as 
equity-settled, depending on whether or not the Group has a present obligation to settle in cash. 

3.14.1 Equity-settled transactions 

The cost of equity-settled transactions with share-based payment recipients for awards granted is measured by reference to the fair value of 
the awards at the date on which they are granted. The fair value is determined using an appropriate pricing model (Black-Scholes-Merton, 
binomial, Monte-Carlo or other).  

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the 
performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant share based payment recipients become fully 
entitled to the award (“the vesting date”). The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date until the 
vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments 
that will ultimately vest. The expense or credit for a period recognised in profit or loss represents the movement in cumulative expense 
recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.  

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest based on estimated forfeiture rates or as actual forfeitures occur for groups 
of employee where we cannot make reliable estimates.  

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, the minimum expense recognised is the expense as if the terms had not been 
modified. An additional expense is recognised for any modification, which increases the total fair value of the share-based payment 
arrangement, or is otherwise beneficial to the share-based payment recipient as measured at the date of modification.  

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised 
for the award is recognised immediately. This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within the control of either the entity or the 
counterparty are not met. However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award, and designated as a replacement award on the date 
that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original award, as described in the preceding 
paragraph. 

The dilutive effect, if any, of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of diluted earnings per share 
(Note 21). 

3.14.2 Cash-settled transactions 

The cost of cash-settled transactions is measured initially at fair value at the grant date using a binomial model, further details of which are 
provided in Note 28. This fair value is expensed over the period until the vesting date with recognition of a corresponding liability. The liability 
is remeasured to fair value at each reporting date up to, and including the settlement date, with changes in fair value recognised in ‘Personnel 
expenses’ in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 
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3.14 Share-based payment transactions (continued) 

3.14.3 Accounting for the change in form of settlement of share-based payments 

As a result of modification of share-based payment awards from equity-settled to cash-settled the Group recognises a share-based payment 
expense which comprises as a minimum the following elements:  

• The grant date fair value of the original equity-settled award; plus 

• Any incremental fair value arising from the modification of that award; plus 

• Any remeasurement of the liability between its fair value at modification date and the amount finally settled.  

At the date of modification a liability is recognised based on the fair value of the cash−settled award as at that date and the extent to which 
the vesting period has expired.  

The corresponding debit is taken to equity only to the extent of the fair value of the original equity-settled award as at the date of 
modification. Any incremental fair value of the cash-settled award over the equity-settled award as at the modification date is expensed 
immediately on modification to the extent that the vesting period has expired. The remainder of any incremental value is expensed over the 
period from the date of modification to the date of settlement.  

The total fair value of the cash-settled award is remeasured through profit or loss on an ongoing basis between the date of modification and 
the date of settlement. 

3.15 Financial instruments 

3.15.1 Initial recognition and measurement 

Financial assets within the scope of IFRS 9 are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, financial assets through other 
comprehensive income or financial assets at amortised cost, as appropriate.  

Financial liabilities within the scope of IFRS 9 are classified as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and financial liabilities at 
amortised cost as appropriate. 

The Group determines the classification of its financial assets and liabilities at initial recognition. All financial assets are recognised initially at 
fair value plus, in the case of investments not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs. At initial recognition, 
the Group measures trade receivables at their transaction price (as defined in IFRS 15) if the trade receivables do not contain a significant 
financing component in accordance with IFRS 15. Financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and 
borrowings, directly attributable transaction costs.  

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are ‘solely payments of 
principal and interest (SPPI)’ on the principal amount outstanding. This assessment is referred to as the SPPI test and is performed at an 
instrument level. The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate 
cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, 
or both. 

The Group’s financial assets include cash and cash equivalents, short-term time deposits, trade and other receivables, financial investments in 
venture capital investees (as defined under 3.20), and derivative financial assets, mainly over equity instruments of the Group’s investees. 
The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, loans and borrowings, and derivative financial liabilities, mainly over equity 
instruments of the Group’s associates and subsidiaries. None of the derivative financial instruments held by the Group were designated as 
effective hedging instruments. 

3.15.2 Subsequent measurement 

The subsequent measurement of financial instruments depends on their classification. The Group classifies its financial assets and liabilities 
into the categories below in accordance with IFRS 9, as follows: 

3.15.2.1 Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit and loss are carried in the consolidated statement of financial position at fair value. 
The changes in their fair value are recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income under ‘Net gain on financial assets and 
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss’. 
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3.15 Financial instruments (continued) 

3.15.2.2 Financial assets and liabilities at amortised cost 

The Group measures financial assets at amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met: 

• The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows; and 

• The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest 
on the principal amount outstanding. 

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest rate (EIR) method and are subject to impairment. 
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired. 

After initial recognition, interest bearing loans and borrowings and other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the EIR method. Gains and losses are recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income when the liabilities are 
derecognised as well as through the amortisation process.  

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the 
EIR. The EIR amortisation is included in ‘Finance expenses’ in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 

3.15.2.3 Contingent consideration 

Contingent consideration recognised by the Group in a business combination to which IFRS 3 applies is subsequently measured at fair value 
with changes recognised in profit or loss under ‘Net gain on financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss’. 

Contingent consideration includes the liabilities shown in the consolidated statement of financial position under ‘Other payables, accrued 
expenses and contingent consideration liabilities’.  

3.15.3 Derecognition 

A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is de-recognised where: 

• The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or 

• The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows 
in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and 

• Either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor 
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset. 

The Group de-recognises a financial liability when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires. 

3.15.4 Offsetting of financial instruments 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statement of financial position if, and only if, 
there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the 
assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously. 

3.15.5 Fair value of financial instruments 

The fair value of financial instruments that are actively traded in organised financial markets is determined by reference to quoted market bid 
prices at the close of business on the reporting date. For financial instruments where there is no active market, fair value is determined using 
valuation techniques. Such techniques may include: using recent arm’s length market transactions; reference to the current fair value of 
another instrument that is substantially the same; discounted cash flow analysis or other valuation models. 

An analysis of fair values of financial instruments and further details as to how they are measured are provided in Note 24. 

3.15.6 Impairment of financial assets 

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss. 
ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the 
Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash 
flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.  

For trade receivables the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based 
on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.   
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3.15 Financial instruments (continued) 

3.15.6.1 Financial assets carried at amortised cost 

For financial assets carried at amortised cost (loans and receivables), evidence of impairment may include indications that the debtor or a 
group of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that 
they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and where observable data indicate that there is a measurable decrease in the 
estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults. 

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future expected credit losses that have not yet been 
incurred) discounted using the asset’s original EIR. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and 
the amount of the loss is recognised in profit or loss as a ‘Bad debt expense’ in ‘Other operating expenses’. The allowance is estimated based 
on a combination of specific accounts and general ageing analysis. 

Trade accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount and are non-interest bearing. Credit is only granted to customers after a 
review of credit history. 

3.16  Foreign currency translation 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in RUB, which is the Group’s presentation currency, and all values are rounded to the 
nearest million (RUB ‘000000) except per share information and unless otherwise indicated. Each entity in the Group determines its own 
functional currency and items included in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency. The functional 
currency of the Group’s Russian subsidiaries and associates as well as the Company itself is RUB.  

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency at the rate ruling at the date of transaction. Monetary assets 
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the measurement currency rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date. All 
resulting differences are taken to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income and included in the determination of net profit as 
‘Net foreign exchange (losses)/gains’. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated 
using the exchange rate as at the date of initial transaction.  

As at the reporting date, the assets and liabilities of the Company, its subsidiaries and joint venture with functional currencies other than the 
RUB are translated into the presentation currency of the Group (RUB) at the rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date and their operations 
are translated at exchange rates prevailing at the date of the transactions. The exchange differences arising on the translation are recognised 
in other comprehensive income 

3.17 Impairment of non-financial assets and investments in equity accounted associates and joint ventures 

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any indication exists, or when 
annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the 
higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s (“CGU”) fair value less costs to sell and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, 
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. Where the 
carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable 
amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In determining fair value less costs to sell, 
an appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted share prices for publicly traded 
companies or other available fair value indicators. 

Impairment losses are recognised in earnings in those expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset. 

For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognised 
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the Group estimates the asset’s or cash-generating 
unit’s recoverable amount. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions used to 
determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of 
the asset does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or 
amortisation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in earnings. 

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually and when circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. 

Impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing the recoverable amount of each CGU (or group of CGUs) to which the goodwill relates. 
Where the recoverable amount of the CGU is less than its carrying amount an impairment loss is recognised. Impairment losses relating to 
goodwill cannot be reversed in future periods. 
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3.18 Earnings per share 

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (“EPS”) data for its ordinary and Class A shares. Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the 
profit or loss attributable to shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period, adjusted 
for own shares held.  

Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to shareholders and the weighted average number of shares outstanding, 
adjusted for own shares held, for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares, which may comprise share options granted to employees 
of the Group.  

3.19 Segment reporting 

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses, 
including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group’s other components. An operating segment’s operating 
results are reviewed regularly by the Group’s chief operating decision maker (“CODM”) to make decisions about resources to be allocated to 
the segment and assess its performance, and for which discrete financial information is available.  

Segment results that are reported to the CODM include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a 
reasonable basis. 

3.20 Financial investments in venture capital investees 

Financial investments in venture capital investees, are the Group’s investments in start-up Internet ventures and smaller Internet companies in 
Russia, Ukraine and Israel with ownership ranging from 1.5% to 50% and which gives the Group significant influence in some of these 
investments. They form the Group’s venture capital portfolio and are monitored and managed exclusively on the basis of their fair values. 
The Group’s involvement in the operating management of the investees is limited, and the possibility of the Group maintaining a specific 
financial investment in its investment portfolio in the long run is remote. Financial investments in such associates are carried in the 
consolidated statement of financial position at fair value even though the Group may exert significant influence over those companies. 
This treatment is permitted by IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures, which allows investments held by venture capital 
organisations to be excluded from its scope where those investments are designated, upon initial recognition, as at fair value through profit or 
loss and accounted for in accordance with IFRS 9, with changes in fair value recognised in consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
in the period of the change. Accounting policies of the Group with respect to financial investments in associates are discussed in more detail 
under Note 3.15 above as part of the Group’s accounting policies with respect to financial assets. 

3.21 Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations 

The Group classifies non-current assets and disposal groups as held for sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally through a 
sale transaction rather than through continuing use. Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale are measured at the 
lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. Costs to sell are the incremental costs directly attributable to the disposal of an 
asset (disposal group), excluding finance costs and income tax expense. 

The criteria for held for sale classification is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable, and the asset or disposal group is available 
for immediate sale in its present condition. Actions required to complete the sale should indicate that it is unlikely that significant changes to 
the sale will be made or that the decision to sell will be withdrawn. Management must be committed to the plan to sell the asset and the sale 
expected to be completed within one year from the date of the classification. 

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are not depreciated or amortised once classified as held for sale. 

Assets and liabilities classified as held for sale are presented separately in the consolidated statement of financial position. 

A disposal group qualifies as discontinued operation if it is a component of an entity that either has been disposed of, or is classified as held 
for sale, and: 

• Represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations 

• Is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations; or 

• Is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale. 

Discontinued operations are excluded from the results of continuing operations and are presented as a single amount as profit or loss after tax 
from discontinued operations in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 

In cases the Group ceases to classify the asset (or disposal group) as held for sale then the asset is measured at the lower of: 

• Its carrying amount before the asset (or disposal group) was classified as held for sale, adjusted for any depreciation, amortisation or 
revaluations that would have been recognised had the asset (or disposal group) not been classified as held for sale; and 

• Its recoverable amount at the date of the subsequent decision not to sell.  
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3 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

3.21 Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations (continued) 

The Group includes any required adjustment to the carrying amount of a non-current asset that ceases to be classified as held for sale in profit 
or loss from continuing operations in the period in which the criteria of classification as asset held for sale are no longer met. Financial 
statements for the periods since classification as held for sale was applied are amended accordingly.  

4 Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the reporting dates and the reported 
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in 
outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in future periods. 

4.1 Judgments 

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgments which have the most significant 
effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements: 

4.1.1 Investments in associates and joint ventures 

The Company directly or indirectly owned up to 50% in certain of its investments. Based on its voting rights and restrictions in the respective 
governing documents, the Group made judgments about whether it has control or significant influence over these investments. Subsequently, 
these entities are either accounted for as subsidiaries (consolidated) or associates (accounted for under the equity method or as financial 
assets at fair value through profit or loss). 

Under the equity method, the investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised at cost. The carrying amount of the investment is 
adjusted to recognise changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the associate or joint venture since the acquisition date. Goodwill relating 
to the associate or joint venture is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is not tested for impairment separately. 

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income reflects the Group’s share of the results of operations of the associate or joint venture. 
Any change in OCI of those investees is presented as part of the Group’s OCI. In addition, when there has been a change recognised directly 
in the equity of the associate or joint venture, the Group recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated statement 
of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and the associate or joint venture are 
eliminated to the extent of the interest in the associate or joint venture.  

The aggregate of the Group’s share of profit or loss of an associate and a joint venture is shown on the face of the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income outside operating profit and represents profit or loss after tax and noncontrolling interests in the subsidiaries of the 
associate or joint venture.  

The financial statements of the associate or joint venture are prepared for the same reporting period as the Group. When necessary, 
adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group.  

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an impairment loss on its investment in its 
associate or joint venture. At each reporting date, the Group determines whether there is objective evidence that the investment in the 
associate or joint venture is impaired. If there is such evidence, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the 
recoverable amount of the associate or joint venture and its carrying value, and then recognises the loss within ‘Impairment of equity 
accounted associates ‘ in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.  

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint control over the joint venture, the Group measures and recognises any retained 
investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate or joint venture upon loss of significant influence or 
joint control and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit or loss. 

4.1.2 Consolidation of a structured entity 

In November 2010, the Company established, as settlor, an employee benefit trust (the “Trust”) under a Trust Deed dated November 11, 2010 
(“Trust Deed”), the trustee of which is Mail.ru Employee Benefit Trustees Limited (the “Trustee”). The purpose of the Trust consists in holding 
trust funds for present and former employees and consultants and related persons long-term incentive plans. 

4.1.3 Accounting treatment of share-based payments where the Group has a choice to settle in cash or equity 

The Group has wide discretion over the manner of settlement of options issued and determines the accounting treatment of the options 
based on whether the Group has a present obligation to settle in cash. Specifically, any option holder granted an aggregate of 20,000 or more 
options was only allowed to exercise the respective portion options in the form of GDRs, while exercises by the optionees granted a smaller 
cumulative number of options can continue to be in GDRs or cash at the Group’s discretion. The terms of the option plan and past exercise 
history make it reasonable to expect cash settlement of most of the smaller option exercises, even though the Group continues to have 
discretion over the way of option exercise settlement. Larger than cumulative 20,000 options per person continue to be accounted for as 
equity awards.  
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4 Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions (continued) 

4.2 Estimates and assumptions 

Significant estimates and assumptions reflected in the Group’s consolidated financial statements include, but are not limited to the following: 

• Revenue recognition; 

• Fair value of financial instruments; 

• Useful lives of intangible assets; 

• Software development costs; 

• Impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets;  

• Fair value of assets and liabilities in business combinations; and 

• Recoverability of deferred tax assets. 

Actual results could materially differ from those estimates. 

The key assumptions concerning the future events and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date that have a 
significant risk of a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below. 

4.2.1 Revenue recognition 

In-game items 

Deferred revenue is recognised as revenue over the estimated life span of the in-game items purchased or as the in-game items purchased 
with the game points are consumed. The estimated life span of in-game items is determined based on historical player usage patterns and 
playing behaviour. Future usage patterns may differ from the historical usage patterns on which the Group’s revenue recognition policy is 
based. The Group monitors the operational statistics and usage patterns of its online games and modifies the expected life span when 
materially different. 

Other significant judgements that significantly affect the determination of the amount and timing of revenue from contracts with customers in 
accordance with IFRS 15 include (i) the timing of satisfaction of performance obligations and (ii) the transaction price and the amounts 
allocated to performance obligations. 

EdTech 

The pre-recorded courses and professional training programs are based on the pre-recorded content, which is available to a customer for 
unlimited period from the moment of getting access to the education platform and the purchased course or professional training program. 
Such courses and professional training programs do not include obligatory webinars, and customers have opportunity to study the materials in 
their own timeline. 

The Group considers internally available historical data for the past 2 years to estimate the customers’ period of studying. The Group analyzes 
the historical activity patterns of customers who purchased the pre-recorded courses and professional training programs. To assess the 
customers’ period of studying for the pre-recorded courses and professional training programs, the Group calculates the length of the period 
starting from the date when the customer receives control of the education materials until the latest date the customer is active on the 
education platform, to arrive at the best estimate for period of studying. The Group applies stratified approach splitting the learners into 
strata by the period of studying based on the historical data. The Group recognizes revenue for each stratum ratably over the estimated 
period of studying. 

4.2.2 Fair value of financial instruments 

Where the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position cannot be derived 
from active markets, they are determined using valuation techniques including the discounted cash flows model. The inputs to these models 
are taken from observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, estimates and assumptions have to be made, and a degree 
of judgment has to be applied in establishing fair values. The judgments, estimates and assumptions include considerations of inputs such as 
liquidity risk, credit risk and volatility. Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect the reported fair value of financial instruments. 

The expected volatility in the pricing models used to measure the fair value of the derivative financial assets and liabilities is determined by 
reference to peer companies’ historical volatility, as the issuers of the underlying equity instruments are not public. When determining risk-free 
rates to be used in the pricing models, regard is given to US Treasury bonds or Russian government bonds with maturities equal to the 
expected terms of the respective derivative financial instruments. 

Detailed information on the fair values of the Group’s financial instruments is available in Note 24. 
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4 Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions (continued) 

4.2 Estimates and assumptions (continued) 

4.2.3 Useful life of intangible assets 

The Group estimates remaining useful lives of its intangible assets at least once a year at the reporting date. If the estimation differs from 
the previous estimations, the changes are accounted for in accordance with IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and 
Errors. These estimates may have a significant impact on the carrying value of intangible assets and amortisation, charged to earnings. 
The carrying value of intangible assets is disclosed in Note 7. 

4.2.4 Software development costs 

Software development costs are capitalised in accordance with the accounting policy described in Note 3.8.1 Initial capitalisation of costs is 
based on management’s judgment that technological and economical feasibility is confirmed, usually when a product development project 
has reached a defined milestone according to an established project management model. In determining the amounts to be capitalised 
management makes assumptions regarding the expected future cash generation of the assets, discount rates to be applied and the expected 
period of benefits.  

4.2.5 Impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets 

Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair 
value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The fair value less costs of disposal calculation is based on available data from binding sales 
transactions, conducted at arm’s length, for similar assets or observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. 
The value in use calculation is based on a discounted cash flow (“DCF”) model. The cash flows are derived from management forecast. 
The recoverable amount is sensitive to the discount rate used for the DCF model as well as the growth rate used for extrapolation purposes. 
The key assumptions used to determine the recoverable amount for the different CGUs are disclosed and further explained in Notes 7 and 8. 

4.2.6 Fair value of assets and liabilities in business combinations 

At the acquisition date the Group recognises separately the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired or assumed in a 
business combination as well as contingent considerations at their fair values, which involves estimates. Such estimates are based on valuation 
methods that require considerable judgment in forecasting future cash flows and developing other assumptions. 

4.2.7 Share-based payments 

Management estimates the fair value of equity-settled stock options at the date of grant and the fair value of cash-settled options at each 
reporting date using the Black-Scholes-Merton, binominal, Monte-Carlo or other option pricing models, as applicable. The option pricing 
models were originally developed for use in estimating the fair value of traded options, which have different characteristics than the Group’s 
stock options granted by the Company. The models are also sensitive to changes in the subjective assumptions, which can materially affect 
the fair value estimate. These subjective assumptions include expected volatility, dividend yield, risk-free interest and forfeiture rates. 

4.2.8 Deferred taxes on undistributed earnings 

Deferred tax is recognised based on estimated dividends distributions of Company’s subsidiaries taking into account limitation of cash and 
cash equivalents available at the reporting date. 

4.2.9 Changes in estimates 

MMO Games revenue 

In Q4 2021, the Group enhanced the granularity of the data relating to the patterns of how the in-game items are consumed by paying game 
players and further refined its estimate of the performance obligation satisfaction period in relation to virtual in-game items. This update was 
recorded prospectively starting from October 1, 2021 and resulted in an increase in revenue and a decrease in deferred MMO Games revenue 
estimated at RUB 852. 

In Q4 2022, the Group has performed similar update based on information received during 2022, this update was recorded prospectively 
starting from October 1, 2022 and resulted in an increase in revenue and a decrease in deferred MMO Games revenue estimated at RUB 191. 

  

2022   Annual Report90 Appendices



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 

VK 2022 Results 34 

4 Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions (continued) 

4.2 Estimates and assumptions (continued) 

EdTech revenue 

In Q4 2021, the Group considered internally available historical data for the past 2 years to estimate the customers’ period of studying. 
The Group analysed the historical activity patterns of customers who purchased the pre-recorded courses and professional training programs. 
To assess the customers’ period of studying for the pre-recorded courses and professional training programs, the Group calculated the length 
of the period starting from the date when the customer receives control of the education materials until the latest date the customer is active 
on the education platform, to arrive at the best estimate for period of studying.  

The Group applied stratified approach splitting the learners into strata by the period of studying based on the historical data. The Group 
recognised revenue for each stratum ratably over the estimated period of studying. This update was recorded prospectively starting from 
October 1, 2021 and resulted in an increase in revenue and a decrease in deferred EdTech revenue estimated at RUB 1,554 as at December 31, 
2021. 

4.2.10 Significant judgement in determining the lease term of contracts with renewal options 

The Group determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any periods covered by an option to extend the 
lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or any periods covered by an option to terminate the lease, if it is reasonably certain not to be 
exercised. 

The Group applies judgement in evaluating whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the option to renew. That is, it considers all relevant 
factors that create an economic incentive for it to exercise the renewal. After the commencement date, the Group reassesses the lease term 
if there is a significant event or change in circumstances that is within its control and affects its ability to exercise (or not to exercise) the 
option to renew (e.g., a change in business strategy). 

4.2.11 Significant judgement in determining incremental borrowing rate  

For the interest rate the Group obtained estimation from banks and compared it to the interest rate swap applicable for currency of the lease 
contract and for similar tenor, corrected by the average credit spread of entities with rating similar to the Group’s rating. As of December 31, 
2022 the rate is close to 8.2% for weighted average lease duration. Duration for discount rate is based on weighted average lease period 
(6.2 years for January 1, 2022). The discount rate is applied to all lease contracts. 

5 Operating segments 

In order to assess operational performance and allocate resources, the Chief Executive Officer of the Group, who is the Group’s Chief 
Operating Decision Maker (CODM), reviews selected items of each segment’s statement of comprehensive income, assuming 100% 
ownership in all of the Group’s key operating subsidiaries, based on management reporting.  

In our effort to further enhance our reporting quality and transparency, the Group’s aggregate segment financial information previously 
presented in the form of management (CODM) accounts has been transformed starting from 2022. In addition to IFRS-based disclosure, we 
have reported adjusted metrics, which are used in the management decision making process, with a clear transition between IFRS-based 
results and adjusted metrics to be provided, including within segmental disclosure. 

Revenue in Segments Performance correspond with revenue according to IFRS. To supplement the financial information prepared and 
presented in accordance with IFRS, we have presented the following non-IFRS financial measures: Adjusted EBITDA. 

Additionally, since 2022 the Group has changed its approach to allocation of corporate services expenses. The Group has analyzed the 
functionality of key services and defined appropriate drivers to allocate expenses of each service. Previously the Group applied a single driver 
in allocation of all corporate services expenses, based on the share of each segment in direct costs. 

Certain corporate expenses are considered non-allocated items: allocations now exclude services that are mostly related to general group 
issues, as well as expenses that cannot be tied to a particular business unit, such as Public Relations, Investor Relations, Government Relations, 
and certain other services. Comparative period numbers for each segment have also been restated in line with the current allocation approach 
for comparability purposes.  

The “Social networks & content services” segment includes email, instant messaging services, News and Zen platform, recommendation 
platforms Pulse, as well as Portal (main page and media projects), VK Music, VK Calls, VK Videos, VK Mini Apps projects. The main share of 
revenue for this segment is generated from advertising. This segment includes the social network VKontakte, Odnoklassniki, My World and 
generates revenue from (1) commissions from application developers based on the respective applications’ revenue, (2) user payments for 
virtual gifts, stickers and music subscriptions, and (3) the placement of online advertising. 
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5 Operating segments (continued) 

The businesses within this segment have similar nature and economic characteristics as they are associated with social media, content and 
online communication services, offer products and services to similar customer groups, and regulated in a similar regulatory environment. 

The “EdTech” segment includes the Group’s online education platforms with educational courses and programs (such as GeekBrains, Skillbox, 
Skillfactory and others), and earns substantially all revenue from individuals paying for education courses, as well as a small share of the B2B 
segment. 

The “VK Tech” segment includes VK Cloud platforms and data management solutions, corporate communication services, tax monitoring 
platform, and other corporate software. 

The “New business lines” segment represents separate operating segments aggregated into one reportable segment because of their similar nature 
of newly acquired or newly launched and dynamically developing businesses. This segment consists primarily of Youla classifieds, which derives 
substantially all of its revenues consists of fees for placing and promoting user advertising, as well as displaying advertising, the VK Play gaming 
platform, the Marusia voice assistant and VK Capsule smart speakers, and the RuStore app store for mobile devices. 

The Group measures performance of its operating segments through a measure of earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation 
(adjusted EBITDA). Segment adjusted EBITDA is calculated as the respective segment’s revenue less operating expenses (excluding 
depreciation and amortisation and impairment of non-financial assets), including Group corporate expenses allocated to the respective 
segment. 

Adjusted EBITDA is not a measure of financial performance under IFRS. The calculation of adjusted EBITDA by the Group may be different 
from the calculations of similarly labeled measures used by other companies, and it should therefore not be used to compare one company 
against another or as a substitute for analysis of the Group’s operating results as reported under IFRS. Adjusted EBITDA is not a direct measure 
of the Group’s liquidity, nor is it an alternative to cash flows from operating activities as a measure of liquidity, and it needs to be considered in 
the context of the Group’s financial commitments. Adjusted EBITDA may not be indicative of the Group’s historical operating results, nor is it 
meant to be predictive of the Group’s potential future results. The Group believes that adjusted EBITDA provides useful information to the 
users of the consolidated financial statements because it is an indicator of the strength and performance of the Group’s ongoing business 
operations, including the Group’s ability to fund discretionary spending such as capital expenditure, acquisitions and other investments and 
the Group’s ability to incur and service debt. 

The information about the breakdown of revenue from external customers by the customers’ country of domicile and non-current assets by 
country is not available to the management of the Group, and it considers that the cost to develop such information would be excessive. 

The statement of comprehensive income items for each segment for the years ended December 31, 2022, as presented to the CODM, are 
stated below: 

Segments 
Social networks & 
content services EdTech VK Tech 

New  
business lines Not allocated 

Elimination of 
intragroup 

transactions Group 

Revenue 75,116 11,274 5,778 6,300 31 (729) 97,770 

Total operating expenses (49,847) (10,937) (4,618) (10,628) (7,680) 729 (82,981) 

Adjustments        
Share-based payment transactions − − − − 5,186 − 5,186 

Adjusted EBITDA 25,269 337 1,160 (4,328) (2,463) − 19,975 

The statement of comprehensive income items for each segment for the year ended December 31, 2021, as presented to the CODM, are 
stated below (restated): 

Segments 
Social networks & 
content services EdTech VK Tech 

New  
business lines Not allocated 

Elimination of 
intragroup 

transactions Group 

Revenue 61,662 10,841 3,164 6,694 - (379) 81,982 

Total operating expenses (37,277) (12,191) (3,055) (9,297) (4,297) 379 (65,738) 

Adjustments        
Share-based payment transactions − − − − 2,091 − 2,091 

Adjusted EBITDA 24,385 (1,350) 109 (2,603) (2,206) − 18,335 
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5 Operating segments (continued) 
  2022 2021 

Group adjusted EBITDA 19,975 18,335 
Share-based payment transactions (5,186) (2,091) 
Depreciation and amortisation (18,113) (16,131) 
Impairment of intangible assets (1,052) (1,714) 
Share of loss of equity accounted associates and joint ventures (16,994) (21,167) 
Finance income 6,561 951 
Finance expenses (12,379) (4,229) 
Other non-operating gain/(loss)  187 (182) 
Goodwill impairment (9,681) − 
Net (loss)/gain on financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (10,486) 2,755 
Net gain on disposal of subsidiaries 13 − 
Impairment of equity accounted associates and joint ventures (13,973) (559) 
Loss on remeasurement of assets held for sale (283) − 
Gain on remeasurement of previously held interest in joint ventures and equity accounted associate 24,360 305 
Loss on remeasurement of financial instruments (123) (819) 
Expected credit loss allowance on restricted cash (2,190) − 
Net foreign exchange gain/(loss) 9,867 (1,042) 
Income tax expense (3,149) (757) 
Net profit from discontinued operations 28,736 10,648 
Other comprehensive income 976 383 

Consolidated loss after income tax expense under IFRS (2,934) (15,314) 

6 Lease contracts  

Set out below are the carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and lease liabilities and the movements during the financial year 
ending December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021: 

 Right-of-use assets  
 Premises Racks in data centers Other Total Lease liability 

As at January 1, 2022 12,027 2,801 15 14,843 15,448 
Additions 3,485 1,888 164 5,537 5,566 
Depreciation charge (3,599) (1,949) (71) (5,619) − 
Interest expense − − − − 1,180 
Payments − − − − (5,808) 
Disposals (5,126) (105) (11) (5,242) (5,878) 

As at December 31, 2022 6,787 2,635 97 9,519 10,508 

In 2022, lease liabilities payments of RUB 5,808 include payment of lease liability principal amount of RUB 4,628 and interest of RUB 1,180. 

Disposals include the disposal of a right-of-use asset of RUB 4,749 and lease liabilities of RUB 5,334 as a result of the acquisition of Linder JSC 
(Note 9.1), as well as the disposal of a right-of-use asset of RUB 226 and lease liabilities of RUB 241 as a result of the sale of subsidiaries 
(Note 13). 

 Right-of-use assets  

 Premises Racks in data centers Other Total Lease liability 

As at January 1, 2021 14,200 1,398 20 15,618 15,199 
Additions 1,080 3,013 48 4,141 4,032 
Depreciation charge (3,253) (1,610) (53) (4,916) − 
Interest expense − − − − 1,186 
Payments − − − − (4,969) 

As at December 31, 2021 12,027 2,801 15 14,843 15,448 

In 2021, lease liabilities payments of RUB 4,969 include payment of lease liability principal amount of RUB 3,783 and interest of RUB 1,186. 
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7 Intangible assets  

 Goodwill Trademark 
Customer  

base 

Game software 
and software 
development 

costs 

Other software, 
licenses  

and other Total 

Cost       
At January 1, 2021 147,100 15,747 21,861 16,458 13,631 214,797 
Additions − − − 2,229 5,209 7,438 
Disposals − − (4) (16) (131) (151) 
Additions due to acquisition of subsidiaries 2,814 307 − 116 1,144 4,381 
Translation adjustment (70) (68) − (112) (17) (267) 

At December 31, 2021 149,844 15,986 21,857 18,675 19,836 226,198 

Additions − − − 1,847 5,731 7,578 
Disposals − − − (3,967) (997) (4,964) 
Reclassification to assets held for sale − − − − (271) (271) 
Additions due to acquisition of subsidiaries 34,712 1,849 5,475 − 6,125 48,161 
Disposal due to sale of subsidiaries (6,334) (598) − (14,257) (96) (21,285) 
Translation adjustment − (313) − (1,930) (664) (2,907) 

At December 31, 2022 178,222 16,924 27,332 368 29,664 252,510 

Accumulated amortisation and impairment       
At January 1, 2021 (11,430) (10,826) (17,616) (9,437) (10,195) (59,504) 
Charge for the year − (1,128) (1,311) (1,925) (4,128) (8,492) 
Disposals − − − 3 130 133 
Impairment − − − (1,714) − (1,714) 
Translation adjustment − 17 − 79 21 117 

At December 31, 2021 (11,430) (11,937) (18,927) (12,994) (14,172) (69,460) 

Charge for the year − (1,141) (1,391) (976) (4,799) (8,307) 
Disposals − − − 3,963 962 4,925 
Disposal due to sale of subsidiaries − 220 − 9,273 235 9,728 
Impairment (9,681) (120) − − (932) (10,733) 
Translation adjustment − 108 − 449 140 697 

At December 31, 2022 (21,111) (12,870) (20,318) (285) (18,566) (73,150) 

Net book value       
At January 1, 2021 135,670 4,921 4,245 7,021 3,436 155,293 

At December 31, 2021 138,414 4,049 2,930 5,681 5,664 156,738 

At December 31, 2022 157,111 4,054 7,014 83 11,098 179,360 

7.1 Analysis of indicators of impairment of other intangible assets 

The Group conducted an impairment test on other intangible assets as part of its testing of CGUs disclosed in Notes 7 and 8. For other CGUs, 
the Group did not identify any indicators of impairment. 

7.2 Impairment of intangible assets 

In 2022, given the significant economic uncertainty in terms of market prospects on cloud gaming markets, as well as the expected increase in 
operating expenses related to the further development of the project, in particular the cost of servers, the Group recognised an impairment 
charge of RUB 906 against intangible assets related to Playkey cloud gaming. 

In 2022, given the significant economic uncertainty, the Group recognised an impairment charge of RUB 43 against intangible assets related to 
the CGU Native Roll. 
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8 Goodwill  

The table below shows movements in goodwill per groups of CGUs, corresponding to the Group’s operating segments for each of the years 
ended December 31, 2022 and 2021: 

Group of CGU’s 

Cost at 
December 31, 

2020 (restated) 

Change in the 
preliminary 

valuation Addition 

Cost at 
December 31, 

2021 (restated) Disposal Addition Impairment 

Cost at 
December 31, 

2022 

Vkontakte 98,272 − − 98,272 − 5,197 − 103,469 
Zen.Platform − − − − − 28,806 − 28,806 
Social Networks 20,989 − − 20,989 − 709 − 21,698 
Skillbox 1,757 − − 1,757 − − − 1,757 
Skillfactory − − 1,754 1,754 − − (636) 1,118 
Geekbrains 251 − − 251 − − − 251 
Cube 12 − − 12 − − − 12 
Email, Portal and IM 4,258 − − 4,258 − − (4,258) − 
Online Games 1,952 − − 1,952 (1,952) − − − 
33 Slona 1,720 − − 1,720 − − (1,720) − 
Pixonic  1,592 − − 1,592 (1,592) − − − 
Worki 1,565 − − 1,565 − − (1,565) − 
Deus Craft 910 (70) − 840 (840) − − − 
Panzerdog 625 − − 625 (625) − − − 
Ingame 592 − − 592 (592) − − − 
Native roll 425 − − 425 − − (425) − 
Relap 261 − − 261 − − (261) − 
Bit Games 210 − − 210 (210) − − − 
E-commerce 149 − − 149 − − (149) − 
Swag Masha 130 − − 130 (130) − − − 
Mamboo games − − 393 393 (393) − − − 
Mentorama − − 667 667 − − (667) − 

Total 135,670 (70) 2,814 138,414 (6,334) 34,712 (9,681) 157,111 

The recoverable amount of goodwill has been determined based on value-in-use calculations as of October 1, 2022 and October 1, 2021. 

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Group recognised goodwill of RUB 34,712 as a result of a business combination (Note 12), and also 
recognised the disposal of goodwill of RUB 6,334 as a result of the sale of a subsidiary of MY.GAMES HOLDINGS LTD (Cyprus) (Note 13) and 
goodwill impairment of RUB 9,681. 

Due to the full implementation of the subsidiary United Media Agency LLC in the VKontakte and Social Networks CGUs, the goodwill related 
to the UMA of CGUs was allocated between the VKontakte and Social Networks CGUs. 

8.1 Impairment testing of goodwill 

At October 1, 2021, value in use was determined using cash flow projections from financial budgets and forecasts approved by senior 
management covering a five-year period.  

The major assumptions used in the DCF models at October 1, 2022 are presented below: 

 Vkontakte Zen.Platform Social Networks Skillbox Skillfactory Geekbrains 

Terminal growth rate 5.0% 5.0% 5.0% 5.0% 5.0% 5.0% 
Pre-tax discount rate 19.6% 19.7% 20.2% 25.2% 25.1% 25.8% 

The major assumptions used in the DCF models at October 1, 2021 are presented below: 

 

Email,  
Portal and IM Social Networks Online Games Deus Craft 

E-commerce  
and EdTech Vkontakte Pixonic 

Terminal growth rate 5.0% 5.0% 5.0% 5.0% 5.0% 5.0% 5.0% 
Pre-tax discount rate 18.4% 18.6% 18.8% 22.6% 19.7% 17.9% 17.4% 

Determining value in use requires the exercise of significant judgment, including judgment about appropriate discount rates, terminal growth 
rates, the amount and timing of expected future cash flows. The cash flows employed in the DCF analysis are based on the Group’s most 
recent budget and, for years beyond the budget, the Group’s estimates, which are based on assumed growth rates. The discount rates used 
in the DCF analysis are intended to reflect the risks inherent in the future cash flows of the respective cash generating units.  
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8 Goodwill (continued) 

8.2 Impairment of goodwill 

In 1Q 2022, given the challenging market environment caused by the current geopolitical situation and related sanctions, as well as the related 
uncertainty in particular, the Group concluded that these circumstances might significantly and adversely affect the advertising and 
accordingly, the Group revised its advertising revenue projections downwards. Additionally, the significant increase in market interest rates 
has been reflected in the discount rates used by the Group in discounted cash flow models.  

As a result, the Group has recognised imparment of Goodwill for a number of CGUs. The breakdown of the impairment charge recognised by 
the Group for the year ended December 31,2022 against goodwill and the major assumptions are presened below: 

Group of CGU’s Discount rate, % Revenue growth, % Impairment charge, RUB 

Email, Portal and IM 23.4%-15.5% 5% 4,258 
Relap 23.4%-15.5% 5% 261 
E-commerce 24.0% 5% 149 
33 Slona 24.0% 5% 1,720 
Worki 24.0% 5% 1,565 
Skillfactory 24.9%-17.0% 5% 636 
Native roll 17.5% 5% 425 
Mentorama 40% 5% 667 

Total   9,681 

9 Property and equipment 

 

Servers and  
computers 

Leasehold 
improvements 

Furniture, office 
equipment and 
motor vehicles 

Assets under 
construction 

Other property 
and equipment Total 

Cost       
At January 1, 2021 21,526 1,097 630 3,540 1,456 28,249 
Additions 11 − 18 9,133 3 9,165 
Transfers 6,498 892 121 (8,020) 509 − 
Disposals (577) (484) − (5) (2) (1,068) 
Additions due to acquisition of subsidiaries 5 − − − − 5 
Translation adjustment (54) − (5) (4) (2) (65) 

At December 31, 2021 27,409 1,505 764 4,644 1,964 36,286 

Additions 129 − 15,069 15,292 5 30,495 
Reclassification 5,620 746 98 (6,960) 496 − 
Disposals (1,307) − 2 (2) (10) (1,317) 
Additions due to acquisition of subsidiaries 48 − 8 − 33 89 
Disposal due to sale of subsidiaries (547) (201) (44) (170) (57) (1,019) 
Translation adjustment (218) − (6) (32) (15) (271) 

At December 31, 2022 31,134 2,050 15,891 12,772 2,416 64,263 

Accumulated depreciation and impairment       
At January 1, 2021 (14,519) (867) (339) − (873) (16,598) 
Charge for the year (4,621) (82) (85) − (175) (4,963) 
Disposals 534 484 − − 1 1,019 
Translation adjustment 43 − 10 − 1 54 

At December 31, 2021 (18,563) (465) (414) − (1,046) (20,488) 

Charge for the year (5,316) (480) (106) − (231) (6,133) 
Disposals 800 − (3) − 3 800 
Additions due to acquisition of subsidiaries (26) − − − (4) (30) 
Disposal due to sale of subsidiaries 451 130 24 − 41 646 
Translation adjustment 176 − 7 − 9 192 

At December 31, 2022 (22,478) (815) (492) − (1,228) (25,013) 

Net book value       
At January 1, 2021 7,007 230 291 3,540 583 11,651 

At December 31, 2021 8,846 1,040 350 4,644 918 15,798 

At December 31, 2022 8,656 1,235 15,399 12,772 1,188 39,250 
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9 Property and equipment (continued) 

9.1 Acquisition of Linder JSC 

In Q4 2022, the Group acquired control of Linder JSC by purchasing 100% of shares, the amount of cash consideration was determined taking 
into account the debt of Linder JSC to the Group and third parties. 

The main purpose of the purchase is to acquire real estate, which is owned through a 100% share of Linder JSC in Achill LLC.  

In accordance with IFRS 3 Business Combinations, the Group performed a concentration test and concluded that this acquisition constitutes 
an acquisition of an asset. 

9.2 Analysis of indicators of impairment of property and equipment 

The Group conducted an impairment test for property and equipment as part of its testing of CGUs disclosed in Note 8. The Group did not 
identify any indicators of impairment for other CGUs. 

10 Consolidated subsidiaries 

These consolidated financial statements include the assets, liabilities and financial results of the Company and its subsidiaries, whose main 
activity is providing Russian-language Internet services. The significant subsidiaries as at December 31, 2022 and 2021 are listed below: 

  Ownership, %* 
Subsidiary Main activity December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021 

Mail Cooperatief UA (Netherlands)* Holding entity − 100.0% 
MRGroup Investments Limited (Cyprus)* Holding entity − 100.0% 
Mail.ru Internet Holdings B.V. (Netherlands)* Holding entity − 100.0% 
Mail.ru Aggregates B.V. (Netherlands)* Holding entity − 100.0% 
My.Games Development LLC (renamed  

from Mail.ru Development LLC) (Russia)* Research and development of online products − 100.0% 
My.com B.V. (Netherlands)* Support of online games and portal services − 100.0% 
Pixonic LLC (Russia)* Research and development of online products − 100.0% 
MY.GAMES HOLDINGS LTD (renamed  

from Pixonic Games Limited) (Cyprus)* Online games operation − 100.0% 
BEINGAME LIMITED (Cyprus)* Mobile games development − 100% 
DCGAMEPUB LIMITED (Cyprus)* Mobile games development − 51.2% 
VK Company LLC (renamed from  

Mail.Ru Group LLC) (Russia) Holding entity 100.0% 100.0% 
VK LLC (renamed from Mail.Ru LLC) (Russia)  Online portal services, development and 

support of online games, social network 100.0% 100.0% 
MGL MY.COM (CYPRUS) LIMITED (Cyprus)  Support of online games 100.0% 100.0% 
Data Centre M100 LLC (Russia) Hosting services 100.0% 100.0% 
V kontakte LLC (Russia)  Social network 100.0% 100.0% 
Skillbox LLC (Russia) Education technologies 56.25% 57.54% 
GeekBrains LLC (Russia) Education technologies 56.25% 57.54% 
Skillfactory LLC (Russia) Education technologies 35.87% 36.69% 
Zen.Platform LLC (Russia) (Note 12.3) Social network, Online advertising 100.0% − 
Medium Quality Production LLC (Russia) (Note 12.6)** Media content production 51.0% − 
Invite LLC (Russia) (Note 12.7) Online advertising 100.0% − 
ITR LLC (Russia) Holding entity 100.0% − 

* These companies were deconsolidated as a result of the sale of subsidiary holding companies MY.GAMES HOLDINGS LTD and LLC “My.Games” (Note 13.1). 

**  The Group consolidates 100% of MQP LLC on the totality of contractual relations. 

The ownership percentages above represent the Company’s effective indirect ownership in each subsidiary. 
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11 Investments in equity accounted associates and joint ventures 

The Group has investments in associates and joint ventures operating popular Internet websites and providing various services over the 
Internet. Investments in equity accounted associates and joint ventures as of December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021 comprised the 
following: 

 Main activity 

Voting shares Carrying value 

December 31,  
2022 

December 31, 
2021 

December 31,  
2022 

December 31, 
2021 

Joint ventures      
Aliexpress Russia Holding Pte. Ltd. E-commerce platform 18% 18% − 10,092 
O2O Holding LLC Russian platform in mobility and food-tech − 50% − 33,085 

Associates      
Uchi.ru LLC (Russia) Educational portal 25% 25% 2,950 3,874 
Umskul LLC Educational portal 25% 25% 959 917 
Haslop Company Limited (Cyprus)  

and Russian subsidiaries  
(collectively, “Mamba” JSC) 

Provides content for www.love.mail.ru, 
a vertical of the www.mail.ru portal 28.10% 28.10% 230 493 

Other 
   

446 460 

Total 
   

4,585 48,921 

The above entities have the same reporting date as the Company. None of the entities were listed on a public exchange as of December 31, 2022. 

Movement in investments in equity accounted associates and joint ventures for the years ended December 31, 2022 is presented below: 

  2022 

Investments in equity accounted associates and joint ventures as of January, 1 48,921 
Additional contribution to equity accounted joint ventures 2,701 
Loans converted to the share capital of joint venture 5,888 
Acquisition of shares in equity accounted associates  513 
Disposal of shares in equity accounted associates  (380) 
Disposal of equity accounted joint venture (47,377) 
Gain on remeasurement of previosly held interest in joint venture 24,360 
Share in net loss of equity accounted associates and joint ventures (16,994) 
Impairment of equity accounted associates and joint ventures (13,973) 
Dividends received from equity accounted associates (76) 
Foreign currency translation effect relating to joint venture 1,002 

Investments in equity accounted associates and joint ventures as of December, 31 4,585 

In 2022, the Group additionally contributed RUB 2,600 and converted loans receivable of RUB 5,858 and interest receivable of RUB 30 into the 
share capital of O2O JV. The Group’s share in the JV remained unchanged as another investor also converted its loans receivable from the JV 
and contributed to the share capital for the same amount.  

In 2022, the Group sold its stake in O2O Holding (JV) to another investor of this JV (Note 11.2). 

In 2022, the Group received the put notices from the holders of the put options in respect of its 10% of shares in Umschool LLC. In 
September 2022, the option agreement was canceled by agreement of the parties. The Group’s share in the Umschool remained unchanged. 

In 2022, the Group acquired a 25% interest in Goodt LLC (hereinafter “GoodData”) for a cash consideration of RUB 133. In accordance with 
IAS 28, the Group accounts for the investments in GoodData as an investments in equity accounted associates. 

In 2022, the Group made additional contributions in the amount of RUB 101 in Digital Education (JV). The Group’s share in the JV remained 
unchanged as another investor made additional contributions of the same amount. 

11.1 Impairment of equity accounted joint ventures 

In 2022, given the significant economic uncertainty particularly affecting on e-commerce markets, the Group recognised an impairment charge 
against AliExpress JV of RUB 9,866, including impairment of goodwill of RUB 4,468 that forms a part of the carrying value of the investments in 
AliExpress JV. As of December 31, 2022, the estimate has not changed 

In 2022, the management of O2O JV decided to discontinue operations related to Citymobil (Taxi services). Accordingly, the Group 
recognised an impairment charge of RUB 2,959 including impairment of goodwill of RUB 1,574 that forms a part of the carrying value of the 
investments in O2O JV. 

In 2022, given the significant economic uncertainty, the Group recognised an impairment charge against Haslop Company Limited (Cyprus) 
and Uchi.ru LLC (Russia) equity accounted associates of RUB 295 and RUB 853, respectively.  
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11 Investments in equity accounted associates and joint ventures (continued) 

11.2 Disposal of equity accounted joint venture and associates 

O2O Holding LLC (JV) 

In 2022, the Group completed the acquisition of the Zen and News content platforms from Yandex (“Zen.Platform”). At the same time, the 
Group sold to Yandex a 100% stake in the Delivery Club, a ready-to-eat and groceries delivery service, which it acquired from O2O Holding in 
September. 

As a result, the Group recognised the disposal of the investment in O2O Holding (JV), as well as gain on remeasurement of previously held 
interest in equity accounted associate: 

Fair value of the Group’s 50% share in O2O Holding (JV) 47,377 
Carrying amount of disposed net assets (23,017) 

Gain on remeasurement of previously held interest in equity accounted joint venture 24,360 

Cash paid for the acquisition of subsidiaries net of cash received in the amount of RUB 10,627, consists of a payment by a related party to 
exit from the joint venture O2O Holding in the amount of RUB 10,363 and other net cash flows in the amount of RUB 264, disclosed in 
Notes 12.1-12.3. 

The tables below illustrate the summarised financial information of the Group’s significant equity accounted investments and joint ventures in: 

11.3  Uchi.ru LLC 

 December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021 

Current assets 1,541 942 
Non-current assets  4,061 5,650 
Current liabilities (1,686) (2,332) 
Non-current liabilities  − (61) 

Equity 3,916 4,199 

Group‘s share in equity − 25% 979 1,050 
Goodwill 2,824 2,824 
Impairment (853) − 

Group‘s carrying amount of the investment 2,950 3,874 

 
 2022  2021  

Revenue 4,357 2,492 
Cost of sales (2,965) (2,697) 
Finance and other income/expenses (1,667) (814) 

Loss before tax (275) (1,019) 

Income tax expense (8) (5) 

Loss for the year (283) (1,024) 

Group’s share of loss for the period (71) (256) 

11.4  O2O Holding LLC  

 December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021 

Current assets − 19,728 
Non-current assets  − 64,322 
Current liabilities − (18,252) 
Non-current liabilities  − (17,107) 

Equity − 48,691 

Group’s share in equity − 0% (effective share in equity adjusted by NCI − 0% (2021: 51.35%)) − 25,005 
Goodwill − 8,080 

Group’s carrying amount of the investment − 33,085 
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11 Investments in equity accounted associates and joint ventures (continued) 

11.4  O2O Holding LLC (continued) 

 January-August 2022 2021  

Revenue 59,753 58,227 
Cost of sales (50,702) (57,561) 
Administrative expenses (29,542) (35,335) 
Finance and other income/expenses (8,087) (5,094) 

Loss before tax (28,578) (39,763) 

Income tax benefit (5,267) 6,107 

Loss for the year (33,845) (33,656) 

Non-controlling interest share (2,971) (2,555) 

Group’s share of loss for the year (15,437) (15,551) 

11.5  Umskul LLC 

 December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021 

Current assets  517 467 
Non-current assets  334 392 
Current liabilities (2,219) (2,365) 
Non-current liabilities  (25) − 

Equity (1,393) (1,506) 

Group‘s share in equity − 25% (335) (377) 
Goodwill 1,294 1,294 

Group‘s carrying amount of the investment 959 917 

 
 2022 October-December 2021 

Revenue 2,503 489 
Cost of sales (1,903) (336) 
Administrative expenses (252) (16) 
Finance and other income/expenses 123 (217) 

Profit/(loss) before tax 471 (80) 

Income tax expense (2) (52) 

Profit/(loss) for the year 469 (132) 

Group‘s share of profit/(loss) for the year 118 (33) 

12 Business combinations and disposals 

12.1 Delivery Club 

In 2022, the Group acquired control of Delivery Club LLC by purchasing 100% of the shares. At the date of acquisition of control, the Group 
estimated the probability of further sale of Delivery Club LLC as highly probable. Delivery Club LLC was classified as a “Disposal Group” 
(discontinued operation) in accordance with IFRS 5 as of the date of acquisition of control. 

According to IFRS 5, if the disposal group is a newly acquired subsidiary, solely for the purpose of its further sale in the short term, that meets 
the criteria to be classified as held for sale on an immediate acquisition and, in respect of that acquisition, the fair value of the consideration 
transferred is greater than or equal to fair value of the net assets of the acquiree, then disclosure of the major classes of assets and liabilities is 
not required. 
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12 Business combinations and disposals (continued) 

12.1 Delivery Club (continued) 

The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Delivery Club LLC as of the date of acquisition were as follows: 

 Fair value 

Assets held for sale 42,079 
Liabilities directly associated with assets held for sale (3,462) 

Total identifiable net assets measured at fair value 38,617 

The consideration transferred by the Group measured at fair value:  
[1] disposal of investment in O2O Holding (JV) 46,927 
[2]  cash consideration transferred to non-controlling shareholders 576 
[3]  loans conversion to the share capital of Delivery Club LLC, including accrued interest 1,477 
[4]  net-settlement payment (10,363) 

Fair value of the consideration transferred 38,617 

The cash flows on acquisition were as follows: 

Cash paid (included in cash flows from investing activities) (576) 
Cash acquired (included in cash flows from investing activities) 1,489 

Net cash flow on acquisition 913 

12.2 Foodplex, Interactive video technologies 

In 2022, the Group acquired control of Foodplex LLC by purchasing 100% of shares and Interactive Video Technologies LLC by 
purchasing 80% of shares. 

The gross value of accounts receivable does not differ materially from the fair value of these receivables. 

The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Foodplex LLC and Interactive Video Technologies LLC as of the date of acquisition 
were as follows: 

 Provisional fair value 

Intangible assets 305 
Property and equipment 18 
Deferred income tax assets 29 
Other non-current assets 11 
Advances to suppliers 10 
Trade accounts receivable 101 
Other current assets 31 
Cash and cash equivalents 172 

Total assets 677 

Deferred income tax liabilities 1 
Trade accounts payable 29 
Other current liabilities 147 

Total liabilities 177 

Total identifiable net assets measured at fair value 500 

Goodwill was calculated as the excess of:  
(a)  The consideration transferred by the Group measured at fair value:  

[1]  disposal of investment in O2O Holding (JV) 450 

Fair value of the consideration transferred 450 

(b)  The amount of non-controlling interest measured at the proportionate share of the identifiable net assets 50 
(c)  The net of the acquisition date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed  

measured at final fair value 500 

Goodwill − 
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12 Business combinations and disposals (continued) 

12.2 Foodplex, Interactive video technologies (continued) 

The cash flows on acquisition were as follows: 

Cash paid (included in cash flows from investing activities) − 
Cash acquired (included in cash flows from investing activities) 172 

Net cash flow on acquisition 172 

In Q4 2022, the Group acquired 7.2% shares in Interactive Video Technologies LLC for RUB 28. 

12.3 Zen.Platform 

In 2022, the Group completed the acquisition of the Zen and News content platforms from Yandex (“Zen.Platform”). At the same time, the 
Group sold to Yandex a 100% stake in the Delivery Club, a ready-to-eat and groceries delivery service, which it acquired from O2O Holding in 
September. 

The Group measured the acquired lease liabilities using the present value of the remaining lease payments at the acquisition date.  
Right-of-use assets were valued at an amount equal to the lease liability. 

The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Zen.Platform LLC as of the date of acquisition were as follows: 

 Provisional fair value 

Intangible assets 11 052 
Property and equipment 21 
Right-of-use assets 338 
Deferred income tax assets 27 
Prepaid expenses and advances to suppliers 74 
Other current assets 87 
Cash and cash equivalents 668 

Total assets 12,267 

Non-current lease liabilities 194 
Trade accounts payable 41 
Current lease liabilities 144 
Deferred income tax liabilities 1,832 
Other current liabilities 242 

Total liabilities 2,453 

Total identifiable net assets measured at fair value 9,814 

Goodwill was calculated as the excess of:  
(a)  The consideration transferred by the Group measured at fair value:  

[1]  Fair value of the Group‘s disposed 100% of shares in Delivery Club LLC 38,620 

Fair value of the consideration transferred 38,620 

(b)  The net of the acquisition date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed measured at 
final fair value 9,814 

Goodwill 28,806 

Goodwill relates mainly to advertising services and potential synergies with the Group‘s business. It is assumed that goodwill will not be 
deductible for income tax purposes. 

Intangible assets are mainly represented by the authors‘ database, software and trademark, and are amortized over 8-11 years. 

The cash flows on acquisition were as follows: 

Cash paid (included in cash flows from investing activities) (1,489) 
Cash acquired (included in cash flows from investing activities) 668 

Net cash flow on acquisition (821) 
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12 Business combinations and disposals (continued) 

12.4 Medium Quality Production (MQP) 

In 4 quarter 2022, the Group acquired control of Medium Quality Production LLC (“MQP”) by purchasing 51% of shares. The Group also signed a 
number of option agreements (received call options and written put options) to acquire the remaining 49% stake. In accordance with IFRS 10, 
the fair value of these options is recorded as deferred consideration and no non-controlling interest is recognised. 

The main activity of MQP is the production of video content. The deal will allow the Group to strengthen its position in the video content 
market through exclusive shows and joint projects that will be produced specifically for VK Video platforms, VK Clips and other media 
resources of the Group. 

The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of MQP as of the date of acquisition were as follows: 

 Provisional fair value 

Intangible assets 2,081 
Right-of-use assets 25 
Property and equipment 18 
Deferred income tax assets 2 
Trade accounts receivable 153 
Other current assets 66 
Cash and cash equivalents 74 

Total assets 2,419 

Trade accounts payable 102 
VAT and other taxes payable 93 
Deferred income tax liabilities 244 
Customer advances 758 
Other payables, accrued expenses and contingent consideration liabilities 167 

Total liabilities 1,364 

Total identifiable net assets measured at fair value 1,055 

Goodwill relates mainly to the Vkontakte and Odnoklassniki social network and potential synergies with the Group‘s business. It is assumed 
that goodwill will not be deductible for income tax purposes. 

Intangible assets are mainly represented by a trademark, software and video content, and are amortized over 1-5 years. 

12.5 Invite 

In 2022, the Group acquired control over a number of subsidiaries by acquiring from the parent company a 100% stake in Invite LLC 
(hereinafter “Invite”), a 75% stake in Invitе License (hereinafter “Invitе License”), as well as an 80% stake in Invite Music (hereinafter 
“Invite Music”), respectively, together making up a full-cycle creative agency specializing in influencer marketing and social media promotion 
for a total cash consideration of RUB 12 million. 

According to IFRS 3 Business Combinations, all business combinations are ultimately controlled by the same party both before and after 
business combinations, and are accounted for by the Group as transactions under common control.  

This acquisition did not have a material impact on the Group‘s financial position and operating results. 
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12 Business combinations and disposals (continued) 

12.6 Skillfactory 

In 2021, the Group acquired control over educational online platform “Skillfactory” LLC (“Skillfactory”) by increasing its share to 61.809% 
(43.50% in addition to 18.309% stake as of June 30, 2021 that was accounted for as an equity accounted associate) by executing a call option 
for a total cash consideration of RUB 1,088. As of September 30, 2021, as a result of the control acquisition the Group de-recoqnised the 
equity accounted investment in Skillfactory in the amount of RUB 153, as a result with the gain from remeasurement of previously held interest 
in equity accounted associates of RUB 305. 

In February 2021, the Group granted a loan to Skillfactory in the amount of RUB 125. As of September 30, 2021 carrying value of the loan comprised 
RUB 133. In accordance with the terms of the addendum to shareholders agreement, the Group received a convertion option to acquire an 
additional interest of 1.92% as of the date of execution of the above mentioned call option and intends to convert the loan into the share 
capital of Skillfactory. This conversion option provides the Group with present access to returns associated with that ownership interest and 
was accounted for as if the underlying 1.92% ownership interest was acquired. As a result, total Group’s ownership interest in Skillfactory is 63.73%. 

The Group has also written put options over the remaining 36.27% non-controlling interests at the date of acquisitions of control in Skillfactory. 

The Group treats both business combination and the written put options as a single transaction. The written put options are accounted for as 
a derivative financial liability with fair value of RUB 123 as the Group retains control over condition under which these put options become 
exercisable. The derivative financial liability is measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

The primary purpose of the acquisition of Skillfactory was to expand the Group’s presence in the online education market by achieving 
substantial synergies with Skillbox and Geekbrains, the Group’s online educational platforms. 

During 2022, the Group finalised the purchase price allocation for Skilfactory, which resulted in the fair value of deferred revenue decrease by 
RUB 186, the net effect on goodwill was RUB 186 decrease. 

The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Skillfactory as of the date of acquisition were as follows: 

 Fair value 

Intangible assets 284 
Property and equipment 5 
Trade accounts receivable 5 
Other current assets 17 
Cash and cash equivalents 45 

Total assets 356 

Trade accounts payable 8 
Deferred revenue 354 
Other payables, provisions and accrued expenses 24 

Total liabilities 386 

Total net assets (30) 

Goodwill was calculated as the excess of:  
(a)  The consideration transferred by the Group measured at fair value:  

[1] Cash consideration 1,088 
[2] Fair value at the acquisition date of the Group’s previously held equity interest 458 
[3] Fair value of the written put options over 36.27% non-controlling interest 123 
[4] Effective settlement of convertible loan 133 

Consideration transferred by the Group 1,802 

(b)  The amount of non-controlling interest in Skillfactory measured at the proportionate share of the identifiable 
net assets (78) 

over  
(c)  The net of the acquisition date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed measured at 

final fair value (30) 

Goodwill 1,754 
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12 Business combinations and disposals (continued) 

12.6 Skillfactory (continued) 

Goodwill is mainly attributable to the educational services and potential synergy with the Group’s business. Goodwill is not expected to be 
deductible for income tax purposes. 

Intangible assets mainly include software and trademark and customer base and are amortised over the period of 3 to 9 years. 

The cash flows on acquisition were as follows: 

Cash paid (included in cash flows from investing activities) 1,088 
Cash acquired (included in cash flows from investing activities) (45) 

Net cash flow on acquisition 1,043 

12.7 Mamboo games, Umskul 

In 2021, the Group acquired control over mobile games publisher and developer Mamboo Games LLC (“Mamboo Games”) by purchasing 51% 
of shares in form of executing a call option for a cash consideration of RUB 168 and effective settlement of convertible loans with total 
carrying value of RUB 202 measured at fair value through profit or loss. In addition, as of the date of acquisition a contingent consideration of 
RUB 39 was recognised. 

Mamboo Games is a hypercasual games publisher and developer. The primary purpose of the acquisition of Mamboo Games was to enhance 
the Group’s position on the mobile games market. 

In 2022, the Group finalised the purchase price allocation for Mamboo Games, which resulted in no change from provisional values. 

In October 2021, the Group acquired control of online educational platform Umskul LLC (“Umskul”) by purchasing 25% of shares for a cash 
consideration of RUB 950. In accordance with IAS 28, the Group accounts for the investment in Umskul as an investment in equity accounted 
associates. 

In 2022, the Group finalised the purchase price allocation for Umskul, which resulted in no change from provisional values. 

13 Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations 

13.1 MY.GAMES (segment “Games”) 

In 2022, the Group signed a sale agreement and transferred control of its subsidiaries to MY.GAMES HOLDINGS LTD (Cyprus) and 
My.Games LLC on September 27, 2022 and December 12, 2022, respectively, for RUB 37,241. 

The subsidiaries listed above belonged to the “Games” segment (Note 5). In accordance with IFRS 5: 

• MY.GAMES HOLDINGS LTD (Cyprus), My.Games LLC and their subsidiaries were classified as a “Disposal Group” (discontinued operations). 

• Financial results related to the Disposal Group are presented separately in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 

• Gain from the disposal of subsidiary is recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the amount of the 
difference between: 

• The sale price of the subsidiary MY.GAMES HOLDINGS LTD (Cyprus) and My.Games LLC; and  

• Carrying amount of net assets and equity relating to MY.GAMES HOLDINGS LTD (Cyprus), My.Games LLC and its subsidiaries. 

Breakdown of major classes from gain from the disposal of subsidiary: 

Sale price of a subsidiary of MY.GAMES HOLDINGS LTD (Cyprus) and My.Games LLC 37,241 
Carrying amount of net assets relating to MY.GAMES HOLDINGS LTD (Cyprus), My.Games LLC and its subsidiaries (11,781) 
Non-controlling interests 1,663 
Accumulated other comprehensive income, reclassified to profit or loss 7 

Gain from the disposal of subsidiary 27,130 
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13 Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations (continued) 

13.1 MY.GAMES (segment “Games”) (continued) 

The effect of the disposal on cash and cash equivalents in 2022 is the amount of cash disposed of by the Segment. 

Net cash flows from discontinued operations: 

 2022  2021 

Operating activities   
Discontinued operations (253) 5,412 

Net cash (used)/received from financing activities (253) 5,412 

Investment activities   
Discontinued operations (2,497) (3,034) 

Net cash used in investing activities (2,497) (3,034) 

Financial activities   
Discontinued operations − − 
Intragroup operations (1,125) (211) 

Net cash used in financing activities (1,125) (211) 

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from discontinued operations (3,875) 2,167 

The financial results related to the Disposal Group (discontinued operations) are presented below: 

 2022* 2021 

Online advertising 3,039 4,620 
MMO games 28,314 38,327 
Community IVAS 448 463 
Other revenue 454 669 

Total revenue 32,255 44,079 

Personnel expenses (6,505) (6,936) 
Agent/partner fees (7,941) (10,737) 
Marketing expenses (11,395) (11,803) 
Server hosting expenses (232) (333) 
Professional services (207) (366) 
Other operating expenses (768) (701) 

Total operating expenses, net (27,048) (30,876) 

Depreciation and amortisation (1,961) (2,240) 
Finance income 107 18 
Finance expenses (9) (24) 
Other non-operating gain/(loss) 23 (15) 
Net (loss)/gain on financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (581) (55) 
Gain from the disposal of subsidiary 27,130 − 
Loss on remeasurement of financial instruments (297) (24) 
Expected credit loss allowance on restricted cash (1,285) − 
Net foreign exchange gain (476) 99 

Profit/(loss) before income tax expense from discontinued operations 27,858 10,962 

Income tax expense 878 (314) 

Net profit/(loss) from discontinued operations 28,736 10,648 

*  Income and expenses are recorded for the period from January 1, 2022 to the date of disposal of the respective subsidiaries of the Group 

13.2 Virtus.pro 

In 4Q 2022, the Group signed a sale agreement and transferred control of the subsidiary to the organization Virtus.pro Ltd. for RUB 174. The 
carrying value of the disposed net assets and capital elements amounted to RUB 161. As a result, the Group recognized a gain on the disposal 
of the subsidiary in the amount of RUB 13. 
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13 Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations (continued) 

13.3 Assets held for sales 

In Q1 2023, the Group signed a number of sale agreements and transferred control of its subsidiaries: EPICENTR (Cyprus) Ltd., 
ESFORCE AGENCY Ltd. for a cash consideration of RUB 47. 

In 1Q 2023, the Group also signed a sale agreement and transferred control of a subsidiary Fudplex LLC for a cash consideration of 1 rouble. 
In accordance with the requirements of IFRS 5 (assets held for sale are measured at lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to 
sell), the Group recognized a loss from revaluation of assets held for sale in the amount RUB 283 in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income. 

In 4Q 2022, the Group also signed a binding agreement on the sale of its subsidiary MGL Wallet (Cyprus) Ltd. The transfer of control over the 
entity depends on the conditions precedent, the fulfillment of which the Group expects during 2023. 

As at December 31, 2022, the Group assessed the probability of the sale of the above subsidiaries as highly probable and the decision to sell 
them was approved in 4Q 2022. In accordance with IFRS 5, the Group classified the related assets and liabilities as “Assets held for sale” and 
“Liabilities directly associated with assets held for sale” and presented them separately in the consolidated statement of financial position. 

The breakdown of the significant classes of assets and liabilities held for sale as at December 31, 2022 is following: 

 December 31, 2022 

Other non-current assets 5 
Trade accounts receivable 43 
Loans receivable 47 
Prepaid income tax 4 
Prepaid expenses and advances to suppliers 8 
Other current assets 24 
Cash and cash equivalents 161 

Total assets held for sale 292 

Trade accounts payable (184) 
VAT and other taxes payable (2) 
Deferred revenue and customer advances (45) 
Other payables, accrued expenses and contingent consideration liabilities (56) 

Total liabilities directly associated with assets held for sale (287) 

14 Trade accounts receivable 

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021 trade receivables comprised the following: 

 December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021 

Trade accounts receivable, gross 20,890 21,570 
Allowance for expected credit losses (357) (882) 

Total trade receivables, net 20,533 20,688 

The movements in the allowance for expected credit losses of trade receivables were as follows: 

Balance as of January 1, 2021 (612) 

Charge for the year (418) 
Accounts receivable written off 148 

Balance as of December 31, 2021 (882) 

Charge for the year (89) 
Disposal of provision due to sale of subsidiaries 549 
Accounts receivable written off 65 

Balance as of December 31, 2022 (357) 

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The provision rates are 
based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments with similar loss patterns and the likelihood of default over a given time 
horizon. The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and supportable information that 
is available at the reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.  
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14 Trade accounts receivable (continued) 

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the Group’s trade and other receivables as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 
using a provision matrix: 

 Trade accounts receivable  

 Days past due  
 <90 days 90-180 180-360 >360 Total 

As of December 31, 2022      
Expected credit loss rate  0.01-2.4% 0.45-6.25% 2.34-8.02% 9.68%-100%  
Estimated total gross carrying amount  

at default 18,425 670 1,296 499 20,890 
Expected credit loss (7) (11) (27) (312) (357) 
 

 Trade accounts receivable  

 Days past due  
 <90 days 90-180 180-360 >360 Total 

As of December 31, 2021      
Expected credit loss rate  0.05-19.88% 0.99-54.87% 1.64-73.49% 100.00%  
Estimated total gross carrying amount  

at default 19,429 893 464 784 21,570 
Expected credit loss (4) (44) (50) (784) (882) 

The accounts receivable balances as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 mainly represented amounts due from online electronic payment 
systems and advertising customers.  

The trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally settled in RUB on a 40-90 days basis. There is no requirement for collateral to 
receive credit. 

Management considers that the carrying amount of the receivable balances approximated their fair value as of December 31, 2022 and 2021. 

15 Cash and cash equivalents and short-term deposits 

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021 cash and cash equivalents consisted of the following: 

 Currency December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021 

Current accounts and cash on hand: USD 262 9,371 
 RUB 30,547 3,786 
 EUR 317 3,078 
 Other 90 80 

Total current accounts and cash on hand 
 

31,216 16,315 

Deposit accounts with an original maturity of three months or less RUB 17,543 7,422 

Total deposit accounts with an original maturity of three months or less 
 

17,543 7,422 

Total cash and cash equivalents and short-term deposits 
 

48,759 23,737 

As at December 31, 2022, restricted cash amounted to RUB 1,513 (2021: 0), the allowance for expected credit losses was formed in full. 
Balances are held by subsidiaries that operate in countries where exchange controls apply. 

16 Other payables and accrued expenses 

Other payables and accrued expenses consist of:  

 December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021 

Payables to personnel 4,396 3,818 
Accrued vacations 2,357 2,643 
Contingent consideration liabilities (Note 24) 576 943 
Liabilities of payment systems 1,945 2,318 
Liabilities under the contract of assignment of debt 984 − 
Liabilities under cash pooling agreements 941 − 
Other current liabilities 611 401 

Total other payables and accrued expenses 11,810 10,123 
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16 Other payables and accrued expenses (continued) 

Other current assets consist of the following: 

 December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021 

Other taxes recoverable 630 − 
VAT recoverable 2,493 1,445 
Assets under a debt assignment agreement 984 − 
Other accounts receivable 98 − 

Total other current assets 4,205 1,445 

17 Share capital 

17.1 Charter capital and share issues 

The charter capital of the Company consisted of 227,874,940 ordinary shares and 11,500,100 Class A shares with USD 0.000005 par value each 
as of December 31, 2021, while the number of authorised shares of the Company as of the same date consisted of 10,000,000,000 ordinary 
shares and 10,000,000,000 Class A shares. GDRs representing 13,238,213 shares of the Company were held in treasury by the Group as of 
December 31, 2022. 

The charter capital of the Company consisted of 227,874,940 ordinary shares and 11,500,100 Class A shares with USD 0.000005 par value each 
as of December 31, 2021, while the number of authorised shares of the Company as of the same date consisted of 10,000,000,000 ordinary 
shares and 10,000,000,000 Class A shares. GDRs representing 13,238,213 shares of the Company were held in treasury by the Group as of 
December 31, 2021. 

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021 all issued shares were fully paid. 

Rights attached to the share classes as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 

The Class A shares and the ordinary shares rank pari passu in all respects, but constitute separate classes of shares, i.e. each and every 
ordinary share and Class A share has the following rights: 

(i) The right to an equal share in any dividend or other distribution paid by the Company to the holders of the shares, pari passu with all 
other Class A shares and ordinary shares; and, for the avoidance of doubt, any dividend or other distribution may only be declared and 
paid by the Company to the holders of the Class A shares and the ordinary shares together, and not to the holders of one of those 
classes of shares only; 

(ii) The right to an equal share in the distribution of the surplus assets of the Company pari passu with all other ordinary shares and Class A 
shares upon the winding up of the Company. 

Each Class A share has the right to twenty five votes and each ordinary share has the right to one vote at a meeting of members of the 
Company or on any resolution of members of the Company. 

For additional details on the options over the shares of the Company outstanding as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, refer to Note 28.  

17.2  GDR buying programme 

Starting 2011, the Trustee commenced a GDR buying programme in order to cover a part of the employee and director options. Under the GDR 
buying programme, the Trustee acquires GDRs representing shares of the Company and will subsequently transfer the GDRs to the respective 
option holders upon the exercise of the options. 

17.3 Buyback and sale of own shares 

In 4 quarter 2022, Prosus N.V., a shareholder of VK Company Limited (Note 1), withdrew from the shareholders by transferring shares free of 
charge to the Company. This transaction is accounted for as a buyback of own equity instruments for nil cash consideration. 

The Company sold the received shares to Singularity Lab JSC, controlled by the Group's management, for RUB 24,895 million. The effect of 
this operation will be reflected in the consolidated financial statements as the actual repayment of receivables from Singularity Lab JSC.  
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17 Share capital (continued) 

17.4 Non-controlling interests 

 December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021 

Skillbox LLC (Russia) (1,063) (620) 
GeekBrains LLC (Russia) (628) (790) 
Skillfactory LLC (Russia) (122) (103) 
Segment “Games” − 1,838 
Other (334) 21 

Total (2,147) 346 

18 Revenue 

Contract balances comprise trade receivables presented as a separate line item in the consolidated statement of financial position and 
contract liabilities. Contract liabilities comprise deferred revenue and customer advances presented as separate line items in the consolidated 
statement of financial position.  

Detailed information on revenue from contracts with customers for the year ended December 31, 2022 is presented below in accordance with 
the requirements of IFRS 15: 

Segments 
Communications  

and Social EdTech VK Tech 
New  

business lines Not allocated Eliminations Group 

Timing of revenue recognition        
Services transferred at a point in time 64,603 52 5,581 6,258 31 (729) 75,796 
Services transferred over time 10,513 11,222 197 42 − − 21,974 

Total revenue 75,116 11,274 5,778 6,300 31 (729) 97,770 

Detailed information on revenue from contracts with customers for the year ended December 31, 2021 is presented below in accordance with 
the requirements of IFRS 15: 

Segments 
Communications  

and Social EdTech VK Tech 
New  

business lines Not allocated Eliminations Group 

Timing of revenue recognition        
Services transferred at a point in time 50,064 336 3,145 6,694 − (379) 59,860 
Services transferred over time 11,598 10,505 19 − − − 22,122 

Total revenue 61,662 10,841 3,164 6,694 − (379) 81,982 

19 Finance expenses 

Finance expenses consist of: 

 2022 2021 

Interest on loans and borrowings 10,833 2,979 
Interest on lease liabilities 1,180 1,186 
Bank charges and commissions 366 64 

Total finance expenses 12,379 4,229 

20 Income tax 

On July 14, 2022, Federal Law No. 321-FZ On Amendments to Part Two of the Tax Code of the Russian Federation (“the Law”) was adopted, 
which expands the list of companies entitled to apply the tax benefits for IT companies. According to this law, the quantitative criterion for 
the share of IT revenue is reduced from 90% to 70%, which makes it possible to receive tax benefits. The new benefits come into effect for 
the periods from January 1, 2022 and are enforced until the end of 2024. The Group partially applied these IT benefits in 2022 and expects to 
complete the process of assessing the effect of the benefits by the end of 2023. 
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20 Income tax (continued) 

The major components of income tax expense in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the years ended December 31, 
2022 and 2021 are as follows: 

 2022 2021 

Current income tax expense 2,034 3,502 
Deferred income tax loss/(benefit) 237 (2,431) 

Total income tax expense/(benefit) 2,271 1,071 

The reconciliation between theoretical income tax and the actual income tax for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 is as follows: 

  2022 2021 

Loss before income tax from continuing operations (29,497) (25,588) 
Profit before income tax from discontinued operations 27,858 10,962 

Loss before income tax  (1,639) (14,626) 

Theoretical tax at domestic rates applicable to individual group entities 5,971 3,245 

Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible (taxable) in calculating taxable income   
Non-deductible expenses (2,808) (671) 
Non-taxable foreign exchange and other gains 1,998 1,281 
Adjustments in respect of current income tax of previous period (48) (33) 
Tax accruals and penalties (1,703) (206) 
Unrecognised deferred tax assets (1,006) (245) 
Share of results of equity accounted associates and joint ventures (3,320) (4,411) 
Expected credit loss on restricted cash (494) − 
Goodwill impairment (1,933) − 
Impairment of equity accounted joint ventures (113) − 
Effect of applying tax benefits (1,236) − 
Effect of gain from the disposal of a subsidiary 2,467 − 
Other (46) (31) 

Total income tax expense (2,271) (1,071) 

Total income tax expense from continuing operations (3,149) (757) 

Total income tax benefit/(expense) from discontinued operations 878 (314) 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 are summarised below: 

  Consolidated statement of financial position Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 

 December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021 2022 2021 

Deferred tax liabilities arising from:     
Intangible assets book basis in excess of tax basis (1,735) (1,133) 1,791 1,362 
Other (406) (848) 788 (239) 
Deferred tax liabilities netting 34 753 − − 

Total deferred tax liabilities (2,107) (1,228) 2,579 1,123 

Deferred tax assets arising from:     
Tax credit carryforwards 401 1,449 (183) 411 
Deferred compensation and accrued employee benefits 149 1,060 (741) 147 
Accrued expenses 281 503 (242) 80 
Revenue recognition 9 1,780 (918) 530 
Unrealised intercompany profit 51 105 (10) − 
Prepaid expenses 1,072 611 − − 
Other 364 402 (722) 140 
Deferred tax assets netting (34) (753) − − 

Total deferred tax assets 2,293 5,157 (2,816) 1,308 

Net deferred tax assets 186 3,929 (237) 2,431 

The temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised, aggregate 
to RUB 91,874 (2020: RUB 91,538).  
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20 Income tax (continued) 

Changes in net deferred tax assets/(liabilities) from January 1, 2021 to December 31, 2022 were as follows: 

 2022 2021  

Total deferred income tax assets, net at January, 1 3,929 1,545 
Deferred tax (expense)/benefit (237) 2,545 
Translation reserve (83) (114) 
Effect of disposal of subsidiaries (Note 13) (1,495) − 
Effect of acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 12) (2,094) (47) 

Total deferred income tax assets, net at December, 31 186 3,929 

21 EPS 

21.1 Basic EPS 

Basic EPS amounts are calculated by dividing earnings/loss for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent by the weighted average 
number of ordinary and Class A shares outstanding during the year. 

 2022 2021 

Net loss attributable to equity holders of the Company (3,144) (15,493) 

Weighted average number of ordinary and class A shares in issue and outstanding 226,146,782 225,888,295 

Basic loss per share (RUB per share) (14) (69) 

21.2 Diluted EPS 

Diluted EPS is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary and Class A shares outstanding by the assumption of the 
conversion of all potential dilutive ordinary shares arising from share options and RSUs granted by the Company (collectively forming the 
denominator for computing the diluted EPS). 

For share options and RSUs, a calculation is done to determine the number of shares that would have been issued assuming the exercise of 
the share options and RSUs. The above number is added to the denominator as an issue of ordinary shares for no consideration. Net profit/loss 
attributable to equity holders of the parent (numerator) is adjusted for the charge that would arise if equity settlement took place. 

The calculation of diluted EPS is summarised in the table below:  

 2022 2021 

Net loss attributable to equity holders of the Company (3,144) (15,493) 
Adjustment for the gains from cash setlled option − (258) 

Adjusted net loss attributable to equity holders of the Company (3,144) (15,751) 

Weighted average number of ordinary and class A shares in issue and outstanding 226,146,782 225,888,295 
Effect of equity-settled share based payments of the Company 5,809,355 8,957,947 

Total diluted weighted average number of shares 231,956,137 234,846,242 

Diluted EPS (RUB per share) n/a n/a 

22 Commitments, contingencies and operating risks 

22.1 Operating environment of the Group 

Most of the Group’s operations are in Russia. Russia continues economic reforms and development of its legal, tax and regulatory frameworks 
as required by a market economy.  

In connection with Russia’s special operation in Ukraine in 2022, the US, EU, UK and other countries have imposed broad economic and trade 
sanctions. The scope of these sanctions has evolved and continues to do so across various jurisdictions including among other restrictions on 
dealing with designated individuals and entities; blocking and asset freezing sanctions; restrictions on the Russian financial sector and 
imposing export controls limiting the export of a wide range of goods and technical assistance to Russia. Moreover, there is a risk that further 
sanctions may be introduced, such as all Russian banks will be disconnected from SWIFT. Furthermore, in response to sanctions imposed on 
Russia by a number of countries, Russia has implemented new countersanctions including among other restrictions on provision of debt 
financing by Russian creditors to foreign recipients, restrictions on transactions involving shares in Russian companies and immovable 
property, restrictions on transferring funds abroad and on payment of dividends and other payments on Russian securities.  
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22 Commitments, contingencies and operating risks (continued) 

22.1 Operating environment of the Group (continued) 

On the macroeconomic side these sanctions and geopolitical situation are likely to have significant economic and financial consequences 
both regionally and potentially at a global scale. 

As far as the Company is aware, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries is directly subject to any sanctions announced to date by 
the US, UK or EU. 

As reported, trading of VK’s GDRs on the London Stock Exchange (“LSE”) was suspended by the LSE on March 3, 2022. Under the terms of 
the Bonds, a “De-listing Event” occurs if, among other things, trading of the GDRs on the LSE Main Market is suspended for a period of 
10 consecutive dealing days or more. As a result, a “De-listing Event” under the Bonds occurred following the close of trading on March 16, 
2022 as trading did not resume. Moreover, uncertainty around the impact of the restrictions under the enacted Russian capital control and 
protection measures on the ability to transfer cash funds from the Company’s Russian subsidiaries to its foreign holding company, which is the 
issuer of the Bonds, and continuing multiple changes to the regulatory backdrop, there can be no certainty that the Issuer will have sufficient 
available liquidity outside Russia to effect redemption or make other payments due under the Bonds. 

As the political situation is constantly evolving, it is impossible at the moment to accurately predict the full impact of the sanctions imposed or 
any counter measures taken by the Russian government in response to such sanctions with further negative effect on the Russian economy 
and financial markets. If all Russian banks are disconnected from SWIFT, the Group may experience difficulties in conducting payments 
abroad. Moreover, the Group are subject to risks relating to our technology as a result of the current environment as the Group heavily relies 
on foreign technology infrastructure, such as servers and server equipment, and iOS and Android app stores to download our apps from. If the 
foreign businesses on which the Group relies for these aspects of our operations, are unable to continue to provide uninterrupted services, 
our operations may be disrupted. 

The Group will continue to monitor and revisit its contingency plans in light of developments, including responses to any further sanctions. 
The events mentioned above require management of the Group to adapt to a changing operating environment characterized by a high level of 
uncertainty and having a significant impact on the Group and its operations. 

The Consolidated financial statements reflect management’s assessment of the impact of the business environment on the operations and 
the financial position of the Group. The future business environment may differ from management’s assessment. 

22.2 Taxation 

Tax, currency and customs legislation is subject to varying interpretations, and changes, which can occur frequently. These changes may be 
significant and affect the growth of the tax burden in the countries where the Group operates. In February 2023, The European Union decided 
to add Russia to its blacklist of non-cooperative jurisdictions on tax matters, which may lead to an increase in the tax burden in the countries 
of the Group‘s presence. The Group monitors regulatory changes in these countries and assesses the effect of the implementation of 
measures. 

There is a risk of increasing tax liabilities due to unfavorable changes in tax legislation for the Group, ambiguous interpretation by regulatory 
authorities and challenging transactions and approaches that have not been challenged before. This may lead to additional taxes, fines, 
penalties, as well as regulations of the tax authorities, the impact of which on the financial statements of the Group may be significant. Tax 
audits may cover three calendar years of activity immediately preceding the year of the audit. Under certain conditions, earlier periods may 
also be subject to verification. 

The Group estimates that the amount of possible risks associated with the above aspects, which are not required to be recognized in 
accordance with IFRS, may significantly exceed the amount of income tax, VAT and other taxes payable reflected in the consolidated 
statement of financial position at the reporting date. This assessment is provided in accordance with the IFRS requirement to disclose 
information about possible taxes and should not be considered as an assessment of the Group‘s future tax liability. 

The Group estimates that the amount of probable risks associated with the above aspects in the amount of RUB 1,536 million was stated in the 
line “Income tax expense” of the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 

22.3 Legal proceedings 

The Group has been and continues to be the subject of legal proceedings and adjudications from time to time, none of which has had, 
individually or in the aggregate, a material adverse impact on the Group. Management believes that the resolution of all current and potential 
legal matters will not have a material adverse impact on the Group’s financial position or operating results. 

22.4 Data privacy 

To become registered on a website operated by the Group, users have to input their personal data, which is then protected by the Group 
from access by third parties. Should such data become available to third parties as a result of hackers’ attacks, the Group may become a party 
to litigation from its users. Management believes it takes all necessary steps to reduce the related risk to an acceptable level.  
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22 Commitments, contingencies and operating risks (continued) 

22.5 Intellectual property rights 

The Group may be subject to infringement claims from third parties in the future resulting from the technology and intellectual property used 
in the provision and marketing of its services. If the Group is found liable for infringement, it may be required to pay significant damages, and 
if it is unable to license or develop non-infringing technology on a timely basis, it may be unable to continue offering the affected services 
without risk of liability. Similarly, third parties may obtain and use the Group’s intellectual property without authorisation. The validity, 
application, enforceability and scope of protection of intellectual property rights for many Internet-related activities are uncertain and still 
evolving, which may make it more difficult for the Group to protect its intellectual property and could have a material effect on its business, 
results of operations and financial condition. The Group has been subject to such proceedings. Although none of them was individually 
significant, similar potential claims may subject the Group to significant losses in the future, which currently cannot be reliably estimated.  

22.6 Development 

Possible risks of opportunity to innovate, to provide popular products and services or to react quickly to changes in the market could affect 
the popularity of the Group’s sites and, in turn, could affect the Group’s revenue. Potencial difficulties in developing competitive products and 
services which are compatible with new mobile devices could result in a failure to capture a significant share of an increasingly important 
market. 

22.7 Regulation 

The Internet and its associated technologies are subject to government regulation. Substantial part of the Group’s business is subject to 
Russian laws. 

During 2022, the following laws came into force:  

Law On Amendments to a Number of Legislative Acts of the Russian Federation, including the Federal Law On Information, Information 
Technologies and Information Protection. The laws provide:  

• Obligation for classifiers to prevent the dissemination of information prohibited by law, post information about the service, and in 
some cases (determined by the Government of the Russian Federation) connect to the ESIA;  

• Prohibition for state-owned companies, for government related companies with it’s share of more than 50%, as well as for subjects of 
the national payment system, credit and non-credit financial institutions, to use foreign programs and instant messengers to send 
personal data, as well as data on transfers, accounts and deposits citizens of the Russian Federation;  

• Prohibition of propaganda of non-traditional sexual relations;  

• Restrictions are introduced on the use of biometric personal data in the process of identification and (or) authentication of individuals 
in information systems.  

Law On Amendments to the Federal Law “On Advertising”. The purpose of the law is to create a unified accounting system for advertising 
posted on the Internet. Persons placing advertisements on the Internet in the territory of the Russian Federation are obliged to provide with 
information on the placement of advertisements to the unified register of Roskomnadzor.  

Law On Amendments to the Federal Law “On Personal Data”. Among other things, the law establishes (depending on the country) a 
notification or permissive procedure for the cross-border transfer of personal data of citizens of the Russian Federation, obliges to interact 
with state systems for preventing and eliminating the consequences of computer attacks on information resources of the Russian Federation. 

The Law On Amendments to the Code of Administrative Offenses of the Russian Federation, which provides for:  

• Introduction of administrative liability for propaganda of non-traditional sexual relations or preferences not only among minors.  

• Introduction of administrative liability for non-execution of coercive measures taken against a foreign legal entity operating on the 
Internet in the territory of the Russian Federation, which defied the current legislation of the Russian Federation. In particular, 
administrative fines are introduced for non-compliance with the following restrictions and prohibitions:  

• Prohibition on the dissemination of advertising by a foreign person, restriction of money transfers and acceptance of payments in 
favor of a foreign person, prohibition on search results, prohibition on the collection and cross-border transfer of personal data, partial 
and complete restriction of access to the information resource of a foreign person, as well as other forms of restrictions.  

The following laws are considered in the State Duma of the Russian Federation:  

The Law On Amendments to the Federal Law “On Protection of Competition” in terms of improving the antimonopoly regulation of digital 
markets.  

The law is aimed at suppressing possible abuses by persons providing programs for electronic computers on the Internet information and 
telecommunications network designed to conclude transactions in digital markets (between sellers and buyers).   
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22 Commitments, contingencies and operating risks (continued) 

22.7 Regulation (continued) 

The Law On Amendments to the Federal Law “On Information, Information Technologies and Information Protection”, according to which 
search engine operators are required to remove links to content that violates copyright / related rights from search results.  

The Laws On Amendments to the Code of Administrative Offenses of the Russian Federation, which provide for:  

• Strengthening administrative liability for repeated violations related to manifestations of monopolistic activity in digital commodity 
markets.  

• Introduction of administrative responsibility of the owner of an information resource for failure to fulfill a number of obligations to 
interact with the operator of social advertising, as well as for refusing to measure (or incorrectly measure) the audience of the service. 

22.8 Personnel 

As competition in Russia’s internet industry increases, the Group’s business and operations could be adversely affected by difficulties in 
hiring, motivating and retaining highly-skilled people. Competition for senior managers is high. One or more could join a competitor, or set-up 
a competing company, with the result that operations and profitability could be affected by a loss of strategic direction, users, know-how and 
additional staff. 

22.9 Infrastructure and capacity  

If the infrastructure in Russia were not able to support increased demand, the Group’s services could be interrupted or the Group’s systems 
damaged. A limited availability of third-party providers of network and server capacity could limit the Group’s ability to offer certain services 
or to expand. Network or power failures could result in the loss of data and in a reduction in the number of users, which could have a material 
effect on the Group’s business, results of operations and financial condition. 

22.10 Fund commitment 

In April 2020 the Group entered into the venture capital fund MVOF L.P. (the Fund) as a limited partner. The purpose of the Fund is to carry on 
the business of investing and, in particular, of identifying, negotiating, making, monitoring the progress of and realising, exchanging or 
distributing investments. Main investment areas and geographic focus are the sectors of consumer internet, foodtech, EdTech, fintech, AI and 
modern software, and any other sectors which are generally complementary to such identified sectors in developed markets outside Russia. 
The Group has right to the share in the financial results of the Fund’s investments in the proportion of its participation. 

The Group does not control or exercise significant influence over the Fund according to IFRS criteria as the Group does not manage relevant 
activities of the Fund. Investments in the Fund are accounted for as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.  

As of December 31, 2022, the total remaining capital commitment of the Group was RUB 5,767 (USD 82 million). As of December 31, 2022 and 
December 31, 2021, the Group made contributions to the Fund‘s capital in the total amount of USD 68 million. There were no contributions to 
the Fund‘s capital for the year ended December 31, 2022. 

As of December 31, 2021 the total capital commitment of the Group was RUB 6,091 (USD 82 million) 

Capital contributions to the Fund are made quarterly based on the capital call notices. Anticipated lifetime of the Fund is 10 years. 

For the purposes of estimating the fair value of an investment in the MVOF L.P. venture fund, the Group takes into account the current 
characteristics of the asset, as well as the possibility of exiting the asset. At the moment there is a significant uncertainty about the ability to 
obtain future economic benefits from holding or selling the asset, and therefore the Group has decided to estimate the fair value of the 
investment in the fund at 0 (Note 24). 

23 Balances and transactions with related parties 

The following table provides the total amount of transactions, which have been entered into with related parties for the relevant financial year, 
excluding Directors and key management of the Group (see Notes 15.1 and 15.2). All related party transactions were made in accordance with 
contractual terms and conditions agreed between the parties. 

The Group applies the exemption from the disclosure requirements of IAS 24 Related Parties, paragraph 18, in relation to related party 
transactions and outstanding balances with: 

• A government that has control or joint control of, or significant influence over, the reporting entity; and 
• Another entity that is a related party because the same government has control or joint control of, or significant influence over, both 

the reporting entity and the other entity. 
The purchase of a subsidiary from a related party is disclosed in Note 12.1.  
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23 Balances and transactions with related parties (continued) 

 December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021 

 
Amounts owed by  

related parties 
Amounts owed to  

related parties 
Amounts owed by  

related parties 
Amounts owed to  

related parties 

Trade accounts receivable and Trade and other payable     
Equity accounted associates 75 27 65 6 
Joint ventures 587 569 2,040 2,444 
Entities with significant influence over the Group 

including government related entities 1,003 410 47 31 

Loans issued and Loans received     
Equity accounted associates 109 − − − 
Joint ventures 231 − − − 
Entities with significant influence over the Group 

including government related entities − 90,620 − 13,243 

Advance under office lease contracts     
Entities with significant influence over the Group and 

government related entities 92 − 876 − 
      
      

 2022 2021 

 
Sales to  

related parties 
Purchases from  
related parties 

Sales to  
related parties 

Purchases from  
related parties 

Sales and Purchases     
Equity accounted associates 158 85 193 18 
Joint ventures 3,596 382 4,784 239 
Entities with significant influence over the Group 

including government related entities 2,215 1,294 591 109 

Interest expense     
Entities with significant influence over the Group 

including government related entities − 2,575 − 956 
 
 

 2022 2021 

 
Cash balances on  
current accounts 

Cash balances on  
deposit accounts 

Cash balances on  
current accounts 

Cash balances on  
deposit accounts 

Cash balances     
Cash balances on current and deposit accounts with 

government related banks 28,583 15,730 2,232 5,550 
 
 

 2022 2021 

 
Lease liabilities  

at the end of the year 
Lease payments  

during the year 
Lease liabilities  

at the end of the year 
Lease payments  

during the year 

Lease     
Lease transactions with government related entities 2,807 2,901 7,513 222 

As of December 31, 2022, the Russian Federation has significant influence over Sogaz as one shareholder of MF Technologies and controls the 
other group of shareholders of MF Technologies.  

Decisions over MF Technologies‘ relevant activities require consent of both groups of shareholders. 

23.1 Directors of the Company 

For the year ended December 31, 2022, total cash remuneration of the members of the Board of Directors (each a “Director” and collectively, 
“Directors”) of the Company amounted to RUB 131 (2021: RUB 135).  

For the year ended December 31, 2022, no options over the shares of the Company were granted to Directors (2021: 55,000).  

For the year ended December 31, 2022, Directors forfeited 55,000 PSUs (2021: nil), and did not exercise any PSUs/RSUs over shares of the 
Company (2021: 15,000 RSUs). 

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the corresponding share-based payment expense was negative at RUB 29 (2021: negative RUB 96). 
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23 Balances and transactions with related parties (continued) 

23.2 Key management of the Group 

For the year ended December 31, 2022 total cash remuneration of the key management of the Group (excluding Directors) amounted to 
RUB 1,959 (2021: RUB 1,136).  

For the year ended December 31, 2022, no PSUs/RSUs or options were granted to key executive employees of the Group (excluding Directors) 
(2021: 4,696,600).  

For the year ended December 31, 2022, key management of the Group (excluding Directors) forfeited 2,036,100 PSUs (2021: 230,000) and 
did not exercise any PSUs/RSUs and options (2021: 185,875).  

For the years ended December 31, 2022 the corresponding share-based payment expense amounted to RUB 1,628 (2021: RUB 711). 

24 Financial instruments 

As of December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, the Group’s financial instruments are presented by category in the table below:  

  Category* 
December 31, 

2022 
December 31, 

2021 

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss    
Non-current    

Financial investments in venture capital investees FAFVPL 118 5,992 
Convertible loans FAFVPL − 585 
Financial derivative under lease contract FAFVPL 232 326 

Financial assets at amortised cost    
Non-current    

Loans issued FAAC 464 69 
Other trade accounts receivable** FAAC 1,694 − 

Current    
Trade accounts receivable FAAC 64,272 20,688 
Loans issued and interest receivable FAAC 3,029 109 
Cash and cash equivalents FAAC 48,759 23,737 

Total financial assets    118,568 51,506 

 

  Category* 
December 31, 

2022 
December 31, 

2021 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss    
Current    

Contingent consideration payable FLFVPL 576 943 
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss FLFVPL 4,806 − 

Non-current    
Conversion option of bonds issued FLFVPL − 219 
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss FLFVPL 3,982 660 

Financial liabilities at amortised cost    
Current    

Trade accounts payable FLAC 17,121 14,541 
Other payables and accrued expenses FLAC 11,234 9,180 
Short-term portion of long-term interest-bearing loans and bonds FLAC 88,742 7,078 
Short-term lease liabilities FLAC 3,216 4,121 

Non-current    
Long-term interest-bearing loans and bonds FLAC 35,775 50,810 
Non-current lease liabilities FLAC 7,292 11,327 

Total financial liabilities  
 

172,744 98,879 

*  Financial instruments used by the Group are included in one of the following categories: 

• FAFVPL − financial assets at fair value through profit or loss; 

• FLFVPL − financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss; 

• FAAC − financial assets at amortised cost; or 

• FLAC − financial liabilities at amortised cost.  

**  Long-term other trade accounts receivable are represented by the debt of the disposed subsidiaries of the “Games” segment (Note 13) to the Group for 
software.  

2022   Annual Report117 Appendices



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 

VK 2022 Results 61 

24 Financial instruments (continued) 

None of the Group’s financial investees are public companies and none of the Group’s financial instruments are traded in active markets. 
Accordingly, fair values of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are determined using valuation 
techniques, including discounted cash flow models, comparison to similar instruments for which observable market prices exist, option pricing 
models and other relevant valuation models. Such valuation techniques require management to make certain assumptions about model inputs, 
including credit risk and volatility. 

Fair value of cash and cash equivalents, short-term time deposits, short-term accounts receivable, other current assets, trade accounts 
payable approximate their carrying amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of these instruments. 

24.1 Financial assets at amortised cost 

The Group classifies the following financial assets at amortised cost: 

• The asset is held within a business model with the objective of collecting the contractual cash flows and the contractual terms give 
rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding; 

• Trade account receivable; and 

• Cash and cash equivalents. 

24.2 Fair value hierarchy 

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by valuation technique:  

• Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

• Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or 
indirectly (i.e., derived from prices); and 

• Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 

As of December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, the Group held the following financial instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss: 

 December 31, 2022 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss     
Financial investments in venture capital investees 118   118 
Financial derivative under lease contract 232 − − 232 

Total financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss 350 − − 350 

Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss     
Non-current financial derivative on put options over non-controlling 

interests of the Group’s subsidiary 3,982 − − 3,982 
Current financial derivative on put options over interests of equity 

accounted associate 4,806 − − 4,806 
Contingent consideration payable 576 − − 576 

Total financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss 9,364 − − 9,364 

 
 December 31, 2021 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss     
Financial investments in venture capital investees 5,992 − − 5,992 
Convertible loans 585 − − 585 
Financial derivative under lease contract 326 − − 326 

Total financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss 6,903 − − 6,903 

Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss     
Financial derivative on put options over non-controlling interests of 

the Group’s subsidiary 660 − − 660 
Contingent consideration payable 943 − − 943 
Conversion option of bonds issued 219 − 219 − 

Total financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss 1,822 − 219 1,603 
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24 Financial instruments (continued) 

24.2 Fair value hierarchy (continued) 

The balance of financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss measurements as of January 1, 2022 is reconciled to the balance 
of those measurements as of December 31, 2022 and as of January 1, 2021 and December 31, 2021: 

  

Balance as of  
January 1, 

2022 

Gains/(losses) 
recognised in 

profit and loss 
Purchases/  
settlement 

Reclassification 
from non-current to 

current 
Disposal group 

(Note 13) 

Balance as of  
December 31, 

2022 

Financial assets measured at fair value 
through profit or loss       

Financial investments in venture capital 
investees 5,992 (5,842) 21 − (53) 118 

Non-current convertible loans 585 (460) 478 (147) (456) − 
Current convertible loans − (90) 71 147 (128) − 
Financial assets and derivatives under lease 

contracts 326 (94) − − − 232 

Total financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss 6,903 (6,486) 570 − (637) 350 

Financial liability measured at fair value 
through profit or loss       

Non-current financial derivative on put 
options over non-controlling interests of 
the Group’s subsidiary (660) (1,372) (1,950) − − (3,982) 

Current financial derivative on put options 
over interests of equity accounted 
associate − (3,795) (1,011) − − (4,806) 

Contingent consideration payable (943) 367 − − − (576) 
Conversion option of the bonds issued (219) 219 − − − − 

Total financial liabilities measured at fair 
value through profit or loss (1,822) (4,581) (2,961) − − (9,364) 

 
 

 

Balance as of  
January 1, 

2021 

Gains/(losses) 
recognised in 

profit and loss 
Purchases/  
settlement 

Business combination 
(Note 12) 

Balance as of  
December 31, 

2021 

Financial assets measured at fair value 
through profit or loss      

Financial investments in venture capital 
investees 1,265 567 4,160 − 5,992 

Non-current convertible loans 565 (747) 1,102 (335) 585 
Current convertible loans 475 (149) − − 326 

Financial assets and derivatives under lease 
contracts 2,305 (329) 5,262 (335) 6,903 

Financial liability measured at fair value 
through profit or loss      

Derivative financial instruments on put 
options in respect of non-controlling 
interests in the Group‘s subsidiaries  − (537) − (123) (660) 

Contingent consideration payable (1,604) 279 421 (39) (943) 
Conversion option of the bonds issued (3,506) 3,287 − − (219) 

Total financial liabilities measured at fair value 
through profit or loss (5,110) 3,029 421 (162) (1,822) 
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24 Financial instruments (continued) 

24.3 Interest-bearing loans and bonds 

The table below represents the major loans and bonds as of December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021:  

Type Original currency Type of rate 
Average nominal 

interest rate 
Maturity 

date 

Outstanding amount  
as of December 31, 

2022 

Outstanding amount  
as of December 31, 

2021 

Unsecured loans RUB Fixed 5.50% 2023-2024 10,490 16,563 
Unsecured loans RUB Floating 2024-2029 81,454 − 
Unsecured loans USD Fixed 2.80% 2022-2027 7,171 − 
Unsecured loans EUR Fixed 3.00% 2027 238 − 
Bonds USD Fixed 1.63% On demand 9,836 25,996 
Bonds RUB Fixed 7.90% 2026 15,328 15,329 

Total interest-bearing 
loans and bonds     124,517 57,888 

Movements in loans and bonds, including related interest, for the years ended December 31, 2022 are presented below: 

  
January 1,  

2022 

Principal 
amount, 

proceeds 

Principal 
amount, 

repayment 

Interest, 
accruals, 

discounting 
Interest, 

repayment 

Reclas-
sification 

from non-
current to 

current 

Foreign 
exchange 

differences Other 

Modification 
of financial 

liabilities 

Recognition  
of loans as  

a result  
of disposal of 

a subsidiary 

Recognition 
of loans 

resulting 
from the 

acquisition of 
a subsidiary 

(Note 9) 
December 31,  

2022. 

Current             
Interest bearing loans 7,056 10,394 (18,220) 3,368 (2,601) 76,481 171 (711) − 1,616 1,326 78,880 
LSE convertible bonds − − (11,425) 272 − 33,974 (7,884) − (5,096) − − 9,841 
Other borrowings 22 14 (15) 6 (6) − − − − − − 21 

Non-current             
Interest bearing loans  9,485 71,818 (538) 202 − (76,481) 1,160 − − 5,104 9,697 20,447 
LSE convertible bonds* 25,996 − − 5,813 − (33,974) 2,165 − − − − − 
MOEX bonds 15,329 − − 1,181 (1,182) − − − − − − 15,328 

Total liabilities from  
financing activities 57,888 82,226 (30,198) 10,842 (3,789) − (4,388) (711) (5,096) 6,720 11,023 124,517 

* Accrued interest on LSE convertible bonds includes RUB 403 interest expense and RUB 5,410 finance expense. 

Due to the fact that the LSE convertible bonds liability of USD 405 million, where USD 400 million − principal amount, 5 million − interest 
payable, measured at amortised cost with effective interest rate of 5.5% (nominal interest rate is 1.625%) was reclassified from non-current to 
‘’on demand” category, the Group recognised finance expense of RUB 5,410. 

During 2022, the Group repurchased part of the convertible bonds (nearly 66%) traded on the London Stock Exchange at a discount. 
As a result, the Group recognised income from modification of financial liabilities in the amount of RUB 5,096 as part of financial income. 

24.4 Loans issued 

In January 2022, the Group granted loans to O2O JV in the amount of RUB 5,000 at the interest rate of 9.25% with maturity in February of 2022. 

In February 2022, the Group converted loans receivable of RUB 5,000 and interest receivable of RUB 25 into the share capital of O2O JV.  

In July 2022, the Group granted loans to O2O JV in the amount of RUB 858 at the interest rate of 12% with maturity in August of 2022. 

In August 2022, the Group converted loans receivable of RUB 858 and interest receivable of RUB 5 into the share capital of O2O JV. 
The Group’s share in the JV remained unchanged as the other investor also converted its loans receivable from the JV to the share capital in 
the same amount. 

In August 2022, the Group granted loans to Delivery Club LLC (Note 12.1) in the amount of RUB 1,475 at the interest rate of 12% with maturity in 
November of 2022. 
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25 Personnel expenses 

Personnel expenses for years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 consist of:  

 2022 2021 

Salary and related taxes 25,444 20,154 
Share-based payments* 5,060 2,332 
Reserves and other 8,343 5,442 

Total personnel expenses 38,847 27,928 

* In March 2022, the Group decided to make a replacement award offer to its employees holding RSUs or PSUs over the shares of the Company. The Group 
offered to replace RSUs/PSUs vesting in 2022 with rights to receive cash in the amount of RUB 2,581 

For the year ended December 31, 2022 the Group recognized expenses in the amount of RUB 1,980 in connection with the change in the form of remuneration. 
In addition, for the year ended December 31, 2022 the Group recognized expenses in the amount of RUB 3,079 for share-based payments settled in equity 
instruments. 

Based on IFRS 2 requirements, the Group has reclassified the fair value of PSUs/RSUs and options modification from equity settled to cash 
settled, total amount was RUB 600 for the year ended December 31, 2022 (for the year ended December 31, 2021: nil). 

26 Other operating expenses 

Other operating expenses for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 consist of: 

 2022 2021 

VAT and other taxes* 1,716 2,227 
Expected credit loss allowance on trade receivables 99 448 
Cost of sales 1,102 772 
Other operating expenses 2,138 1,432 

Other operating expenses 5,055 4,879 

* As of December 31, 2022, the Group updated the assessment of tax risks and recognised provisions for VAT and other taxes of RUB 710. In addition, the Group 
recognised RUB 1,006 expenses related to write-off of input VAT due to 5% limit established by the Tax Code of the Russian Federation. 

27 Financial risk management objectives and policies 

27.1 Introduction 

The Group’s principal financial liabilities mainly comprise interest-bearing loans and bonds, contingent consideration liability and trade 
accounts payable. The main purposes of these financial liabilities are to finance the Group’s operations and, in the case of the contingent 
consideration, a business acquisition. The Group has short-term receivables, short-term time deposits, cash and cash equivalents and other 
current financial assets that arise directly from the Group’s operations.  

The Group also has a venture capital investment portfolio consisting of equity investments in Internet start-ups and smaller Internet 
companies and derivative contracts over the equity of the Group’s venture capital investees.  

The Group’s senior management is responsible for identifying and controlling risks. These activities are supervised by the Board of Directors, 
the Group’s governing body that is ultimately responsible for the Group’s overall approach to risk management. The Board of Directors is 
developing risk management policies covering the following major aspects: identification and analysis of the risks the Group faces, setting 
appropriate risk limits and controls, and monitoring risks and adherence to limits. Risk management procedures and systems are contemplated 
to be reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Group’s activities. The Group, through its training and management 
standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees understand their roles 
and responsibilities. 

The Group’s Audit, Risk, Compliance and Sustainable Development Committee has been established to oversee, inter alia, how management 
monitors compliance with the Group’s risk management practices and procedures when these are approved by the Board of Directors. 

27.2 Liquidity and financial resources 

Liquidity risk is defined as the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities. The Group 
monitors its risk of a shortage of funds using a liquidity planning tool. Management regularly monitors projected and actual cash flow 
information, analyzes the repayment schedules of the existing financial assets and liabilities and performs annual detailed budgeting 
procedures. 

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of operating cash flows, bank 
loans and overdrafts. Other financial liabilities of the Group are mostly represented by trade payables with maturity less than one year.  
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27 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued) 

27.2 Liquidity and financial resources (continued) 

The contractual maturities of the Group’s financial liabilities are presented below: 

Year ended December 31, 2022 Carrying amount 
Contractual  

cash flows 
Less than  
3 months 3 to 12 months 1 to 3 years > 3 years 

Short-term and long-term interest-
bearing loans and bonds 124,517 154,687 4,915 10,432 79,295 60,045 

Trade accounts payable 17,121 17,121 17,121 − − − 
Current and non-current lease liabilities 10,508 13,287 1,024 2,354 5,657 4,252 
Contingent consideration liabilities 576 576 576 − − − 
Other payables, accrued expenses 11,234 11,234 11,234 − − − 

Total financial liablities 163,956 196,905 34,870 12,786 84,952 64,297 

 
 

Year ended December 31, 2021 Carrying amount 
Contractual  

cash flows 
Less than  
3 months 3 to 12 months 1 to 3 years > 3 years 

Short-term and long-term interest-
bearing loans and bonds 57,888 73,659 2,912 6,908 16,276 47,563 

Trade accounts payable 14,541 14,541 14,541 − − − 
Current and non-current lease liabilities 15,448 17,596 1,300 2,954 7,348 5,994 
Contingent consideration liabilities 943 943 788 155 − − 
Other payables, accrued expenses 9,180 9,180 9,180 − − − 

Total financial liablities 98,000 115,919 28,721 10,017 23,624 53,557 

27.3 Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract, leading to a financial 
loss. 

Financial assets, which potentially subject the Company and its subsidiaries and associates to credit risk, consist principally of cash and cash 
equivalents, short-term time deposits, short-term receivables and convertible loans. The total of these account balances represents the 
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk. 

The Group places its cash and cash equivalents with highly rated financial institutions, which are considered at the time of deposit to have 
minimal risk of default. The Group does not require collateral or other security to support the financial instruments subject to credit risk.  

Accounts receivable from the two largest customers collectively represented 22.7% of total trade accounts receivable of the Group as of 
December 31, 2022 and 8.5% as of December 31, 2021. No customer accounted for more than 10% of revenue in 2022 or 2021. The Group 
provides credit payment terms to its customers in accordance with market practices and based on thorough review of the customer’s profile 
and creditworthiness. Although collection of receivables could be influenced by economic factors, management believes that there is no 
significant risk of loss beyond the allowance already recorded. 

27.4 Capital management policy 

For the purpose of the Group’s capital management, capital includes issued capital, share premium and all other equity reserves attributable to 
the equity holders of the parent. The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to maximise the shareholder value. The Group 
manages its capital structure and makes adjustments in light of changes in economic conditions.  

27.5 Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. The 
market risks the Group is exposed to comprise two types of risk: currency risk (Note 27.6) and equity risk. The Group’s financial instruments 
affected by market risk include payables, cash and cash equivalents, short-term time deposits, financial investments in associates and 
derivative financial instruments. The Group’s equity risk arises from uncertainties about future values of the investment into unlisted securities.  
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27 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued) 

27.6 Foreign currency risk 

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in USD and EUR exchange rate, with all other variables held 
constant. The impact on the Group’s profit before tax is due to changes in the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities. The Group’s 
exposure to foreign currency changes for all other currencies is not material. 

 

Change 
in USD rate 

(Negative)/positive effect 
on profit before tax 

2022 ‘ +25% 4,853 

 ‘ -25% (4,853) 

2021 ‘ +15% (1,477) 

 ‘ -15% 1,477 
 

 

Change  
in EUR rate 

(Negative)/positive effect 
on profit before tax 

2022 ‘ +25% (244) 

 ‘ -25% 244 

2021 ‘ +15% 524 

 ‘ -15% (524) 

28 Share-based payments 

28.1 Share-based payment arrangements of the Company and its subsidiaries 

28.1.1 Option/RSU/PSU plans VK Company Limited 

During 2022 and 2021, the Company had the following unrealized option/RSU plans: 

  2010 Option Plan 2015 RSU Plan 2017 RSU Plan 2021 PSU Plan 2021 Special PSU Plan 

Adoption date November 2010 February 2015 November 2017 March 2021 November 2021 

Type of shares Ordinary shares Ordinary shares Ordinary shares Ordinary shares Ordinary shares 

Number of options 
or RSU reserved 

10,706,403 5,795,500 7,202,471 11,150,000 1,000,000 

Exercise price Granted: 0 0 • 0 

• 20 USD 
0 

• Prior December 31, 2011 − 
USD 19.60 

• Since December 31, 2011 − 
USD 17.50 

Exercise basis Prior to November 2011 −  
net share basis only 

Shares or cash at the Group’s 
discretion 

Shares or cash at the Group’s 
discretion 

Shares or cash at the Group’s 
discretion 

Shares or cash at the Group’s 
discretion  

Since November 2011 −  
net share basis or cash at the 
Group’s discretion 

  

  

Expiration date December 2022 December 2022 December 2026 December 2030 December 2030 

Vesting period Generally 4 years Generally 4 years  Generally 4 years Generally 4 years following the 
performance Year in which 
PSUs are granted 

Expected within 5 years, 
but not more than 9 years 

Other major terms • The options are not 
transferrable 

• All other terms of the 
options under the 2010 
Option Plan are to be 
determined by the 
Company’s Board of 
Directors or Remuneration 
Committee 

• The RSUs are not 
transferrable 

• All other terms of the 
options under the 2015 
RSU Plan are to be 
determined by the 
Company’s Board of 
Directors or Remuneration 
Committee 

• The RSUs are not 
transferrable 

• Performance conditions  

• Immediate vesting due to 
change of ultimate 
controlling party 

• All other terms of the 
options under the 2017 
RSU Plan are to be 
determined by the 
Company’s Board of 
Directors or Remuneration 
Committee 

• The PSUs are not 
transferrable 

• Performance conditions 

• Continious employment 

• All other terms of the 
options under the 2021 
PSU Plan are to be 
determined by the 
Company’s Board of 
Directors or Remuneration 
Committee 

• The PSUs are not 
transferrable 

• Vesting condition is linked 
with increase of market 
price of the certain assets  

• Continious employment 

• All other terms of the 
options under the 2021 
PSU plan are to be 
determined by the 
Company’s Board of 
Directors or Remuneration 
Committee 
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28 Share-based payments (continued) 

28.1 Share-based payment arrangements of the Company and its subsidiaries (continued) 

28.1.2 Changes in outstanding options VK Company Limited 

The table below summarises the number and weighted average exercise prices (WAEP) of and movements in share options and RSUs/PSUs 
in 2022 and 2021 for the Company: 

 

Number of 
options/RSU/PSU WAEP 

Outstanding as of December 31, 2020 4,465,269 5.61 

Exercisable as of December 31, 2020 1,692,123 12.92 
Available for grant as of December 31, 2020 204,521 20.58 
PSU 2021 program 12,150,000 n/a 
Granted during the year 6,888,100 7.59 
Exercised during the year 696,448 1.51 
Cancelled during the year − n/a 
Forfeited during the year 391,823 0.73 

Outstanding as of December 31, 2021 10,265,098 2.31 

Exercisable as of December 31, 2021 2,101,800 12.43 
Available for grant as of December 31, 2021 5,858,244 0.72 
Granted during the year 209,736 0.06 
Exercised during the year 20,000 27.96 
Cancelled during the year 2,046,536 21.09 
Forfeited during the year 2,453,975 16.07 

Outstanding as of December 31, 2022 5,954,323 10.56 

Exercisable as of December 31, 2022 2,176,267 16.76 
Available for grant as of December 31, 2022 10,149,019 0.83 

In 2022 and 2021, the weighted-average share price for exercised options and RSUs/PSUs was USD 3.54 and USD 22.03, respectively. 

The range of exercise prices for options and RSUs/PSUs outstanding as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 is presented in the table below: 

Exercise price December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021 

− 416,375 3,768,926 
17.5 508,117 539,117 
19.6 538,175 728,255 

20 1,891,600 2,614,400 

28.1.3 Valuations of share-based payments VK Company Limited 

The valuations of all equity-settled options and RSU/PSU granted during 2022 and 2021 are summarised in the table below: 

Option plan / grant date Number of options 
Share price Fair value, total Fair value per option/RSU 

(USD) (million RUB) (RUB) 

2021 RSU Plan / 2021 6,888,100 12.06-27.1 8,628 1,253 
2021 PSU Plan / 2022 209,736 0.86 59 282 

The valuations of all cash-settled options as of December 31, 2022 are summarised in the table below: 

Number of options 

Dividend yield Volatility, 
Risk-free interest 

rate, Expected term, Share price Fair value, total 
Fair value per 

option 

Valuation method % % % years (USD) (million RUB) (RUB) 

387,230 0% 32% 1.04% n/a 11.59 0 0 Binomial model 

The valuations of all cash-settled options as of December 31, 2021 are summarised in the table below: 

Number of options 

Dividend yield Volatility, 
Risk-free interest 

rate, Expected term, Share price Fair value, total 
Fair value per 

option 

Valuation method % % % years (USD) (million RUB) (RUB) 

387,230 0% 32% 1.04% n/a 11.59 3 8 Binomial model 
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28 Share-based payments (continued) 

28.1 Share-based payment arrangements of the Company and its subsidiaries (continued) 

The forfeiture rate used for expenses calculation in 2022 is 0.1%-15.6%. It is based on historical data and current expectations and is not 
necessarily indicative of forfeiture patterns that may occur. 

The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical volatility over a period similar to the life of the options/RSUs/PSUs 
is indicative of future trends, which may not necessarily be the actual outcome. 

28.2  Share-based payment arrangements of Skillbox Holding Limited  

28.2.1 Option plans Skillbox Holding Limited 

In 2022 and 2021, Skillbox Holding Limited has the following unrealized option plans for the management and directors of the company: 

  Option plan A Option plan B Option plan C 

Adoption date October 1, 2021 October 1, 2021 October 1, 2021 

Type of shares Ordinary shares Ordinary shares Ordinary shares 

Number of options 2,588,235 2,588,235 2,588,236 

Exercise price 0.1 254 254 

Currency EUR RUB RUB 

Exercise basis Shares Shares Shares 

Expiration date December 31, 2031 December 31, 2031 December 31, 2031 

Vesting period 1 part − granting date 

2 part − 1 year from granting date 

3 part − 2 years from granting date 

4 part − 3 years from granting date 

5 part − 4 years from granting date 

1 part − vesting condition is linked 
with increase of market price and 
certain operating results 

2 part − 1 year from the date when 
vesting condition for 1 part of option 
plan are met  

3 part − 2 years from the date when 
vesting condition for 1 part of option 
plan are met  

4 part − 3 years from the date when 
vesting condition for 1 part of option 
plan are met  

5 part − 4 years from the date when 
vesting condition for 1 part of option 
plan are met 

1 part − vesting condition is linked 
with increase of market price and 
certain operating results 

2 part − 1 year from the date when 
vesting condition for 1 part of option 
plan are met  

3 part − 2 years from the date when 
vesting condition for 1 part of option 
plan are met  

4 part − 3 years from the date when 
vesting condition for 1 part of option 
plan are met  

5 part − 4 years from the date when 
vesting condition for 1 part of option 
plan are met 

28.2.2 Outstanding options Skillbox Holding Limited 

The table below summarises the number and weighted average exercise prices (WAEP) of and movements in share options of 
Skillbox Holding Limited in 2022: 

 Number of options 
WAEP 
(EUR) 

WAEP 
(RUB) 

Outstanding as of December 31, 2021 6,748,159 0.1 254 

Granted during the year 798,617 n/a 254 

Forfeited during the year (64,506) 0.1 254 

Outstanding as of December 31, 2022 7,482,270 0.1 254 

Exercisable as of December 31, 2022 1,024,597 0.1 n/a 
Available for grant as of December 31, 2022 282,436 0.1 254 

The range of exercise prices for options outstanding as of December 31, 2022 is presented in the table below: 

Currency Exercise price December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021 

EUR 0.1 2,545,448 2,588,235 
RUB 254 2,348,586 1,785,048 
RUB 254 2,588,236 2,374,876 
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28 Share-based payments (continued) 

28.2  Share-based payment arrangements of Skillbox Holding Limited (continued) 

28.2.3 Valuations of share-based payments Skillbox Holding Limited 

The valuations of all equity-settled options for Skillbox Holding Limited granted in 2022 are summarised in the table below: 

Option plan 1 Option plan 2 Option plan 3 

Grant date n/a July 1, 2022 July 1, 2022 
Number of options n/a 585,257 213,360 
Exercise price n/a 254 254 
Currency n/a RUB RUB 
Expiration date n/a December 31, 2031 December 31, 2031 
Option pricing model n/a Black-Scholes model Black-Scholes model 
Stock price n/a − − 
Expected volatility n/a 52.40% 52.40% 
The risk-free interest rate n/a 8.30% 8.30% 
Expected dividends n/a not expected not expected 
Fair value per option (RUB) n/a 41-48 41-48 
Fair value, total (RUB thousand) n/a 25,988 9,474 

The valuations of all equity-settled options for Skillbox Holding Limited granted in 2021 are summarised in the table below: 

Option plan 1 Option plan 2 Option plan 3 

Grant date November 15, 2021 November 15-25, 2021 November 15-25, 2021 
Number of options 2,588,235 1,571,688 2,588,236 
Exercise price 0.1 254 254 
Currency EUR RUB RUB 
Expiration date December 31, 2031 December 31, 2031 December 31, 2031 
Option pricing model Black-Scholes model Black-Scholes model Black-Scholes model 
Stock price 253 253 253 
Expected volatility 52.40% 52.40% 52.40% 
The risk-free interest rate 8.30% 8.30% 8.30% 
Expected dividends not expected not expected not expected 
Fair value per option (RUB) 215-249 157-182 157-182 
Fair value, total (RUB thousand) 601,110 303,011 403,143 

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Group recognised RUB 378 expenses related to equity-settled share-based payment (2021: 
RUB 205). The expense was included in “Personnel expenses” in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.  

28.3 Share-based payment expense 

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Group recognised RUB 5,186 in share-based payment expenses (2021: RUB 2,091), including 
expense of RUB 5,186 (2021: 2,323) related to equity-settled share-based payments and no expense related to cash-settled portion 
(2021 income: RUB 232).  

The expense was included under “Personnel expenses” in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 

29 Events after the reporting period 

In 1Q 2023, the Group acquired control over Uchi.ru LLC (hereinafte − “Uchi.ru”) by purchasing of 75% shares in addition to the existing 
25% shares for a cash consideration of RUB 8,7 bn. (8,1 bn and 0,6 bn, respectively). 

In 1Q 2023, the Group acquired control over Didenok Star LLC and its subsidiaries by purchasing of 51% shares. 

The Board of Directors of VK approved the possibility of redomiciling the Company from the British Virgin Islands to the Russian Federation, 
subject to compliance with applicable legal and regulatory requirements. 
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Forward-looking statements

The VK Company Limited Annual Report and Accounts for 2022 contain 
certain “forward-looking statements” that include all statements 
other than those of historical facts that relate to the Group’s plans, 
financial position, objectives, goals, strategies, future operations 
and performance, together with the assumptions underlying 
such matters. VK Company Limited generally uses words such 
as ‘estimates’, ‘expects’, ‘believes’, ‘intends’, ‘plans’, ‘may’, ‘will’, ‘should’ 
and other similar expressions to identify forward-looking statements. 
VK Company Limited has based these forward-looking statements 
on the current views of its management with regard to future events 
and performance. These views reflect the management’s best 
judgement, but involve uncertainties and are subject to certain known 
and unknown risks together with other important factors outside 
the Group’s control, the occurrence of which could cause actual results 
to differ materially from those expressed in VK Company Limited’s 
forward-looking statements.

Competitive position

Statements referring to VK’s competitive position reflect the Group’s 
beliefs and, in some cases, rely on a range of sources, including 
investment analysts’ reports, independent market studies and VK’s 
internal estimates of market share based on publicly available 
information regarding the financial results and performance 
of various market participants.

Rounding

Certain figures included in this document have been subject 
to rounding adjustments. Accordingly, figures shown for the same 
category presented in different tables may vary slightly and figures 
shown as totals in certain tables may not be an arithmetic 
aggregation of the figures that precede them.

Terminology

In this document, a reference to the ‘Company’ means 
VK Company Limited, which together with its subsidiaries 
is referred to as the ‘Group’ or ‘VK’.

About the Report
This Report of VK Company Limited for the year 2022 contains 
information on the performance of VK Company Limited 
and its subsidiaries listed in the consolidated IFRS financial statements 
for the period from 1 January to 31 December 2022.

The financial performance of the Company has been calculated 
on the basis of the IFRS financial statement for the year 2022, 
confirmed by the auditor’s report and included in the Appendix hereto.

Standards and guidelines used:

	• FCA Disclosure and Transparency Rules;
	• FCA Listing Rules.

In addition, the Report reflects best practices in corporate disclosure.

Disclosure 
of corporate 
information
VK corporate website

	 https://vk.company/en/

VK page on the website of Interfax-TsRKI  
(Corporate Information Disclosure Centre)

	 https://www.e-disclosure.ru/portal/company.aspx?id=38185

Cautionary statements
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Contacts

Corporate details

Title: VK Company Limited.

Registration date: 4 May 2005. 

Registered address: Trident Chambers, P.O. Box 146, Road Town,  
Tortola Island, British Virgin Islands.

Registered office: 365, 28 Octovriou Street, Vashiotis Seafront,  
Office 402, Neapoli, 3107, Limassol, Cyprus.

Auditor details

Title: LLC Centre for Audit Technologies and Solutions — Audit Services.

On 5 December 2002, an entry was made in the Uniform State Register 
of Legal Entities and the state registration number 1027739707203 
was assigned.

Location: 77 Sadovnicheskaya naberezhnaya, building 1, Moscow, 
115035, Russia.

LLC Centre for Audit Technologies and Solutions — Audit Services 
is a member of Self-Regulated Organisation of Auditors — Sodruzhestvo 
Association (SRO AAS). LLC Centre for Audit Technologies 
and Solutions — Audit Services is entered into the control copy 
of the Register of Auditors and Audit Entities under the principal 
registration number 12006020327.

Contact details for enquiries regarding the Annual Report:

	 pr@vk.team 	 ir@vk.team
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